A study of roughness in different algebraic structures



By

Saba Ayub

Department of Mathematics Quaid-I-Azam University Islamabad, Pakistan 2020

A study of roughness in different algebraic

structures



By

Saba Ayub

Supervised By

Dr. Waqas Mahmood

Department of Mathematics Quaid-I-Azam University Islamabad, Pakistan 2020

A study of roughness in different algebraic

structures



By

Saba Ayub

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN THE PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENT FOR THE DEGREE OF

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

IN

MATHEMATICS

Supervised By Dr. Waqas Mahmood

Department of Mathematics Quaid-I-Azam University Islamabad, Pakistan 2020

Certificate of Approval

This is to certify that the research work presented in this thesis entitled <u>A study of</u> <u>roughness in different algebraic structures</u> was conducted by Ms. <u>Saba Ayub</u> under the kind supervision of <u>Dr. Waqas Mahmood</u>. No part of this thesis has been submitted anywhere else for any other degree. This thesis is submitted to the Department of Mathematics, Quaid-i-Azam University, Islamabad in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in field of Mathematics from Department of Mathematics, Quaid-i-Azam University Islamabad, Pakistan.

Student Name: Saba Ayub

Signature: Levigluz.

External committee:

- a) <u>External Examiner 1</u>: Signature: <u>Acuardian</u>
 Name: Dr. Asad Zaighum
 Designation: Associate Professor
 Office Address: Department of Mathematics and Statistics, Riphah
 International University, Islamabad.
- b) External Examiner 2:

Signature: ASW

Name: **Dr. Yasir Bashir** Designation: Assistant Professor Office Address: Department of Mathematics COMSATS University Islamabad Wah Campus, Wah Cantt.

c) Internal Examiner

Signature:

Name: **Dr. Waqas Mahmood** Designation: Assistant Professor Office Address: Department of Mathematics, QAU Islamabad.

<u>Supervisor Name:</u> Dr. Waqas Mahmood

<u>Name of Dean/ HOD</u> <u>Prof. Dr. Sohail Nadeem</u>

Signature: Signature:



A study of roughness in different

algebraic structures

By

Saba Ayub

CERTIFICATE

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN THE PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENT FOR THE DEGREE OF THE DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

We accept this dissertation as confirming to the required standard

ader 1.

Prof. Dr. Sohail Nadeem (Chairman)

7. 3.

Dr. Asad Zaighum Associate Professor Department of Mathematics and Statistics Riphah International University Islamabad

2

Dr. Waqas Mahmood (Supervisor)

Dr. Yasir Bashir Assistant Professor Department of Mathematics COMSATS University Islamabad Wah Campus, Wah Cantt.

Department of Mathematics Quaid-i-Azam University Islamabad, Pakistan 2020

Author's Declaration

I, Saba Ayub, hereby state that my PhD thesis titled A study of roughness in different algebraic structures is my own work and has not been submitted previously by me for taking any degree from Quaid-I-Azam University Islamabad, Pakistan or anywhere else in country/world.

At any time, if my statement is found to be incorrect even after my graduation the university has the right to withdraw my PhD degree.

Name of student: Saba Ayub

Dated: 11-6-2020

Plagiarism Undertaking

I solemnly declare that research work presented in the thesis titled "<u>A study of</u> <u>roughness in different algebraic structures</u>" is solely my research work with no significant contribution from any other person. Small contribution/help wherever taken has been duly acknowledged and that complete thesis has been written by me.

I understand the zero tolerance policy of the HEC and <u>Quaid-I-Azam</u> <u>University</u> towards plagiarism. Therefore, I as an Author of the above titled thesis declare that no portion of my thesis has been plagiarized and any material used as reference is properly referred/cited.

I undertake that if I am found guilty of any formal plagiarism in the above titled thesis even afterward of PhD degree, the University reserves the rights to withdraw/revoke my PhD degree and that HEC and the University has the right to publish my name on the HEC/University Website on which names of students are placed who submitted plagiarized thesis.

DabaAyul

Student/Author Signature

Name: Saba Ayub

Acknowledgements

Foremost, i have no boundaries to be grateful to our *BELOVED ALLAH (J.S.)* Who is the MOST *BENEFICENT* and *MERCIFUL*, whose continuous and immeasurable *Blessings* throughout my life, who create me, gave me strength and guide me throughout my life, whenever i found to me in trouble. It is true saying that "*ALLAH* is always there for you where nobody found to you" and He has bestowed upon me when i pray and call to Him. He is the true lover and best friend for a man who has no friend. I pray to my *ALLAH (J.S.)* to open my heart, make my life easy for me to follow His Orders, remove the impediment from my speech and bless with courage to fulfill my duties with honesty. I must pay all my tributes to Our MOST BELOVED HOLY PROPHET *HAZRAT MUHAMMAD MUSTAFA* (*S.A.W.W.*) whose life has been forever a beacon of knowledge and guidance for me and the whole humanity.

I would must submit my heartiest gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Waqas Mahmood for his kindness, guidance, continuous support, and valuable comments which enabled me to understand this subject. His kind attitude is always been a source of inspiration. Besides, i would must like to be grateful of our most senior and respectable Teacher Prof. Muhammad Shabir whose kindness, sympathy and sincerity to his students is always an inspiration for me. He has such a nice personality who always guide and encourage to his students. So that he gave me various types of valuable ideas and techniques to move ahead in my Phd. I found to be very lucky and blessed person to have such a nice and great teachers in Quaid-i-Azam university's mathematics department, specially my supervisors. I never made it that far and could not complete my phd. work without their continuous support, kindness, sympathy and patience.

I am also very much thankful to all my respected teachers of the Department of Mathematics whose kindness, patience, valuable criticism and endless efforts during the course work throughout our carrier (M.Sc., M. Phil and P.hD. programs) due to which we reach and stand here.

My endless gratefulness goes to my family, for loving and supporting me in every step of my life. I must express my gratitude to my most loving and caring Parents whose prayers, care, support and guidance always gave me a ray of hope in the darkness of desperation. I am also thankful to my younger brother Zubair for his continuous help throughout my career. My joys no bound to my Honorable Uncle and Aunty Jan, whose love, care, prayers and encouragement were a deep inspiration whenever i met them. I am very much grateful to our BELOVED ALLAH (J.S) for blessing me such a nice, beautiful and caring family and persons around to me, where i am living and seeking the knowledge.

May ALLAH AL-RAHMAN shower his special and countless blessings to all of them and protect them. I am also thankful to all my family members and all those who took part in shaping my life.

Saba Ayub.

Contents

1	Preliminaries					
	1.1	Rings and modules of fractions	5			
	1.2	Fuzzy sets	10			
	1.3	Rough sets	11			
	1.4	Soft sets	13			
2	Applications of roughness in soft-intersection groups					
	2.1	The lower and upper soft approximations in soft-intersection groups	18			
	2.2	A connection between lower and upper approximations of soft sets	27			
3	A study roughness in modules of fractions					
	3.1	Roughness in modules of fractions	38			
	3.2	Lower and upper approximations via $S^{-1}R$ -linear maps	49			
4	Fuzzy modules of fractions and roughness					
	4.1	Soft modules of fractions	57			
	4.2	Fuzzy modules of fractions	59			
	4.3	The lower and upper approximations in fuzzy modules of fractions	64			
5	New types of soft rough sets in groups based on normal soft groups					
	5.1	Lower and upper approximations in groups via normal soft groups $\ldots \ldots$	81			

5.2	Connection	between so	ft lower	and	upper	approximation spaces	 88
Bibliog	graphy						95

Introduction

Groups, rings and modules are the fundamental concepts of abstract algebra. The study of groups started in 18th century and gradually developed in various decades, initiated by very famous mathematicians Cauchy, Abel, Galois and Lagrange. The other fundamental concepts of abstract algebra (*e.g.* rings and modules) are the generalizations of group. Rings and modules are the central notions of Commutative algebra and Homological algebra. The development of these mathematical theories has been greatly influenced by numerous problems and ideas occurring naturally in algebraic number theory and algebraic geometry, algebraic topology. Many books have been written on these fundamental concepts. For systematic evaluation of groups, rings and modules, we refer the reader to [14, 5].

However, most of the classical mathematical methods and solutions do not address the imprecision and uncertainties in given information. A genius mind L. A. Zadeh said:

"The closer one looks at a real world problem, the fuzzier becomes its solution."

In 1965, Zadeh [46] formulated the concept of fuzzy set theory to describe the vagueness and imprecision containing most of the data. Fuzzy sets handel such situations by attributing a degree to which a certain object belong to a set. Fuzzy sets has a wide range of applications in applied sciences such as computer sciences, management sciences, control sciences, robotics, artificial intelligence, pattern recognition and operation research etc. In its trajectory of stupendous growth, it has also come to include the theory of fuzzy algebra and for the past several decades, several researchers have been working on the fuzzy commutative algebra.

Rosenfeld [36] inspired the fuzzification of algebraic structures and introduced the notion of fuzzy subgroups in 1971. Pan defined fuzzy quotient modules and fuzzy exact sequences (see [33]). A systematic description of fuzzy commutative algebra by Mordeson and Malik appeared in [31], and Wang et al. [44] where one can find detailed theoretical study on various algebraic structures. In 1982, Pawlak [34] projected a light on incredible theory of rough sets. Rough set theory helps in management of uncertainties and imprecision containing raw data. It has been successfully implemented to various real life problems. For instance, data mining, pattern recognition, artificial intelligence and decision support system are most of the auspicious amongst to it's numerous applications. Hence, this theory grabbed attention of several researchers owed to its valuable features. Since it's inception, the question of applications of rough set theory to various algebraic systems has been addressed by a great number of researchers. For instance, Biswas and Nanda [11] were initiated the study of roughness in groups and introduced the notion of rough subgroups.

Kuroki and Wang [22] proposed the notion of lower and upper approximation spaces in groups based on normal subgroups and normal fuzzy subgroups. In [26], Mahmood et al. studied the notion of roughness in fuzzy subgroups based on a congruence relation and explore a relationship between the approximation spaces of two different groups by maneuvering a group homomorphism. In [25], the same authors investigated the concept of roughness in quotient groups and established several homomorphism theorems between lower approximations. In [16], Davvaz and Mahdavipour studied the concept of roughness in modules and also gave some related properties. Since, Pawlak approximation space based on an equivalence relation, a too restrictive condition for many practical applications. In order to cope with this issue, there has been a lot of researchs on the extensions of Pawlak's rough sets [34], in literature (see [15, 23, 42, 43, 45, 47, 35]). In these papers, authors defined the lower and upper approximation spaces of a subset on the universe of discourse by using an arbitrary binary relation, a set valued map, a soft binary relation, tolerance relation and similarity relation to investigate the essential properties of classical rough sets [34]. In [35], Qian et al. extended the notion of Pawlak's rough sets to multi-granulation rough sets (MGRS) based on mutli equivalence relations on the universe of discourse.

On the other hand, the concept of soft set theory was introduced by Molodtsov [30] in 1999 to deal with the complexity of data containing uncertainties. It has many useful applications in diverse areas of game theory, the smoothness of functions and measurement theory. The fundamental operations of soft sets was studied by several number of authors (see [1, 37, 2, 12, 29]). Later on, many authors were engaged to found its applications in different algebraic structures. Aktaş and Çağman [1] initiated the concept of soft groups and derived some of it's basic properties. Later on, the concept of soft groups was further studied by Sezgin and Atagün [38], and Aslam and Qurashi [4]. The concept of soft-intersection groups was investigated by Çağman et al. [12] and further studied by Kaygisiz [20, 21]. Feng et al. applied the soft relations to semigroup theory in [18].

Although the theories of soft sets, fuzzy sets and rough sets are very conflicting in nature. However, many authors have been established a linkage among these theories (see [3, 17, 19, 24, 28, 39, 27, 40, 41]).

This thesis consisting of five chapters inclusively arranged in the following manner. In chapter one we give some preliminary ideas which will be helpful to our research work. To the motivation of Cagman et al.'s work [12], we have studied the concept of roughness in soft sets and find it's applications on soft-intersection groups in chapter 2. In this chapter, we also construct a relationship among the soft approximation spaces of two different groups via group homomorphisms. Chapter 3 is devoted to the study of roughness in modules of fractions by using a special kind of an equivalence relation on its submodules. Hence, we introduce the notion of lower and upper approximations in modules of fractions. Some fundamental results related to these approximation spaces are studied. Furthermore, we develop several connections between their approximation spaces of two different modules of fractions by utilizing the concept of module homomorphisms. In chapter 4, we introduce the notion of fuzzy modules of fractions and study the concept of roughness in fuzzy modules of fractions. For this, we introduce a pair of fuzzy approximation spaces based on soft modules of fractions in view of multi-granulation rough sets. Some essential properties relating to the fuzzy approximation spaces are investigated. Finally, chapter 5 extended the classical concept of rough subgroups studied by Kuroki and Wang [22], and a connection between

lower and upper approximations via group homomorphism investigated by Mahmood et al. [26] to soft set theory. In this regard, the concept of soft lower and upper approximation spaces is introduced in groups by manipulating normal soft groups. Based on the soft image and soft pre-image of a normal soft group, some connections between the soft approximation spaces are built by maneuvering group homomorphisms.

Chapter 1

Preliminaries

In this chapter, some basic notions of commutative algebra, fuzzy sets, rough sets and soft sets are presented. Several kinds of operations and results of soft sets, fuzzy sets and rough sets are given, which will be useful for our research work. For details we refer [1, 2, 5, 12, 14, 29, 30, 31, 34, 44].

1.1 Rings and modules of fractions

In this section, we recall some basic definitions and necessary results of rings and modules of fractions. All the material in this section is taken from [5] and [14].

Definition 1.1.1. [14, page 223] A non-empty set L is called a ring, if :

- (i) (L, +) is an abelian group.
- (ii) Multiplication is associative: $(l_1l_2)_3 = l_1(l_2l_3)$ for all $l_1, l_2, l_3 \in L$.
- (iii) Distributive laws: $l_1(l_2+l_3) = l_1l_2 + l_1l_3$ and $(l_1+l_2)l_3 = l_1l_3 + l_2l_3$ for all $l_1, l_2, l_3 \in L$.
- (a) The ring L is called commutative, if multiplication is commutative: $l_1l_2 = l_2l_1$ for all $l_1, l_2 \in L$.

(b) The ring L is said to have an identity element, if there is an element $1 \in L$ such that l1 = ll = l for all $l \in L$. We'll denote it by 1_L .

The additive identity of L will be represented by 0_L and the additive inverse of $l \in L$ will be denoted by -l.

Throughout this work, L will be symbolized as a commutative ring with the multiplicative identity element 1_L .

Definition 1.1.2. [5, page 2] An element $l \in L$ is called unit, if $lm = 1_L$ for some $m \in L$. Then the element m is said to be an inverse of $l \in L$ and will be denoted by l^{-1} . We shall represent the collection of all units of L by U(L).

Definition 1.1.3. [5, page 2] A non-empty subset K of L is called

- (1) a subring, if
 - (i) K is subgroup of the abelian group (L, +),
 - (ii) K is subsemiring of the semiring (L, \cdot) ,
 - (*iii*) $1_L \in K$.

(2) an ideal, if

- (i) K is a subring of $(L, +, \cdot)$.
- (ii) $lK \subseteq K$ for all $l \in L$.

Definition 1.1.4. [14, page 239] Let L and L' be two commutative rings with 1_L and $1_{L'}$ respectively. Then, a map $\psi : L \to L'$ is called a ring homomorphism, if:

- (i) $\psi(l+l') = \psi(l) + \psi(l').$
- (ii) $\psi(ll') = \psi(l)\psi(l')$.

for all $l, l' \in L$.

Definition 1.1.5. [5, page 36] A non-empty subset \mathcal{D} of L is called multiplicative closed subset (MCS) of L, if:

(i) $1_L \in \mathcal{D}$.

(ii) $d_1d_2 \in \mathcal{D}$ for all $d_1, d_2 \in \mathcal{D}$.

Let \mathcal{D} be a MCS of L. The relation \equiv on $L \times \mathcal{D}$ is defined as follows:

$$(l_1, d_1) \equiv (l_2, d_2) \Leftrightarrow (l_1 d_2 - l_2 d_1) d = 0_L$$
 for some $d \in \mathcal{D}$.

which is an equivalence relation. The equivalence class of $(l_1, d_1) \in L \times \mathcal{D}$ with respect to \equiv is denoted by $\frac{l_1}{d_1} = \{(l_2, d_2) \in L \times \mathcal{D} : (l_1, d_1) \equiv (l_2, d_2)\}$. The set of all equivalence classes is denoted by:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}L = \{\frac{l}{d} : l \in L, d \in \mathcal{D}\}$$

Then $\mathcal{D}^{-1}L$ is a commutative ring with identity and binary operations "addition" and "multiplication" defined as follows:

$$\frac{l_1}{d_1} + \frac{l_2}{d_2} = \frac{l_1 d_2 + l_2 d_1}{d_1 d_2} \text{ and } \frac{l_1}{d_1} \cdot \frac{l_2}{d_2} = \frac{l_1 l_2}{d_1 d_2}$$

The ring $\mathcal{D}^{-1}L$ is called the ring of fractions of L with respect to \mathcal{D} .

Definition 1.1.6. [5, page 17] A commutative group (Z, +) is called an L-module or a module over L, if the map:

$$: L \times Z \longrightarrow Z; (l, z) \mapsto l \cdot z,$$

satisfies the following properties:

- (1) $l_1 \cdot (z_1 + z_2) = l_1 \cdot z_1 + l_1 \cdot z_2,$
- (2) $(l_1 + l_2) \cdot z_1 = l_1 \cdot z_1 + l_2 \cdot z_1,$

(3) $l_1 \cdot (l_2 \cdot z) = (l_1 l_2) \cdot z$,

$$(4) \ 1_L \cdot z = z,$$

for all l_1 , $l_2 \in L$ and z_1 , $z_2 \in Z$.

Throughout this thesis, Z will be denoting a module over L.

Definition 1.1.7. [5, page 18] A non-empty subset W of Z is called a submodule, if it fulfils the following two properties:

- (1) W is an additive subgroup of Z.
- (2) $l \cdot w \in W$, for any $l \in L$, $w \in W$.

If $\{W_i : 1 \leq i \leq n\}$ is a family of submodules of Z and K is an ideal of L, then the following sets are submodules of Z:

$$\bigcap_{i=1}^{n} W_{i} = \{ z \in Z : z \in W_{i}, 1 \le i \le n \}.$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} W_{i} = \{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} w_{i} : w_{i} \in W_{i}, 1 \le i \le n \}.$$

$$KW_{1} = \{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} l_{i} \cdot z_{i} : l_{i} \in K, z_{i} \in W_{1}, n \in \mathbb{N} \}$$

Definition 1.1.8. [5, page 18] Let Z_1 and Z_2 be L-modules. Then:

- (1) a map $\varphi : Z_1 \longrightarrow Z_2$ is called an L-linear map (or a module homomorphism), if it satisfies the following conditions:
 - (1) $\varphi(z+z') = \varphi(z) + \varphi(z'),$
 - (2) $\varphi(l \cdot z) = l \cdot \varphi(z),$

for all $z, z' \in Z$ and $l \in L$.

(2) The kernel of φ is the set $Ker\varphi = \{z \in Z_1 : \varphi(z) = 0_{Z_2}\}.$

Let \mathcal{D} be a MCS and Z be an L-module. Then, there exists a well-known equivalence relation " \sim " on the set $Z \times \mathcal{D}$, defined by:

$$(z,d) \sim (z',d') \Leftrightarrow w \cdot (d' \cdot z - d \cdot z') = 0$$
, for some $w \in \mathcal{D}$.

The equivalence class of (z, d) is denoted by $\frac{z}{d}$. Consider the following set of equivalence classes:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z = \{\frac{z}{d} : z \in Z, d \in \mathcal{D}\}.$$

Note that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ is an $\mathcal{D}^{-1}L$ -module with the following addition and scalar multiplication:

$$\frac{z_1}{d_1} + \frac{z_2}{d_2} = \frac{z_1 d_2 + z_2 d_1}{d_1 d_2} \text{ and } \frac{l}{d} \cdot \frac{z_1}{d_1} = \frac{l z_1}{d d_1}$$

 $\frac{z_1}{d_1}, \frac{z_2}{d_2} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ and $\frac{l}{d} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}L$.

Lemma 1.1.9. [5, Page 38] If $\varphi : Z \to Z'$ is an L-linear map, then it induces the following $\mathcal{D}^{-1}L$ -linear map:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi: \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z \to \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z', \quad \frac{z}{d} \mapsto \frac{\varphi(z)}{d}.$$

Definition 1.1.10. Suppose that $\emptyset \neq L_1 \subseteq L$, $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{V}_1, \mathcal{V}_2 \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$, then define the following sets:

$$L_{1}\mathcal{V}_{1} = \{\sum_{i=1}^{n} l_{i}v_{i} : l_{i} \in L_{1}, v_{i} \in \mathcal{V}_{1} \text{ and } n \in \mathbb{N}\},\$$
$$\mathcal{V}_{1} + \mathcal{V}_{2} = \{v_{1} + v_{2} : v_{1} \in \mathcal{V}_{1}, v_{2} \in \mathcal{V}_{2}\} \text{ and}$$
$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}L_{1} = \{\frac{l}{d} : l \in L_{1}, d \in \mathcal{D}\}.$$

It is clear that the set $L_1\mathcal{V}_1$ is closed under addition.

Lemma 1.1.11. If $\emptyset \neq Z_i \subseteq Z$ for all i = 1, 2 and $\emptyset \neq L_1 \subseteq L$. Then:

- (1) $\mathcal{D}^{-1}(Z_1 \cup Z_2) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z_1 \cup \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z_2.$
- (2) $\mathcal{D}^{-1}(Z_1 \cap Z_2) \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z_2.$
- (3) $\mathcal{D}^{-1}(Z_1 + Z_2) \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z_2.$
- (4) $\mathcal{D}^{-1}(L_1Z_1) \subseteq (\mathcal{D}^{-1}L_1)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z_1)$. Equality holds, if either L_1 is an ideal of L or Z_1 is a submodule of Z.

Proof. All the claims are easy to proof.

Corollary 1.1.12. [5, Corollary 3.4] Let Z_1 and Z_2 be submodules of Z. For any ideal L_1 of L, the following conditions hold:

- (1) $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z_1$ and $\mathcal{D}^{-1}(L_1Z_1)$ are submodules of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}L$ -module $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$.
- (2) $\mathcal{D}^{-1}(Z_1 \cap Z_2) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z_2.$
- (3) $\mathcal{D}^{-1}(Z_1+Z_2) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z_2.$

(4)
$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}(L_1Z_1) = (\mathcal{D}^{-1}L_1)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z_1).$$

1.2 Fuzzy sets

In this section, we will recall some basic notions in fuzzy set theory. In the sequel, \mathcal{U} will be representing as an initial universe and $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{U})$ will be representing as the family of all fuzzy sets of \mathcal{U} .

Definition 1.2.1. [46] A fuzzy set μ in \mathcal{U} (or sometimes called a fuzzy subset of \mathcal{U}), is defined by a membership function:

$$\mu: \mathcal{U} \to [0,1].$$

For each object $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathcal{U}$, the membership value $\mu(\mathfrak{u})$ describes the grade or degree of membership to which $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathcal{U}$ belongs to the fuzzy set μ . **Definition 1.2.2.** [46] Let $\mu_1, \mu_2 \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{U})$. Then, their union and intersection are denoted and defined by Zadeh componentwise, as follows:

- (i) $(\mu_1 \cup \mu_2)(\mathfrak{z}) = \mu_1(\mathfrak{z}) \vee \mu_2(\mathfrak{z}).$
- (*ii*) $(\mu_1 \cap \mu_2)(\mathfrak{z}) = \mu_1(\mathfrak{z}) \wedge \mu_2(\mathfrak{z}).$

for all $\mathfrak{z} \in \mathcal{U}$. Here, \wedge denotes the infimum value and \vee denotes the supremum value.

Definition 1.2.3. [32] Let $\mathcal{U} = Z$ be an L-module and $\mu \in \mathcal{F}(Z)$. Then, μ is called a fuzzy submodule of Z, if

- (i) $\mu(0_Z) = 1$,
- (*ii*) $\mu(z_1 z_2) \ge \mu(z_1) \land \mu(z_2),$
- (iii) $\mu(lz_1) \ge \mu(z_1)$

for all $z_1, z_2 \in Z$, $l \in L$. The set of all fuzzy submodules of Z will be denoted by $\mathcal{FS}(Z)$.

Definition 1.2.4. [33, Definition 1.1] Let Z_i be L-modules and $\mu_i \in \mathcal{FS}(Z_i)$, for all i = 1, 2. Then, $\tilde{\varphi} : \mu_1 \to \mu_2$ is called a fuzzy module homomorphism, if

- (i) $\varphi: Z_1 \to Z_2$ is an L-linear map.
- (ii) $\mu_2(\varphi(z)) \ge \mu_1(z)$, for all $z \in Z_1$.

1.3 Rough sets

In this section, we furnish some basic ideas and important results about rough sets. For detailed study, we refer to the following paper [34].

Definition 1.3.1. [34] Let \mathcal{U} be an initial universe and θ be an equivalence relation on \mathcal{U} . Then, a pair (\mathcal{U}, θ) is called a Pawlak approximation space. For any non-empty subset \mathfrak{X} of \mathcal{U} , the lower and upper approximations of \mathfrak{X} are defined as:

$$\underline{\mathfrak{X}}_{ heta} = \{ \mathfrak{u} \in \mathcal{U} : [\mathfrak{u}]_{ heta} \subseteq \mathfrak{X} \} \ and \ \overline{\mathfrak{X}}^{ heta} = \{ \mathfrak{u} \in \mathcal{U} : [\mathfrak{u}]_{ heta} \cap \mathfrak{X} \neq \emptyset \},$$

where $[\mathfrak{u}]_{\theta}$ represents the equivalence class of $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathcal{U}$ with respect to the equivalence relation θ . The set $BR(\mathfrak{X}) = \overline{\mathfrak{X}}^{\theta} \setminus \mathfrak{X}_{\theta}$, is called the boundary region of \mathfrak{X} . If $BR(\mathfrak{X}) \neq \emptyset$, then \mathfrak{X} is called a rough set. Otherwise \mathfrak{X} is a crisp set.

Proposition 1.3.2. [34] Let (\mathcal{U}, θ) be an approximation space and $\emptyset \neq \mathfrak{X}_1, \mathfrak{X}_2 \subseteq \mathcal{U}$. Then:

 $(1) \ \underline{\emptyset}_{\theta} = \overline{\emptyset}^{\theta} = \emptyset.$ $(2) \ \underline{\mathcal{U}}_{\theta} = \overline{\mathcal{U}}^{\theta} = \mathcal{U}.$ $(3) \ \underline{\mathfrak{X}}_{\underline{1}_{\theta}} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}_{1} \subseteq \overline{\mathfrak{X}}_{1}^{-\theta}.$ $(4) \ \underline{\mathfrak{X}}_{\underline{1}_{\theta}}^{c} = (\overline{\mathfrak{X}}_{1}^{-\theta})^{c}, \ \overline{\mathfrak{X}}_{1}^{c\theta} = (\underline{\mathfrak{X}}_{\underline{1}_{\theta}})^{c}.$ $(5) \ \underline{\mathfrak{X}}_{\underline{1}_{\theta}} = \overline{\mathfrak{X}}_{\underline{1}_{\theta}}^{-\theta} = \underline{\mathfrak{X}}_{\underline{1}_{\theta}}.$ $(6) \ \overline{\mathfrak{X}}_{1}^{-\theta}^{-\theta} = \underline{\mathfrak{X}}_{\underline{1}_{\theta}}^{-\theta} = \overline{\mathfrak{X}}_{1}^{-\theta}.$ $(7) \ \underline{\mathfrak{X}}_{1} \cap \underline{\mathfrak{X}}_{2_{\theta}} = \underline{\mathfrak{X}}_{\underline{1}_{\theta}} \cap \underline{\mathfrak{X}}_{2_{\theta}}.$ $(8) \ \underline{\mathfrak{X}}_{1} \cup \underline{\mathfrak{X}}_{2_{\theta}} \supseteq \underline{\mathfrak{X}}_{\underline{1}_{\theta}} \cup \underline{\mathfrak{X}}_{2_{\theta}}.$ $(9) \ \overline{\mathfrak{X}}_{1} \cup \overline{\mathfrak{X}}_{2}^{-\theta} \subseteq \overline{\mathfrak{X}}_{1}^{-\theta} \cup \overline{\mathfrak{X}}_{2}^{-\theta}.$ $(10) \ \overline{\mathfrak{X}}_{1} \cap \overline{\mathfrak{X}}_{2}^{-\theta} \subseteq \overline{\mathfrak{X}}_{1}^{-\theta} \cap \overline{\mathfrak{X}}_{2}^{-\theta}.$ $(11) \ If \ \mathfrak{X}_{1} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}_{2}, \ then \ \underline{\mathfrak{X}}_{\underline{1}_{\theta}} \subseteq \underline{\mathfrak{X}}_{2_{\theta}}.$ $(12) \ If \ \mathfrak{X}_{1} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}_{2}, \ then \ \overline{\mathfrak{X}}_{1}^{-\theta} \subseteq \overline{\mathfrak{X}}_{2}^{-\theta}.$

where, \mathfrak{X}_1^c denotes the complement of \mathfrak{X}_1 .

In literature, many extensions of Pawlak's rough sets were modified by a numerous scientists to an arbitrary binary relation, a soft binary relation, a reflexive relation, a tolerance relation, multi-equivalence relations and a set-valued map instead of an equivalence relation (see [19, 15, 42, 43, 45, 47, 35]).

1.4 Soft sets

In this section, we review some fundamental concepts about soft sets, soft groups, normal soft groups, soft-intersection groups and normal soft-intersection groups. From now on, \mathcal{E} will be indicating as a set of parameters of the universe \mathcal{U} . The parameters are usually attributes or characteristics of \mathcal{U} which may be words or sentences. The power set of \mathcal{U} is represented by $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{U})$.

Definition 1.4.1. [30] A pair (ϖ, Λ) is called a soft set over \mathcal{U} , where

$$\varpi: \Lambda \to \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{U}),$$

is a set-valued function and $\Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{E}$. The set of all soft sets of \mathbb{E} over \mathcal{U} will be denoted by $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{U})_{\mathbb{E}}$.

To explain this concept, let us give an example in the following:

Example 1.4.2. Let $\mathcal{U} = \{a, b, c, d\}$ be the set of calculators and $\mathbb{E} = \{p, c, o, f\}$ be the set of parameters of these calculators, where

- (p) denotes the price (should be low)
- (c) denotes the coverage (should be large)
- (o) denotes the outlook (should be beautiful)

(f) denotes the functions (more are required)

Suppose that Mr. X wants to purchase some calculators. To define a soft set (ϖ, Λ) , where $\Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{E}$, means to categories the calculators with respect to its parameters. Let $\Lambda = \mathbb{E}$. Then, define a soft set (ϖ, Λ) as follows:

$$\varpi(x) = \begin{cases} \{a, b, d\}, & \text{if } x = o \\ \{a, c, d\}, & \text{if } x = c \\ \{a, d\}, & \text{if } x = f \\ \{b\}, & \text{if } x = p \end{cases}$$

for all $x \in \Lambda$. So, the soft set (ϖ, Λ) describes that:

 $beautiful \ calculators = \{a, b, d\}, \ calculators \ having \ large \ coverage = \{a, c, d\}, \ calculators \ with more \ functions = \{a, d\}, \ low \ price \ calculators = \{b\}$

Definition 1.4.3. [2] Let $(\varpi_1, \Lambda_1), (\varpi_2, \Lambda_2) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{U})_{\mathbb{H}}$. Then, (ϖ_1, Λ_1) is called a soft subset of (ϖ_2, Λ_2) , written as $(\varpi_1, \Lambda_1) \subseteq (\varpi_2, \Lambda_2)$, if:

- (1) $\Lambda_1 \subseteq \Lambda_2$ and
- (2) $\varpi_1(k) \subseteq \varpi_2(k)$ for all $k \in \Lambda_1$.

 $(\varpi_1, \Lambda_1), (\varpi_2, \Lambda_2) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{U})_{\mathbb{H}}$ are said to be equal, if $(\varpi_1, \Lambda_1) \subseteq (\varpi_2, \Lambda_2)$ and $(\varpi_2, \Lambda_2) \subseteq (\varpi_1, \Lambda_1),$ denoted by $(\varpi_1, \Lambda_1) \cong (\varpi_2, \Lambda_2).$

Definition 1.4.4. [2, Definition 3.3,3.7] Let $(\varpi_1, \Lambda_1), (\varpi_2, \Lambda_2) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{U})_{\mathbb{H}}$. Then, their restricted intersection $(\varpi_1, \Lambda_1) \cap (\varpi_2, \Lambda_2) = (\vartheta_1, \Lambda_3)$ and restricted union $(\varpi_1, \Lambda_1) \cup_R (\varpi_2, \Lambda_2) = (\vartheta_2, \Lambda_3)$ are defined as follows:

- (1) $\vartheta_1(\mathfrak{k}) = \varpi_1(\mathfrak{k}) \cap \varpi_2(\mathfrak{k}) \text{ for all } \mathfrak{k} \in \Lambda_3,$
- (2) $\vartheta_2(\mathfrak{k}) = \varpi_1(\mathfrak{k}) \cup \varpi_2(\mathfrak{k})$ for all $\mathfrak{k} \in \Lambda_3$ and

where $\Lambda_3 = \Lambda_1 \cap \Lambda_2 \neq \emptyset$.

Definition 1.4.5. [2, Definition 3.5] Let $(\varpi, \Lambda) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{U})_{\mathbb{H}}$. Then, (ϖ, Λ) is said to be:

- (1) a relative null soft set if $\varpi(k) = \emptyset$ for each $k \in \Lambda$ and is denoted by $\widetilde{\aleph}_{\Lambda}$.
- (2) a relative whole soft set if $\varpi(k) = \mathcal{U}$ for each $k \in \Lambda$ and is denoted by $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{\Lambda}$.

We will denote the relative null soft set $\widetilde{\aleph}_{\mathbb{R}}$ by $\widetilde{\aleph}$ and relative whole soft set $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{\mathbb{R}}$ by $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}$.

Now assume that $\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{G}$, where \mathcal{G} denotes a multiplicative group.

Definition 1.4.6. [1, Definition 13] A soft set $(\varpi, \Lambda) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathbb{H}}$ is called a soft group over \mathcal{G} , if $\varpi(k)$ is a subgroup of \mathcal{G} for each parameter $k \in \Lambda$.

Definition 1.4.7. [1, 38, 4] A soft group $(\varpi, \Lambda) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathbb{H}}$ is called a normal soft group over \mathcal{G} , if $\varpi(k)$ is a normal subgroup of \mathcal{G} for each parameter $k \in \Lambda$.

Definition 1.4.8. [4, Definition 6.1] Let (ϖ_1, Λ_1) and (ϖ_2, Λ_2) be two soft groups over \mathcal{G} . Then, the restricted soft product of (ϖ_1, Λ_1) and (ϖ_2, Λ_2) is denoted by the soft set $(\varpi_3, \Lambda_3) = (\varpi_1, \Lambda_1) \hat{\circ}(\varpi_2, \Lambda_2)$, where $\Lambda_3 = \Lambda_1 \cap \Lambda_2$, and defined by $\varpi_3(\mathfrak{k}) = \varpi_1(\mathfrak{k}) \cdot \varpi_2(\mathfrak{k})$ for all $\mathfrak{k} \in \Lambda_3$.

Principally, soft sets are of two types. First, the soft sets are with fixed set of parameters and second is with distinct types of parameters. In the sequel, we shall discuss the case of fixed set of parameters. For more details, see [12, 20, 21]. From now onwards, \mathcal{E} will be fixed and \mathcal{U} will varies. In this case, the basic notions about soft sets are defined in the following:

Definition 1.4.9. [12, Definition 1] Let $\emptyset \neq \Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{E}$. Then, a soft set τ_{Λ} over \mathcal{U} is defined by the following set-valued mapping:

$$\tau_{\Lambda} : \mathbb{E} \to \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{U}) \text{ such that } \tau_{\Lambda}(\mathfrak{p}) = \emptyset, \text{ for all } \mathfrak{p} \notin \Lambda.$$

This soft set is also signified by:

$$\tau_{\Lambda} = \{ (\mathfrak{p}, \tau_{\Lambda}(\mathfrak{p})) : \mathfrak{p} \in \mathbb{E}, \tau_{\Lambda}(\mathfrak{p}) \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{U}) \}.$$

The set of all soft sets of \mathbb{E} over \mathcal{U} will be denoted by $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{E})_{\mathcal{U}}$.

Definition 1.4.10. [12, Definition 14] Suppose that $\theta : \Lambda_1 \to \Lambda_2$ is a function and $\tau_{\Lambda_1}, \tau_{\Lambda_2} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{E})_{\mathcal{U}}$. Then, the soft image of τ_{Λ_1} under θ is defined as:

$$\theta(\tau_{\Lambda_1})(\mathfrak{e}_2) = \begin{cases} \cup_{\mathfrak{e}_2 = \theta(\mathfrak{e}_1)} \tau_{\Lambda_1}(\mathfrak{e}_1), & \text{if } \theta^{-1}(\mathfrak{e}_2) \neq \emptyset, \\ \emptyset, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{e}_2 \in \Lambda_2$. The soft pre-image of τ_{Λ_2} under θ is defined by:

$$\theta^{-1}(\tau_{\Lambda_2})(\mathfrak{e}_1) = \tau_{\Lambda_2}(\theta(\mathfrak{e}_1)) \text{ for all } \mathfrak{e}_1 \in \Lambda_1.$$

Clearly, $\theta(\tau_{\Lambda_1}), \theta^{-1}(\tau_{\Lambda_2}) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{E})_{\mathcal{U}}.$

Lemma 1.4.11. [21, Lemma 3.43] With the above notion, we have $\theta(\theta^{-1}(\tau_{\Lambda_2})) \subseteq \tau_{\Lambda_2}$. In particular, if θ is surjective then $\theta(\theta^{-1}(\tau_{\Lambda_2})) = \tau_{\Lambda_2}$.

Definition 1.4.12. [12, Definition 6] Let $\mathbb{E} = \mathcal{G}$ and $\tau_{\mathcal{G}} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$. Then, $\tau_{\mathcal{G}}$ is called a soft-intersection group over \mathcal{U} , if

(1) $\tau_{\mathcal{G}}(g_1) \cap \tau_{\mathcal{G}}(g_2) \subseteq \tau_{\mathcal{G}}(g_1g_2),$

(2)
$$\tau_{\mathcal{G}}(g_1^{-1}) = \tau_{\mathcal{G}}(g_1),$$

for all $g_1, g_2 \in \mathcal{G}$.

The family of all soft-intersection groups of \mathcal{G} over \mathcal{U} will be denoted by $\mathcal{SI}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$.

Theorem 1.4.13. [12, Theorem 1] Let $\tau_{\mathcal{G}} \in \mathcal{SI}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$. Then, $\tau(g) \subseteq \tau(e)$ for all $g \in \mathcal{G}$.

Definition 1.4.14. [12, Theorem 8] Let $\tau_{\mathcal{G}} \in S\mathcal{I}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$ and $\tau_{\mathcal{H}}$ be a soft-intersection subgroup of $\tau_{\mathcal{G}}$, where \mathcal{H} is a subgroup of \mathcal{G} . Then, $\tau_{\mathcal{H}}$ is called a normal soft-intersection subgroup of $\tau_{\mathcal{G}}$ over \mathcal{U} , if any of the following equivalent conditions holds:

- (1) $\tau_{\mathcal{H}}(g_1g_2) = \tau_{\mathcal{H}}(g_2g_1),$
- (2) $\tau_{\mathcal{H}}(g_1g_2g_1^{-1}) = \tau_{\mathcal{H}}(g_2),$
- (3) $\tau_{\mathcal{H}}(g_1g_2g_1^{-1}) \subseteq \tau_{\mathcal{H}}(g_2),$
- (4) $\tau_{\mathcal{H}}(g_1g_2g_1^{-1}) \supseteq \tau_{\mathcal{H}}(g_2)$ and

for all $g_1, g_2 \in \mathcal{G}$

Definition 1.4.15. [20, Definition 3.20] Let $\tau_1, \tau_2 \in S(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$. Then, soft product of τ_1 and τ_2 is defined as follows:

$$(\tau_1 * \tau_2)(x) = \bigcup_{x=yz} \{\tau_1(y) \cap \tau_2(z)\}, \text{ where } x, y, z \in \mathcal{G}.$$

Definition 1.4.16. Let $\tau_1, \tau_2 \in S(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$. Then, soft composition of τ_1 and τ_2 is defined as follows:

$$(\tau_1 \cdot \tau_2)(x) = \bigcap_{x=yz} \{\tau_1(y) \cap \tau_2(z)\}, \text{ where } x, y, z \in \mathcal{G}.$$

Chapter 2

Applications of roughness in soft-intersection groups

This chapter consists of 2 sections inclusively. In section 1, the notion of roughness on soft sets will be defined. Some fundamental results of this roughness for soft-intersection groups will be proved. In the next section, we create a connection between soft approximation spaces of two different groups via group homomorphisms. Throughout this chapter, $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{G}$ will be denoting a multiplicative group with identity e as a set of attributes of \mathcal{U} , and \mathcal{N} , \mathcal{M} will be denoting as normal subgroups of \mathcal{G} . All the results in this chapter are taken from paper [7].

2.1 The lower and upper soft approximations in softintersection groups

Definition 2.1.1. Let $\tau \in S(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$. Then, by the rough approximation in an approximation space $(\tau, \mathcal{G}, \mathcal{N}, \mathcal{U})$ we mean a mapping $Apr : S(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}} \to (S(\mathcal{G}))_{\mathcal{U}} \times (S(\mathcal{G}))_{\mathcal{U}}$:

$$Apr(\tau) = (\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}, \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}),$$

where two operators $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}$ and $\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}$ are defined as:

$$\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(x) = \bigcap_{y \in x\mathcal{N}} \tau(y) \text{ and}$$
$$\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}(x) = \bigcup_{y \in x\mathcal{N}} \tau(y),$$

for all $x \in \mathcal{G}$. Clearly, $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}$ and $\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}$ are soft sets of \mathcal{G} over \mathcal{U} . The operators $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}$ and $\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}$ are called the lower and upper approximations of τ with respect to \mathcal{N} respectively.

Proposition 2.1.2. Let $\tau \in S(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$. Then, the following conditions are hold:

- (1) $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \subseteq \tau \subseteq \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}$.
- (2) If $\mathcal{N} \subseteq \mathcal{M}$, then $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}} \subseteq \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}$ and $\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}} \subseteq \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{M}}$.
- (3) $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}} \subseteq \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N} \cap \mathcal{M}}$.
- $(4) \ \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}\cap\mathcal{M}} \subseteq \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}} \cap \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{M}}.$
- (5) $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}\mathcal{M}} \subseteq \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}$.

(6)
$$\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}} \subseteq \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}\mathcal{M}}$$
.

Proof. All claims are easy to prove by using the Definition 2.1.1.

Theorem 2.1.3. If $\tau \in SI(G)_{\mathcal{U}}$, then $\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}$, $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \in SI(G)_{\mathcal{U}}$.

Proof. Let $t \in \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}(x_1) \cap \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}(x_2)$, where $x_1, x_2 \in \mathcal{G}$. Then, there exists $y_i \in x_i \mathcal{N}$ such that $t \in \tau(y_i)$ for all i = 1, 2. Since $\tau \in \mathcal{SI}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$ and $t \in \tau(y_1) \cap \tau(y_2)$, it follows that $t \in \tau(y_1y_2)$. As $y_1y_2 \in (x_1\mathcal{N})(x_2\mathcal{N}) = x_1x_2\mathcal{N}$, it implies that $t \in \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}(x_1x_2)$. This proves the following inclusion:

$$\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}(x_1) \cap \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}(x_2) \subseteq \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}(x_1x_2) \text{ for all } x_1, x_2 \in \mathcal{G}.$$

Now, suppose that $t \in \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}(x_1)$ then there exists $y_1 \in x_1 \mathcal{N}$ such that $t \in \tau(y_1)$. It implies that $y_1^{-1} \in x_1^{-1} \mathcal{N}$ and $t \in \tau(y_1^{-1})$. Recall that $\tau(y_1^{-1}) = \tau(y_1)$. So, $\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}(x_1) \subseteq \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}(x_1^{-1})$. Similarly, the reverse inclusion can be proved. Hence, $\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}$ is a soft-intersection group.

Suppose that $x_1, x_2 \in \mathcal{G}$ and $t \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(x_1) \cap \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(x_2)$. By Definition 2.1.1 of $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}$, it follows that $t \in \tau(y_i)$ for all $y_i \in x_i \mathcal{N}$, i = 1, 2. Since $\tau \in \mathcal{SI}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$ and $t \in \tau(y_1) \cap \tau(y_2)$ for all $y_1 \in x_1 \mathcal{N}$ and $y_2 \in x_2 \mathcal{N}$. Then:

$$t \in \tau(y_1 y_2)$$
 for all $y_1 \in x_1 \mathcal{N}$ and $y_2 \in x_2 \mathcal{N}$. (2.1.1)

Let $y \in x_1 x_2 \mathcal{N}$ be an arbitrary element. Since $(x_1 \mathcal{N})(x_2 \mathcal{N}) = x_1 x_2 \mathcal{N}$, then it can be assumed that $y = y_1 y_2$, where $y_1 \in x_1 \mathcal{N}$ and $y_2 \in x_2 \mathcal{N}$. Using Equation (2.1.1), we get $t \in \tau(y_1 y_2) =$ $\tau(y)$ for all $y \in x_1 x_2 \mathcal{N}$. By Definition 2.1.1, it follows that $t \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(x_1 x_2)$. Hence, the following inclusion is proved:

$$\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(x_1) \cap \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(x_2) \subseteq \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(x_1x_2)$$
 for all $x_1, x_2 \in G$.

With the similar arguments made above, it can be proved that $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(x_1) = \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(x_1^{-1})$ for all $x_1 \in \mathcal{G}$. Hence, $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}$ is a soft-intersection group.

Corollary 2.1.4. Let $\tau \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$. Then, $\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}} \cap \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \cap \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}} \in \mathcal{SI}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$.

Proof. These results are immediate consequence of Theorem 2.1.3 and [12, Theorem 6]. \Box

In [12, Example 5], the authors proved that the union of two soft-intersection groups is not a soft-intersection group. In the next result, it is shown that $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}}$ is a soft-intersection group.

Theorem 2.1.5. Let $\tau \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$. Then, $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}} \in \mathcal{SI}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$.

Proof. Let $\mathfrak{t} \in (\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}})(\mathfrak{x}_1) \cap (\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}})(\mathfrak{x}_2)$, where $\mathfrak{x}_1, \mathfrak{x}_2 \in \mathcal{G}$. Then, $\mathfrak{t} \in (\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}})(\mathfrak{x}_i) = \mathbf{1}$

 $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(\mathfrak{x}_i) \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}}(\mathfrak{x}_i)$ for all i = 1, 2. It implies that

$$\mathfrak{t} \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(\mathfrak{x}_1) \text{ or } \mathfrak{t} \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}}(\mathfrak{x}_1) \text{ and } \mathfrak{t} \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(\mathfrak{x}_2) \text{ or } \mathfrak{t} \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}}(\mathfrak{x}_2).$$

In order to prove that $\mathfrak{t} \in (\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}})(\mathfrak{x}_{1}\mathfrak{x}_{2})$, consider the following cases:

Case $-\mathbf{I}$: If $\mathfrak{t} \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(\mathfrak{x}_1)$ and $\mathfrak{t} \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(\mathfrak{x}_2)$. Then $\mathfrak{t} \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(\mathfrak{x}_1) \cap \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(\mathfrak{x}_2) \subseteq \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(\mathfrak{x}_1\mathfrak{x}_2)$, since $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \in \mathcal{SI}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$ (see Theorem 2.1.3). This proves that:

$$\mathfrak{t} \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(\mathfrak{x}_{1}\mathfrak{x}_{2}) \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}}(\mathfrak{x}_{1}\mathfrak{x}_{2}) = (\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}})(\mathfrak{x}_{1}\mathfrak{x}_{2}).$$

Similarly, if $\mathfrak{t} \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}}(\mathfrak{x}_1)$ and $\mathfrak{t} \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}}(\mathfrak{x}_2)$, then $\mathfrak{t} \in (\underline{\tau}_N \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}})(\mathfrak{x}_1\mathfrak{x}_2)$.

Case - II : If $\mathfrak{t} \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(\mathfrak{x}_1)$ and $\mathfrak{t} \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}}(\mathfrak{x}_2)$, then $\mathfrak{t} \in \tau(y_1)$ and $\mathfrak{t} \in \tau(y_2)$ for all $y_1 \in \mathfrak{x}_1 \mathcal{N}$ and $y_2 \in \mathfrak{x}_2 \mathcal{M}$. Using $\tau \in S\mathcal{I}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$, we obtain:

$$\mathfrak{t} \in \tau(y_1) \cap \tau(y_2) \subseteq \tau(y_1 y_2) \text{ for all } y_1 \in \mathfrak{x}_1 \mathcal{N} \text{ and } y_2 \in \mathfrak{x}_2 \mathcal{M}.$$

$$(2.1.2)$$

Now, let $y \in \mathfrak{x}_1\mathfrak{x}_2\mathcal{M}$. Then, y can be written as $y = \mathfrak{x}_1\mathfrak{x}_2m$ for some $m \in \mathcal{M}$. Take $y_1 = \mathfrak{x}_1 e \in \mathfrak{x}_1\mathcal{N}$ and $y_2 = \mathfrak{x}_2m \in \mathfrak{x}_2\mathcal{M}$, then $y = y_1y_2$. It implies that $\mathfrak{t} \in \tau(y_1y_2) = \tau(y)$ for all $y \in \mathfrak{x}_1\mathfrak{x}_2\mathcal{M}$ (see Equation (2.1.2)). Hence, by Definition 2.1.1 we have $\mathfrak{t} \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}}(\mathfrak{x}_1\mathfrak{x}_2)$. Then,

$$\mathfrak{t} \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(\mathfrak{x}_{1}\mathfrak{x}_{2}) \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}}(\mathfrak{x}_{1}\mathfrak{x}_{2}) = (\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}})(\mathfrak{x}_{1}\mathfrak{x}_{2}).$$

Similarly, if $\mathfrak{t} \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}}(\mathfrak{x}_1)$ and $\mathfrak{t} \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(\mathfrak{x}_2)$ then similar arguments can be employed to prove $\mathfrak{t} \in (\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}})(\mathfrak{x}_1 \mathfrak{x}_2).$

Therefore, from all cases it can be seen that $(\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}})(\mathfrak{x}_1) \cap (\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}})(\mathfrak{x}_2)$ is a subset of $(\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}})(\mathfrak{x}_1\mathfrak{x}_2)$. Note that $(\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}})(\mathfrak{x}_1\mathfrak{x}_2)$.

Note that, $(\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}})(\mathfrak{x}_1) = (\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}})(\mathfrak{x}_1^{-1})$ for all $\mathfrak{x}_1 \in \mathcal{G}$. Recall that $\tau \in \mathcal{SI}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$. Hence, $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}} \cup \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{M}}$ is a soft-intersection group. In general, $\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}} \cup \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{M}}$ is not a soft-intersection group (see next Example).

Example 2.1.6. Let $\mathcal{G} = \mathbb{Z}_6$ and \mathcal{U} be any set. Define $\tau : \mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{U})$ as follows:

$$\tau(\mathfrak{g}) = \begin{cases} \mathfrak{A}_1 \cup \mathfrak{A}_2 \cup \mathfrak{A}_3 \cup \mathfrak{A}_4, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{0}; \\\\ \mathfrak{A}_1 \cup \mathfrak{A}_3, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{3}; \\\\ \mathfrak{A}_1, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{1}, \overline{5}; \\\\ \mathfrak{A}_1 \cup \mathfrak{A}_2, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{2}, \overline{4}; \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{g} \in \mathcal{G}$, where $\mathfrak{A}_1, \mathfrak{A}_2, \mathfrak{A}_3$ and \mathfrak{A}_4 are any subsets of \mathcal{U} . It can be proved that $\tau \in S\mathcal{I}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$. Let $\mathcal{M} = \{\overline{0}, \overline{2}, \overline{4}\}$ and $\mathcal{N} = \{\overline{0}, \overline{3}\}$. It follows that:

 $\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{M}}(\overline{3}) = \tau(\overline{5}) = \mathfrak{A}_1 \cup \mathfrak{A}_3 \text{ and } \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{M}}(\overline{2}) = \mathfrak{A}_1 \cup \mathfrak{A}_2 \cup \mathfrak{A}_3 \cup \mathfrak{A}_4.$

$$\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}(\overline{3}) = \mathfrak{A}_1 \cup \mathfrak{A}_2 \cup \mathfrak{A}_3 \cup \mathfrak{A}_4 \text{ and } \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}(\overline{2}) = \tau(\overline{5}) = \mathfrak{A}_1 \cup \mathfrak{A}_2.$$

Let $\mathfrak{g}_1 = \overline{2}$ and $\mathfrak{g}_2 = \overline{3}$, it follows that:

$$(\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{M}} \cup \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}})(\mathfrak{g}_1 + \mathfrak{g}_2) = \mathfrak{A}_1 \cup \mathfrak{A}_2 \cup \mathfrak{A}_3.$$
$$(\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{M}} \cup \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}})(\mathfrak{g}_2) = \mathfrak{A}_1 \cup \mathfrak{A}_2 \cup \mathfrak{A}_3 \cup \mathfrak{A}_4.$$
$$(\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{M}} \cup \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}})(\mathfrak{g}_1) = \mathfrak{A}_1 \cup \mathfrak{A}_2 \cup \mathfrak{A}_3 \cup \mathfrak{A}_4.$$

Hence, if $\mathfrak{A}_4 \neq \emptyset$, then:

$$(\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{M}}\cup\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}})(\mathfrak{g}_1)\cap(\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{M}}\cup\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}})(\mathfrak{g}_2)\nsubseteq(\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{M}}\cup\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}})(\mathfrak{g}_1+\mathfrak{g}_2).$$

Therefore, $\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{M}} \cup \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}$ is not a soft-intersection group.

Theorem 2.1.7. If τ is a normal soft-intersection group, then $\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}$ and $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}$ are also.

Proof. By Theorem 2.1.3, we only prove the normality condition. Let $t \in \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}(x)$. Then, there exists $z \in x\mathcal{N}$ such that $t \in \tau(z)$. It implies that:

$$t \in \tau(z) = \tau(yzy^{-1}), \text{ where } yzy^{-1} \in yxy^{-1}\mathcal{N}.$$

Here, we used that τ is a normal soft-intersection group. Hence, $t \in \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}(yxy^{-1})$ for all $y \in \mathcal{G}$. This proves that $\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}(x) \subseteq \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}(yxy^{-1})$ for all $x, y \in \mathcal{G}$. Hence, $\overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}(x)$ is a normal soft-intersection group.

To prove the normality of $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}$, suppose that $t \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(x)$. Then $t \in \tau(z)$ for all $z \in x\mathcal{N}$. Let $y \in \mathcal{G}$ and $w \in yxy^{-1}\mathcal{N}$. Then, $y^{-1}wy \in x\mathcal{N}$. As τ is a normal soft-intersection group, it implies that:

$$t \in \tau(y^{-1}wy) = \tau(y^{-1}w(y^{-1})^{-1}) = \tau(w).$$

Hence, $t \in \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(yxy^{-1})$ for all $y \in \mathcal{G}$. This proves that $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(x) \subseteq \underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(yxy^{-1})$ for all $y \in \mathcal{G}$. So, $\underline{\tau}_{\mathcal{N}}(x)$ is a normal soft-intersection group.

Theorem 2.1.8. Let $\tau \in SI(G)_{\mathcal{U}}$. Then, the following statements hold:

- (1) $\tau * \tau = \tau$.
- (2) $\tau \cdot \tau \subseteq \tau$ and $\tau \cdot \tau \in \mathcal{SI}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$.
- (3) If τ is a normal soft-intersection group, then $\tau \cdot \tau$ is also.

Proof. (1) Let $x \in \mathcal{G}$ and $t \in (\tau * \tau)(x)$. By Definition 1.4.15 of $\tau * \tau$, we have:

$$t \in \tau(y) \cap \tau(z)$$
 for some $y, z \in \mathcal{G}$ such that $x = yz$

Due to the assumption on τ , it follows that $t \in \tau(yz) = \tau(x)$. Hence, $(\tau * \tau)(x) \subseteq \tau(x)$ for all $x \in \mathcal{G}$.

Conversely, assume that $t \in \tau(x)$. By Theorem 1.4.13, it follows that

$$t \in \tau(x) = \tau(x) \cap \tau(e)$$
 such that $x = xe$.

Hence, $t \in (\tau * \tau)(x)$. This proves the equality $\tau * \tau = \tau$.

(2) By Definition 1.4.12 of soft-intersection group, it follows that $\tau(y) \cap \tau(z) \subseteq \tau(yz)$ for all $y, z \in \mathcal{G}$. Let $x \in \mathcal{G}$ such that x = yz. Then, by Definition 1.4.16 of soft composition:

$$(\tau \cdot \tau)(x) \subseteq \tau(y) \cap \tau(z) \subseteq \tau(yz) = \tau(x).$$

Now, we prove that $\tau \cdot \tau \in S\mathcal{I}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$. Suppose that $t \in (\tau \cdot \tau)(x_1) \cap (\tau \cdot \tau)(x_2)$. Then, for all $y_1, z_1, y_2, z_2 \in \mathcal{G}$ such that $x_1 = y_1 z_1$, and $x_2 = y_2 z_2$, we have:

$$t \in \tau(y_1) \cap \tau(z_1) \text{ and } t \in \tau(y_2) \cap \tau(z_2).$$

$$(2.1.3)$$

Assume that $x_1x_2 = yz$, for some $y, z \in \mathcal{G}$. Take, $y_1 = y, z_1 = y^{-1}x_1, y_2 = x_2z$ and $z_2 = z^{-1}$. Then, $x_1 = y_1z_1$, and $x_2 = y_2z_2$. Hence:

$$t \in \tau(y) \cap \tau(y^{-1}x_1)$$
 and $t \in \tau(x_2z) \cap \tau(z)$, see Equation (2.1.3).

In particular, $t \in \tau(y) \cap \tau(z)$. This proves that $t \in (\tau \cdot \tau)(x_1x_2)$. Now, if $t \in (\tau \cdot \tau)(x_1)$, then $t \in \tau(y_1) \cap \tau(z_1)$ for all $y_1, z_1 \in G$ such that $x_1 = y_1z_1$. Let $x_1^{-1} = yz$. Then, $x_1 = z^{-1}y^{-1}$. It implies that

$$t \in \tau(y^{-1}) \cap \tau(z^{-1}).$$

Since τ is a soft-intersection group, then $t \in \tau(y) \cap \tau(z)$. This proves that $(\tau \cdot \tau)(x_1) \subseteq (\tau \cdot \tau)(x_1^{-1})$. Similarly, other inclusion can be proved. Therefore, $\tau \cdot \tau \in \mathcal{SI}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$.

(3) Let τ be a normal soft-intersection group and $x, y \in \mathcal{G}$. If $t \in (\tau \cdot \tau)(xyx^{-1}), t \in$

 $\tau(y_1) \cap \tau(z_1)$ for all $y_1, z_1 \in \mathcal{G}$ such that $xyx^{-1} = y_1z_1$. Let y = uv with $u, v \in \mathcal{G}$. Then, $xyx^{-1} = xuvx^{-1} = (xux^{-1})(xvx^{-1})$. It implies that

$$t \in \tau(xux^{-1}) \cap \tau(xvx^{-1}).$$

But τ is normal, then $t \in \tau(u) \cap \tau(v)$. This proves that $t \in (\tau \cdot \tau)(y)$ and $(\tau \cdot \tau)(xyx^{-1}) \subseteq (\tau \cdot \tau)(y)$.

The converse in Theorem 2.1.8(1) does not hold in general.

Example 2.1.9. Let $\mathcal{G} = \mathbb{Z}_6$ and $\mathcal{U} = \mathbb{Z}$. The soft set $\tau : \mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{U})$ is defined as:

$$\tau(\mathfrak{g}) = \begin{cases} \{0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{0}; \\ \{0, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{1}, \overline{5}; \\ \{1, 3, 4, 6, 7\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{2}, \overline{4}; \\ \{0, 2, 3, 6, 9, 11\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{3}; \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{g} \in \mathcal{G}$. Then $\tau \notin \mathcal{SI}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$ because of $\tau(\overline{1} + \overline{2}) \not\supseteq \tau(\overline{1}) \cap \tau(\overline{2})$. Also, it is obvious that $(\tau * \tau)(\mathfrak{g}) = \tau(\mathfrak{g})$ for all $\mathfrak{g} \in \mathcal{G}$.

The next Example shows that the inclusion is strict in Theorem 2.1.8(2).

Example 2.1.10. Let $\mathcal{G} = \mathbb{Z}_3$ and $\mathcal{U} = \mathbb{Z}_2$. Define $\tau \in SI(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$ as follows:

$$\tau(\mathfrak{g}) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{U}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{0}; \\ \{\overline{0}\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{1}, \overline{2}. \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{g} \in \mathcal{G}$. Then,

$$\tau(\overline{0}) = \mathcal{U} \nsubseteq (\tau \cdot \tau)(\overline{0}) = \{\overline{0}\}.$$

Hence, $\tau \not\subseteq \tau \cdot \tau$.

In the following Example, it is shown that if $\tau_1, \tau_2 \in S\mathcal{I}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$ then $\tau_1 \cdot \tau_2 \notin S\mathcal{I}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$ and $\tau_1 * \tau_2 \notin S\mathcal{I}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$.

Example 2.1.11. If $\mathcal{G} = \mathbb{Z}_6$ and $\mathcal{U} = S_3$, consider the following soft-intersection groups τ_1 and τ_2 over \mathcal{U} :

$$\tau_{1}(\mathfrak{g}) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{U}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{0}; \\ \{(12), (13), (132)\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{1}, \overline{5}; \\ \{(12), (13), (23), (123), (132)\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{2}, \overline{4}; \\ \{e, (12), (13), (132)\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{3}; \end{cases}$$

$$\tau_{2}(\mathfrak{g}) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{U}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{0}; \\ \{e, (12), (13), (23)\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{1}, \overline{5}; \\ \emptyset, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{2}, \overline{3}, \overline{4}; \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{g} \in \mathcal{G}$. Now, we calculate $\tau_1 * \tau_2$ and $\tau_1 \cdot \tau_2$ as follows:

$$(\tau_1 * \tau_2)(\mathfrak{g}) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{U}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{0}; \\ \{(12), (13)\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{1}, \overline{4}, \overline{5}; \\ \{e, (12), (13)\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{3}; \\ \{(12), (13), (23)\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{2}; \end{cases}$$

$$(\tau_1 \cdot \tau_2)(\mathfrak{g}) = \begin{cases} \emptyset, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{0}, \overline{2}, \overline{3}, \overline{4}; \\ \{(12), (13)\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{1}, \overline{5}; \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{g} \in \mathcal{G}$. Note that $(\tau_1 * \tau_2)(\overline{2}) \neq (\tau_1 * \tau_2)(\overline{4})$ and $(\tau_1 \cdot \tau_2)(\overline{1}) \nsubseteq (\tau_1 \cdot \tau_2)(\overline{0})$. Hence, by Theorem 1.4.13 and Definition 1.4.12, it follows that $\tau_1 * \tau_2 \notin S\mathcal{I}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$ and $\tau_1 \cdot \tau_2 \notin S\mathcal{I}(\mathcal{G})_{\mathcal{U}}$.

2.2 A connection between lower and upper approximations of soft sets

In this section, we develop a relationship between the lower and upper approximation spaces of soft sets, described in the previous section. In this section, $\phi : \mathcal{G}_1 \to \mathcal{G}_2$ will be considered as a group homomorphism between two groups, and \mathcal{N} and \mathcal{M} will be denoting as normal subgroups of \mathcal{G}_1 and \mathcal{G}_2 respectively. It is well-known that:

- (1) $\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})$ is a normal subgroup of \mathcal{G}_1 and ker $\phi \subseteq \phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})$.
- (2) If ϕ is an epimorphism, then $\phi(\mathcal{N})$ is a normal subgroup of \mathcal{G}_2 .

Theorem 2.2.1. Let $\tau_2 \in S(\mathcal{G}_2)_{\mathcal{U}}$ and $x \in \mathcal{G}_1$. Then, the following implications are true:

$$t \in \underline{\tau_2}_{\mathcal{M}}(\phi(x)) \Longrightarrow t \in \underline{(\phi^{-1}(\tau_2))}_{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(x).$$
$$t \in \overline{(\phi^{-1}(\tau_2))}^{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(x) \Longrightarrow t \in \overline{\tau_2}^{\mathcal{M}}(\phi(x)).$$

Proof. To prove the first implication, assume that $t \in \underline{\tau}_{2_{\mathcal{M}}}(\phi(x))$. Then,

$$t \in \tau(z)$$
 for all $z \in \phi(x)\mathcal{M}$. (2.2.1)

Now, let $y \in x\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})$. Since ϕ is a group homomorphism, it implies that $\phi(y) \in \phi(x)\phi(\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})) \subseteq \phi(x)\mathcal{M}$. From Equation (2.2.1), it follows that $t \in \tau_2(\phi(y)) = \phi^{-1}(\tau_2)(y)$ for all $y \in x\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})$. Therefore,

$$t \in \underline{(\phi^{-1}(\tau_2))}_{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(x) = \bigcap_{y \in x\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})} [\phi^{-1}(\tau_2)(y)].$$

Now, we prove the second implication. Let $t \in \overline{(\phi^{-1}(\tau_2))}^{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(x)$. Then, there exists some $y \in x\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})$ such that $t \in \tau_2(\phi(y)) = \phi^{-1}(\tau_2)(y)$. Then,

$$t \in \tau_2(\phi(y))$$
, such that $\phi(y) \in \phi(x)\phi(\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})) \subseteq \phi(x)\mathcal{M}$

Hence, $t \in \overline{\tau}^{\mathcal{M}}(\phi(x))$.

Theorem 2.2.2. With the previous notion, suppose that ϕ is an epimorphism. Then the following implications hold:

$$t \in \underline{(\phi^{-1}(\tau_2))}_{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(x) \Longrightarrow t \in \underline{\tau_2}_{\mathcal{M}}(\phi(x)).$$
$$t \in \overline{\tau_2}^{\mathcal{M}}(\phi(x)) \Longrightarrow t \in \overline{(\phi^{-1}(\tau_2))}^{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(x).$$

Proof. Assume that ϕ is an epimorphism. We claim that:

if
$$z \in \phi(x)\mathcal{M}$$
, then $y \in x\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})$ for some $y \in \mathcal{G}_1$ such that $\phi(y) = z$.

Note that z can be written as $z = \phi(x)m$, for some $m \in \mathcal{M}$. By surjectivity of ϕ , it follows that $\phi(y) = z$ and $\phi(n) = m$, where $y, n \in \mathcal{G}_1$. So,

 $\phi(y) = \phi(x)\phi(n) = \phi(xn)$, since ϕ is a homomorphism.

This implies that $y^{-1}(xn) \in \ker \phi$. Since $\ker \phi \subseteq \phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})$, then $y^{-1}(xn) \in \phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})$. As $n \in \phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})$, it implies that $x^{-1}y \in \phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})$. Then, $y \in x\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})$. This prove the claim. Let $t \in \underline{(\phi^{-1}(\tau_2))}_{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(x)$. By Definition 2.1.1, we have:

$$t \in \phi^{-1}(\tau_2)(y) \text{ for all } y \in x\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M}).$$

$$(2.2.2)$$

Let $z \in \phi(x)\mathcal{M}$ be an arbitrary element. By the above claim, it follows that $y \in x\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})$, for some $y \in \mathcal{G}_1$ such that $\phi(y) = z$. Therefore,

$$t \in \tau_2(\phi(y)) = \phi^{-1}(\tau_2)(y)$$
, (see Equation (2.2.2)).

Then, $t \in \tau_2(z)$ for all $z \in \phi(x)\mathcal{M}$. This proves the following result:

$$t \in \underline{(\phi^{-1}(\tau_2))}_{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(x) \Longrightarrow t \in \underline{\tau_2}_{\mathcal{M}}(\phi(x)).$$

Now, assume that $t \in \overline{\tau_2}^{\mathcal{M}}(\phi(x))$. Then $t \in \tau_2(z)$, for some $z \in \phi(x)\mathcal{M}$. Again, by the above claim it follows that $y \in x\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})$ for some $y \in \mathcal{G}_1$ such that $\phi(y) = z$. Then, $t \in \tau_2(z) = \tau_2(\phi(y)) = \phi^{-1}(\tau_2)(y)$. Therefore, $t \in \overline{(\phi^{-1}(\tau_2))}^{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(x)$.

Note that if ϕ is not an epimorphism, then the claims in Theorem 2.2.2 are not true (see Examples 2.2.3 and 2.2.4).

Example 2.2.3. Suppose that $\mathcal{G}_1 = \mathbb{Z}_4$ and $\mathcal{G}_2 = \mathbb{Z}_6$. Let $\phi : \mathcal{G}_1 \to \mathcal{G}_2$ be defined as $\overline{a} \mapsto \widehat{3a}$. Then, ϕ is a homomorphism but not onto. Take $\mathcal{U} = \{u_1, u_2, u_3\}$ and define a soft set $\tau_2 : \mathbb{Z}_6 \to \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{U})$ as:

$$\tau_{2}(\mathfrak{g}) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{U}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \widehat{0}; \\ \{u_{1}, u_{2}\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \widehat{1}, \widehat{3}; \\ \{u_{1}\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \widehat{2}, \widehat{4}; \\ \emptyset, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \widehat{5}; \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{g} \in \mathcal{G}_2$. Consider the normal subgroup $\mathcal{M} = \{\widehat{0}, \widehat{2}, \widehat{4}\}$ of G_2 . By simple calculations, one can see that:

$$\phi^{-1}(\tau_2)(\mathfrak{e}) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{U}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{e} = \overline{0}, \overline{2}; \\ \{u_1, u_2\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{e} = \overline{1}, \overline{3}; \end{cases} \text{ and } \underline{\tau_2}_M(\phi(\mathfrak{e})) = \begin{cases} \{u_1\}, & \text{if } \phi(\mathfrak{e}) = \widehat{0}, \widehat{2}; \\ \emptyset, & \text{if } \phi(\mathfrak{e}) = \widehat{1}, \widehat{3}; \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \mathcal{G}_1$. Note that

$$\underline{\phi^{-1}(\tau_2)}_{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(\overline{0}) = \mathcal{U}, \text{ and } \underline{\phi^{-1}(\tau_2)}_{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(\overline{1}) = \{u_1, u_2\}.$$

Hence, $u_2, u_3 \in \underline{\phi^{-1}(\tau_2)}_{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(\overline{0}) \text{ and } u_2, u_3 \notin \underline{\tau_2}_{\mathcal{M}}(\phi(\overline{0})).$

Example 2.2.4. Suppose that \mathcal{G}_1 , \mathcal{G}_2 , \mathcal{U} , \mathcal{M} and ϕ are same as in Example 2.2.3. Consider the following soft set:

$$T_2(\mathfrak{g}) = egin{cases} \{u_1\}, & if \ \mathfrak{g} = \widehat{0}; \ \{u_2\}, & if \ \mathfrak{g} = \widehat{1}; \ \{u_3\}, & if \ \mathfrak{g} = \widehat{2}, \widehat{3}; \ \emptyset, & if \ \mathfrak{g} = \widehat{4}, \widehat{5}; \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{g} \in \mathcal{G}_2$. Then, it follows that

$$\phi^{-1}(\tau_2)(\mathbf{e}) = \tau_2(\phi(\mathbf{e})) = \begin{cases} \{u_1\}, & \text{if } \mathbf{e} = \overline{0}, \overline{2}; \\ \{u_3\}, & \text{if } \mathbf{e} = \overline{1}, \overline{3}; \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \mathcal{G}_1$. Since, $\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M}) = \{\overline{0}, \overline{2}\}$. Then,

$$\overline{\phi^{-1}(\tau_2)}^{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(\overline{0}) = \{u_1\} \text{ and } \overline{\tau_2}^{\mathcal{M}}(\phi(\overline{0})) = \{u_1, u_3\}$$

This proves that $u_3 \in \overline{\tau_2}^{\mathcal{M}}(\phi(\overline{0}))$ and $u_3 \notin \overline{\phi^{-1}(\tau_2)}^{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(\overline{0})$.

Theorem 2.2.5. Let $\tau_1 \in S(\mathcal{G}_2)_{\mathcal{U}}$, $x \in \mathcal{G}_1$ and ϕ be an epimorphism. Then, the following implication is true:

$$t \in \underline{\tau_1}_{\mathcal{N}}(x) \Longrightarrow t \in \underline{\phi(\tau_1)}_{\phi(\mathcal{N})}(\phi(x))$$

Further, if we assume that ϕ is one-one then the converse is also true.

Proof. Let $x \in \mathcal{G}_1$ and $t \in \underline{\tau}_{1,\mathcal{N}}(x)$. Then, $t \in \tau_1(y)$ for all $y \in x\mathcal{N}$. Note that $\phi(x)\phi(\mathcal{N}) = \phi(x\mathcal{N})$, since ϕ is a group homomorphism. Let $u \in \phi(x)\phi(\mathcal{N})$. Then, $u = \phi(xn)$, for some $n \in \mathcal{N}$. As $xn \in x\mathcal{N}$, it follows that $t \in \tau_1(xn)$. So,

$$t \in \phi(\tau_1)(u) = \bigcup_{u=\phi(y), y \in \mathcal{G}_1} \tau_1(y), \text{ for all } u \in \phi(x)\phi(\mathcal{N}).$$

By Definition 2.1.1, we have $t \in \underline{\phi(\tau_1)}_{\phi(\mathcal{N})}(\phi(x))$.

Conversely, assume that ϕ is one-one. If $t \in \underline{\phi(\tau_1)}_{\phi(\mathcal{N})}(\phi(x))$, then $t \in \phi(\tau_1)(u)$ for all $u \in \phi(x)\phi(\mathcal{N})$. By Definition 1.4.10 of $\phi(\tau_1)(u)$, it follows that:

$$t \in \bigcup_{u=\phi(v), v \in \mathcal{G}_1} \tau_1(v) \text{ for all } u \in \phi(x)\phi(\mathcal{N}).$$
(2.2.3)

Let $y \in x\mathcal{N}$. Then, y = xn for some $n \in \mathcal{N}$. Hence, $\phi(y) = \phi(x)\phi(n) \in \phi(x)\phi(\mathcal{N})$. Then

$$t \in \bigcup_{\phi(y)=\phi(v), v \in \mathcal{G}_1} \tau_1(v)$$
, see Equation (2.2.3).

Due to the assumption on ϕ , for $\phi(v) = \phi(y)$, it implies that v = y. Then, $t \in \tau_1(y)$, for all $y \in x\mathcal{N}$. Hence, $t \in \underline{\tau_1}_{\mathcal{N}}(x)$.

The next Example shows that if ϕ is not one-one, then the converse does not hold in Theorem 2.2.5.

Example 2.2.6. Suppose that $\mathcal{U} = \mathbb{Z}$, $\mathcal{G}_1 = \mathbb{Z}_4$ and $\mathcal{G}_2 = \mathbb{Z}_2$. Consider the epimorphism of groups $\phi : \mathcal{G}_1 \to \mathcal{G}_2$:

$$\phi(\mathfrak{g}) = \begin{cases} \overline{0}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{0}, \overline{2}; \\ \overline{1}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{1}, \overline{3}; \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{g} \in \mathcal{G}_1$. Define a soft-intersection group $\tau_1 : \mathcal{G}_1 \to \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{U})$ as follows:

$$\tau_{1}(\mathfrak{g}) = \begin{cases} \{1, 2, 3\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{0}; \\ \{1\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{1}, \overline{3}; \\ \{1, 2\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{2}; \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{g} \in \mathcal{G}_1$. Take $\mathcal{N} = \ker(\phi)$, then we get:

$$\underline{\tau_1}_{\mathcal{N}}(\mathfrak{g}) = \begin{cases} \{1,2\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{0}, \overline{2}; \\ \{1\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = \overline{1}, \overline{3}; \end{cases} \text{ and } \phi(\tau_1)(\mathfrak{e}) = \begin{cases} \{1,2,3\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{e} = \widehat{0}; \\ \{1\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{e} = \overline{1}; \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{g} \in \mathcal{G}_1$ and $\mathfrak{e} \in \mathcal{G}_2$. Since $\phi(\mathcal{N}) = \{\overline{0}\}$, then it follows that:

$$\underline{\phi(\tau_1)}_{\phi(\mathcal{N})}(\phi(\overline{0})) = \{1, 2, 3\} \text{ and } \underline{\phi(\tau_1)}_{\phi(\mathcal{N})}(\phi(\overline{1})) = \{1\}.$$

Hence, $3 \in \underline{\phi(\tau_1)}_{\phi(\mathcal{N})}(\phi(\overline{0}))$, but $3 \notin \underline{\tau_1}_{\mathcal{N}}(\overline{0})$.

Theorem 2.2.7. With the same assumptions as in Theorem 2.2.5, then the following statement is true:

$$t \in \overline{\tau_1}^{\mathcal{N}}(x) \Longrightarrow t \in \overline{\phi(\tau_1)}^{\phi(\mathcal{N})}(\phi(x))$$

In addition, if $\ker(\phi) \subseteq \mathcal{N}$ then the converse is also true.

Proof. Let $x \in \mathcal{G}_1$ and $t \in \overline{\tau_1}^{\mathcal{N}}(x)$. By Definition 2.1.1, there exists $y \in xN$ such that $t \in \tau_1(y)$. This implies that

$$t \in \phi(\tau_1)(\phi(y)) = \bigcup_{\phi(y) = \phi(z)} \tau_1(z).$$

Let y = xn, where $n \in \mathcal{N}$. Then, $\phi(y) = \phi(x)\phi(n) \in \phi(x)\phi(\mathcal{N})$. Hence, $t \in \overline{\phi(\tau_1)}^{\phi(\mathcal{N})}(\phi(x))$. Conversely, assume that $\ker(\phi) \subseteq \mathcal{N}$ and $t \in \overline{\phi(\tau_1)}^{\phi(\mathcal{N})}(\phi(x))$. Then $t \in \phi(\tau_1)(u)$, for some $u \in \phi(x)\phi(\mathcal{N}) = \phi(x\mathcal{N})$. This implies that

$$t \in \bigcup_{u=\phi(y), y \in \mathcal{G}_1} \tau_1(y)$$
 and $u = \phi(xn)$, where $n \in \mathcal{N}$.

Suppose that $t \in \tau_1(y)$ such that $u = \phi(y)$. Then, $\phi(y) = \phi(xn)$ and hence $y^{-1}xn \in \ker(\phi) \subseteq \mathcal{N}$. Then, $y^{-1}x \in \mathcal{N}$ or $y \in x\mathcal{N}$. So, $t \in \overline{\tau_1}^{\mathcal{N}}(x)$.

The converse in Theorem 2.2.7 become invalid, if $\ker(\phi) \nsubseteq \mathcal{N}$.

Example 2.2.8. Define $\phi : \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \to \mathbb{Z}_2$ as $(a, b) \mapsto a$ for all $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}_2$. Then ϕ is an epimorphism with ker $\phi = \{(\overline{0}, \overline{0}), (\overline{0}, \overline{1})\}$. Suppose that $\mathcal{N} = \{(\overline{0}, \overline{0}), (\overline{1}, \overline{0})\}$ and $\mathcal{U} = \{x, y, z, w\}$. Note that ker $\phi \notin \mathcal{N}$. The soft set $\tau_1 : \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \to \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{U})$ is defined as follows:

$$\tau_{1}((\mathfrak{g}_{1},\mathfrak{g}_{2})) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{U}, & if(\mathfrak{g}_{1},\mathfrak{g}_{2}) = (\overline{0},\overline{0}); \\ \{x\}, & if(\mathfrak{g}_{1},\mathfrak{g}_{2}) = (\overline{0},\overline{1}); \\ \{x,y\}, & if(\mathfrak{g}_{1},\mathfrak{g}_{2}) = (\overline{1},\overline{0}); \\ \{z\}, & if(\mathfrak{g}_{1},\mathfrak{g}_{2}) = (\overline{1},\overline{1}); \end{cases}$$

for all $(\mathfrak{g}_1, \mathfrak{g}_2) \in \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$. It implies that:

$$\phi(\tau_1)(\mathfrak{g}_2) = \mathcal{U} \text{ for all } \mathfrak{g}_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_2.$$

Since $\phi(\mathcal{N}) = \{\overline{0}, \overline{1}\}$, then we have:

$$\overline{\tau_1}^{\mathcal{N}}((\overline{1},\overline{1})) = \{x,z\} \text{ and } \overline{\phi(\tau_1)}^{\phi(\mathcal{N})}(\phi((\overline{1},\overline{1}))) = \mathcal{U}.$$

It follows that $y \in \overline{\phi(\tau_1)}^{\phi(\mathcal{N})}(\phi((\overline{1},\overline{1})))$ and $y \notin \overline{\tau_1}^{\mathcal{N}}((\overline{1},\overline{1}))$.

Proposition 2.2.9. Let $\tau_1 \in S(\mathcal{G}_1)_{\mathcal{U}}$. Then:

- (1) If ϕ is an epimorphism and $t \in \underline{\tau_1}_{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(x)$, then $t \in \underline{\phi(\tau_1)}_{\mathcal{M}}(\phi(x))$.
- (2) If ϕ is one-one and $t \in \underline{\phi(\tau_1)}_{\mathcal{M}}(\phi(x))$, then $t \in \underline{\tau_1}_{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(x)$.

Proof. (1) Let ϕ be an epimorphism and $\mathcal{N} = \phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})$. Then, $\phi(\mathcal{N}) = \phi(\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})) = \mathcal{M}$. Hence, by Theorem 2.2.5 the result can be easily deduced.

(2) Assume that ϕ is one-one and $t \in \underline{\phi(\tau_1)}_{\mathcal{M}}(\phi(x))$. It follows that $t \in \phi(\tau_1)(u)$ for all $u \in \phi(x)\mathcal{M}$. Then

$$t \in \bigcup_{u=\phi(v), v \in \mathcal{G}_1} \tau_1(v) \text{ for all } u \in \phi(x)\mathcal{M}.$$
(2.2.4)

Let $y \in x\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})$ be an arbitrary element. Then, $\phi(y) \in \phi(x)\phi(\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})) \subseteq \phi(x)M$, it implies that

$$t \in \bigcup_{\phi(y)=\phi(v), v \in \mathcal{G}_1} \tau_1(v)$$
, see Equation (2.2.4).

Note that if $\phi(y) = \phi(v)$, then y = v (since ϕ is one-one). Consequently, $t \in \tau_1(y)$ for all $y \in x\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})$. Thus, $t \in \underline{\tau_1}_{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(x)$.

The following Examples illustrates that result 2.2.9 is not true, in general.

Example 2.2.10. Consider the following group homomorphism from S_3 to \mathbb{Z}_6 :

$$\phi(\mathfrak{g}) = \begin{cases} \overline{0}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = e, (123), (132); \\ \overline{3}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = (12), (13), (23); \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{g} \in S_3$. Clearly, ϕ is not onto. Suppose that $\mathcal{U} = \{p, q, r\}$. The soft set $\tau_1 : S_3 \to P(\mathcal{U})$ is defined as:

$$\tau_{1}(\mathfrak{g}) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{U}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = e, (132); \\ \{p\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = (123); \\ \emptyset, & \text{otherwise}; \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{g} \in S_3$. If $\mathcal{M} = \{\overline{0}, \overline{2}, \overline{4}\}$, then

$$\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M}) = \{e, (123), (132)\}.$$

The soft image $\phi(\tau_1)(\mathfrak{g}')$ is calculated as follows:

$$\phi(\tau_1)(\mathfrak{g}') = \begin{cases} \mathcal{U}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g}' = \overline{0}; \\ \emptyset, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{g}' \in \mathbb{Z}_6$. It follows that

$$\underline{\tau_1}_{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(e) = \{p\} \text{ and } \underline{\phi(\tau_1)}_{\mathcal{M}}(\phi(e)) = \emptyset.$$

This proves that $p \in \underline{\tau_1}_{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(e)$ and $p \notin \underline{\phi(\tau_1)}_{\mathcal{M}}(\phi(e))$.

Example 2.2.11. Let $\mathcal{U} = \{l, m, n\}$, $\mathcal{G}_1 = \{1, -1, i, -i\}$ and $\mathcal{G}_2 = \{1, -1\}$. Then, the map $\phi : \mathcal{G}_1 \to \mathcal{G}_2$ defined by:

$$\phi(\mathfrak{g}) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = 1, -1; \\ -1, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = i, -i; \end{cases}$$

is a group homomorphism. Define a soft set $\tau_1 : \mathcal{G}_1 \to \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{U})$ as:

$$\tau_{1}(\mathfrak{g}) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{U}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = 1; \\ \{l\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = i, -i; \\ \{l, m\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = -1; \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{g} \in \mathcal{G}_1$. If \mathcal{M} is the trivial normal subgroup of \mathcal{G}_2 , then $\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M}) = \{1, -1\}$. It follows that:

$$\phi(\tau_1)(\mathfrak{g}') = \begin{cases} \mathcal{U}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g}' = 1;\\ \{l\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g}' = -1. \end{cases}$$
$$\underline{\phi(\tau_1)}_{\mathcal{M}}(\phi(1)) = \mathcal{U} \text{ and } \underline{\tau_1}_{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(1) = \{l, m\}.$$

We see that $n \in \underline{\phi(\tau_1)}_{\mathcal{M}}(\phi(1))$ and $n \notin \underline{\tau_1}_{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(1)$.

Corollary 2.2.12. With the same notion as in Theorem 2.2.7, the following conditions are equivalent:

(1) $t \in \overline{\tau_1}^{\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})}(x).$ (2) $t \in \overline{\phi(\tau_1)}^{\mathcal{M}}(\phi(x)).$ *Proof.* Let ϕ be an epimorphism and $\mathcal{N} = \phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})$. Then, $\phi(\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M})) = \mathcal{M} = \phi(\mathcal{N})$ and $\ker(\phi) \subseteq \mathcal{N}$. The result follows from Theorem 2.2.7.

Theorem 2.2.13. Let ϕ be an epimorphism and $\tau_2 \in S(\mathcal{G}_2)_{\mathcal{U}}$. Then, the following statements are true:

$$t \in \underline{\tau_2}_{\phi(\mathcal{N})}(\phi(x)) \iff t \in \underline{\phi^{-1}(\tau_2)}_{\mathcal{N}}(x).$$
$$t \in \overline{\tau_2}^{\phi(\mathcal{N})}(\phi(x)) \iff t \in \overline{\phi^{-1}(\tau_2)}^{\mathcal{N}}(x).$$

Proof. If ϕ is an epimorphism, then $\phi(\phi^{-1}(\tau_2)) = \tau_2$, see Lemma 1.4.11. By Theorems 2.2.5 and 2.2.7, the following implications hold:

$$t \in \underline{\phi^{-1}(\tau_2)}_{\mathcal{N}}(x) \Longrightarrow t \in \underline{\tau_2}_{\phi(\mathcal{N})}(\phi(x)).$$
$$t \in \overline{\phi^{-1}(\tau_2)}^{\mathcal{N}}(x) \Longrightarrow t \in \overline{\tau_2}^{\phi(\mathcal{N})}(\phi(x)).$$

To prove the converse, suppose that $t \in \underline{\tau_2}_{\phi(\mathcal{N})}(\phi(x))$. Then

$$t \in \tau_2(z)$$
 for all $z \in \phi(x)\phi(\mathcal{N})$.

Let $y \in x\mathcal{N}$. Then, $\phi(y) \in \phi(x)\phi(\mathcal{N})$. It follows that:

$$t \in \tau_2(\phi(y)) = \phi^{-1}(\tau_2)(y)$$
 for all $y \in x\mathcal{N}$.

Hence, $t \in \underline{\phi^{-1}(\tau_2)}_{\mathcal{N}}(x)$. This completes the proof of first statement. Now, suppose that $t \in \overline{\tau_2}^{\phi(\mathcal{N})}(\phi(x))$. Then

$$t \in \tau_2(z)$$
 for some $z \in \phi(x)\phi(\mathcal{N}) = \phi(x\mathcal{N})$.

Let $z = \phi(xn)$, for some $n \in \mathcal{N}$ and y = xn. Then,

$$t \in \tau_2(z) = \tau_2(\phi(y)) = \phi^{-1}(\tau_2)(y)$$
 with $y \in x\mathcal{N}$.

Hence, $t \in \overline{\phi^{-1}(\tau_2)}^{\mathcal{N}}(x)$.

37

Chapter 3

A study roughness in modules of fractions

This chapter containing 2 sections. In section 1, a new concept of roughness in modules of fractions will be defined. Section 2 is devoted to built up a relationship among the approximation spaces of two different modules of fractions by using the module homomorphisms. In this chapter, L will be denoting a commutative ring with multiplicative identity element 1_L , Z an L-module and \mathcal{D} denotes a MCS in L. This chapter is taken from paper [13].

3.1 Roughness in modules of fractions

In this section, we introduce the notion of lower and upper approximation spaces in modules of fractions with respect to its submodules. Important results interconnected with the presented notion are studied in detail.

Definition 3.1.1. For an L-submodule W of Z, define a relation $\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}$ on $\mathcal{D}^{-1}W$ as follows:

$$\frac{z}{d}\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}\frac{z'}{d'} \Leftrightarrow \frac{z}{d} = \frac{u}{v} \cdot \frac{z'}{d'} \text{ for some } \frac{u}{v} \in U(\mathcal{D}^{-1}L),$$

where $U(\mathcal{D}^{-1}L)$ denotes the set of all unit elements of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}L$. Since L is a commutative ring with identity, then one can verify that $\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}$ is an equivalence relation on $D^{-1}W$.

For any $z \in W$ and $d \in \mathcal{D}$, the equivalence class of $\frac{w}{d} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W$ will be denoted as:

$$\begin{bmatrix} z\\d \end{bmatrix}_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}} = \{\frac{w}{v} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W : w \in W, v \in \mathcal{D} \text{ and } \frac{z}{d}\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}\frac{w}{v}\} = \{\frac{l}{m} \cdot \frac{z}{d} : \frac{l}{m} \in U(\mathcal{D}^{-1}L)\}.$$

Lemma 3.1.2. Let W_i , i = 1, 2 be submodules of Z and K be an ideal of L. Then, the following assertions hold:

 $\begin{array}{l} (1) \ \left[\frac{z_1}{d_1} + \frac{z_2}{d_2}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2}} \subseteq \left[\frac{z_1}{d_1}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1}} + \left[\frac{z_2}{d_2}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2}}, \\ (2) \ \frac{l}{m} \cdot \left[\frac{z_1}{d_1}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1}} = \left[\frac{lz_1}{md_1}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1}}, \\ (3) \ \left[\frac{u \cdot z_1}{vd_1}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW_1)}} \subseteq \left[\frac{u}{v}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K}} \cdot \left[\frac{z_1}{d_1}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1}}, \\ (4) \ \left[\frac{x}{y}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1}} = \left[\frac{x}{y}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2}} = \left[\frac{x}{y}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1}} \cap \left[\frac{x}{y}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2}} = \left[\frac{x}{y}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 \cap W_2)}}, \end{array}$

for all $\frac{l}{m} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}L$, $\frac{u}{v} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}K$, $\frac{x}{y} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 \cap W_2)$, $\frac{z_1}{d_1} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1$, $\frac{z_2}{d_2} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2$.

Proof. It is effortless in view of Lemma 1.1.11.

In Example 3.1.3, it is revealed that $\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}$ is not a congruence relation. Hence, the reverse inclusion in Lemma 3.1.2 (1) is not true.

Example 3.1.3. Consider $L = \mathbb{Z}_4$ and $\mathcal{D} = \{\overline{1}, \overline{3}\}$, then $\mathcal{D}^{-1}L = \{\overline{0}, \overline{\frac{1}{1}}, \overline{\frac{2}{1}}, \overline{\frac{3}{1}}\}$ and $U(\mathcal{D}^{-1}L) = \{\overline{\frac{1}{1}}, \overline{\frac{3}{1}}\}$. It follows that:

$$[\overline{0}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}} = \{\overline{0}\}, \quad [\overline{\frac{1}{\overline{1}}}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}} = [\overline{\frac{3}{\overline{1}}}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}} = \{\overline{\frac{1}{\overline{1}}}, \overline{\frac{3}{\overline{1}}}\} \text{ and } [\overline{\frac{2}{\overline{1}}}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}} = \{\overline{\frac{2}{\overline{1}}}\}.$$

Note that: $[\frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{1}}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}} + [\frac{\overline{3}}{\overline{1}}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}} = \{\overline{0}, \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}}\}$ and $[\frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{1}} + \frac{\overline{3}}{\overline{1}}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}} = \{\overline{0}\}.$ This clearly shows that $[\frac{z_1}{d_1}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1}} + [\frac{z_2}{d_2}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2}} \nsubseteq [\frac{z_1}{d_1} + \frac{z_2}{d_2}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2}}$ for all $\frac{z_1}{d_1}, \frac{z_2}{d_2} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z.$

Definition 3.1.4. Let X be a non-empty subset of Z. If W is a submodule Z. Then, by the rough approximation in the approximation space $(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W, \theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W})$ means there is a mapping $Apr: P(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W) \to P(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W) \times P(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W):$

$$Apr(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X) = (\underline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}X_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}, \overline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}X^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}),$$

where

$$\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} = \{\frac{w}{d} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W : [\frac{w}{d}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}} \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}X\} \text{ and}$$
$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} = \{\frac{w}{d} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W : [\frac{w}{d}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}} \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X \neq \emptyset\}.$$

The sets $\underline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}X_{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}W$ and $\overline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}X^{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}W$ are called lower and upper approximations of $\mathcal{D}}^{-1}X$ in the approximation space $(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W, \theta_{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}W)$ respectively.

Remark 3.1.5. Note that $\underline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}X_{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}W \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}X$. If $X \subseteq W$, then:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}X \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}.$$

Hence, both the lower and upper approximations of a non-empty set $\mathcal{D}^{-1}X$ can be empty sets simultaneously, see Examples 3.1.11 and 3.1.13.

The Lemma 3.1.6 is the generalized form of Lemma 3.10 of [16].

Lemma 3.1.6. Let W_i , i = 1, 2 be submodules of Z and K be an ideal of L. Suppose that $W_1 \subseteq W_2$ and $X_1 \subseteq X_2 \subseteq Z$. Then:

$$\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1} \subseteq \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2} \text{ and } \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2}.$$

Proof. It is an easy consequence of the Definition 3.1.4 of approximation spaces. \Box

If X is a submodule of Z, then the approximation spaces of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}X$ do not yield any new information.

Theorem 3.1.7. If X and W are submodules of Z, then

$$\underline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}X_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} = \mathcal{D}^{-1}X = \overline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}X^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}.$$

Proof. Let $\frac{w}{d} \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}$. By Definition 3.1.4, $[\frac{w}{d}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}} \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X \neq \emptyset$. There exists $\frac{w'}{d'} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W$ such that $\frac{w'}{d'} \in [\frac{w}{d}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}}$ and $\frac{w'}{d'} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}X$. It implies that:

$$[\frac{w}{d}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}} = [\frac{w'}{d'}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}}.$$

Since $\frac{l}{m} \cdot \frac{w'}{d'} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}X$ for some $\frac{l}{m} \in U(\mathcal{D}^{-1}L)$, then $[\frac{w'}{d'}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}} \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}X$. Thus, $\frac{w}{d} \in \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}$. This completes the proof.

In the following Theorem, it is shown that if $\mathfrak{X} \subseteq Z$ is submodule, then the lower and upper approximations in Davvaz and Mahdavipour's [16] case also do not give us any new information.

Theorem 3.1.8. Let \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{X} be two submodules of Z. Then,

$$\underline{Apr}_{\mathfrak{A}}(\mathfrak{X}) = \mathfrak{X} = \overline{Apr}^{\mathfrak{A}}(\mathfrak{X})$$

Proof.

$$\underline{Apr}_{\mathfrak{A}}(\mathfrak{X}) = \{\mathfrak{z} \in Z : (\mathfrak{z} + \mathfrak{A}) \subseteq \mathfrak{X}\}, \overline{Apr}^{\mathfrak{A}}(\mathfrak{X}) = \{\mathfrak{z} \in Z : (\mathfrak{z} + A) \cap \mathfrak{X} \neq \emptyset\}$$

By (1) of Proposition 3.2 of [16],

$$\underline{Apr}_{\mathfrak{A}}(\mathfrak{X}) \subseteq \mathfrak{X} \subseteq \overline{Apr}^{\mathfrak{A}}(\mathfrak{X})$$

Let $\mathfrak{x} \in \overline{Apr}^{\mathfrak{A}}(\mathfrak{X})$. Then, $\mathfrak{y} \in (\mathfrak{z} + \mathfrak{A}) \cap \mathfrak{X}$ for some $\mathfrak{y} \in Z$. Since $\mathfrak{y} = \mathfrak{z} + \mathfrak{a}$, for some $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{A}$ and $\mathfrak{y} \in \mathfrak{X}$. But \mathfrak{X} is a submodule of Z, hence $\mathfrak{y} = \mathfrak{z} + \mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{X}$. It follows that $\mathfrak{z} + \mathfrak{A} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}$. Thus

$\mathfrak{x} \in \underline{Apr}_{\mathfrak{A}}(\mathfrak{X}).$ Or

 $\mathfrak{y} \in (\mathfrak{z} + \mathfrak{A}) \cap \mathfrak{X}$ for some $\mathfrak{y} \in Z$ imply that $\mathfrak{y} \in \mathfrak{z} + \mathfrak{A}$ and $\mathfrak{y} \in \mathfrak{X}$. Hence, $\mathfrak{y} + \mathfrak{A} = \mathfrak{z} + \mathfrak{A}$ and \mathfrak{X} is a submodule of Z, thus $\mathfrak{y} + \mathfrak{A} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}$ proves that $\mathfrak{z} + \mathfrak{A} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}$. Thus $\mathfrak{z} \in \underline{Apr}_{\mathfrak{A}}(\mathfrak{X})$. \Box

Proposition 3.1.9. Let K be an ideal of L and W a submodule of Z. For any non-empty subsets X and Y of L and Z respectively, we have:

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(XY)}{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)} \subseteq \underline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y)}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)}.$$
$$(\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K})(\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}) \subseteq \underline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y)}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)}.$$

In addition, if X is an ideal of L or Y is a submodule of Z, then:

$$\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(XY)}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)} = \underline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y)}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)}$$

Proof. We will only prove the second containment, see Lemma 1.1.11(4). Suppose that $z \in (\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K})(\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W})$. Then, $z = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{a_i}{b_i} \cdot \frac{z_i}{d_i}$, where $\frac{a_i}{b_i} \in \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K}$ and $\frac{z_i}{d_i} \in \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$. By definition of the lower approximation, $[\frac{a_i}{b_i}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K}} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}$ and $[\frac{z_i}{d_i}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y}$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$. Then, $z \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)}$ such that:

$$\left[\frac{a_i}{b_i} \cdot \frac{z_i}{d_i}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)}} \subseteq \left[\frac{a_i}{b_i}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K}} \cdot \left[\frac{z_i}{d_i}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}} \subseteq (\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y), \text{ for all } i = 1, \dots, n, \text{ see Lemma 3.1.2.}$$

Since $(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y)$ is closed under addition, then Lemma 3.1.2(1) implies that:

$$\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{a_i}{b_i} \cdot \frac{z_i}{d_i}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)}} \subseteq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[\frac{a_i}{b_i} \cdot \frac{z_i}{d_i}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)}} \subseteq (\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y).$$

Hence, $z = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{a_i}{b_i} \cdot \frac{z_i}{d_i} \in (\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y)_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)}.$

Remark 3.1.10. In Proposition 3.6 of [16], only second inclusion hold of above result.

Example 3.1.11. (1) Let $L = \mathbb{Z}_6$, $K = \{\overline{0}, \overline{3}\}$ and $\mathcal{D} = \{\overline{1}, \overline{2}, \overline{4}\}$. Then

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}L = \{\overline{0}, \frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{2}}\} \text{ and } KL = K.$$

Also, $\mathcal{D}^{-1}K = \mathcal{D}^{-1}(KL) = (\mathcal{D}^{-1}K)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}L) = \{\overline{0}\}.$ Since $U(\mathcal{D}^{-1}L) = \{\overline{\frac{1}{1}}, \overline{\frac{1}{2}}\},$ then:

$$[\overline{0}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}} = [\overline{0}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K}} = \{\overline{0}\} and \ [\overline{\frac{1}{1}}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}} = [\overline{\frac{1}{2}}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}} = \{\overline{\frac{1}{1}}, \overline{\frac{1}{2}}\}.$$

If $X = \{\overline{2}\}$ and $Y = \{\overline{3}\}$, then $\mathcal{D}^{-1}X = \{\overline{\frac{1}{1}}, \overline{\frac{1}{2}}\}$, $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y = \{\overline{0}\}$, $XY = \mathcal{D}^{-1}(XY) = \{\overline{0}\}$ and $(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y) = \{\overline{0}\}$. This implies that:

$$\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K} = (\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K})(\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}) = \emptyset, \quad \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L} = \{\overline{0}\} \text{ and}$$
$$\underline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y)}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KL)} = \{\overline{0}\}.$$

This proves that $(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y)_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KL)}$ is not a subset of $(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K})(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L})$.

Proposition 3.1.12. With the same assumptions as in Proposition 3.1.9, the following inclusion hold:

$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(XY)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)} \subseteq \overline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)}$$

If we assume in addition that $X \subseteq K$, $Y \subseteq W$ and either X is an ideal of L or Y is a submodule of Z, then:

$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(XY)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)} = \overline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)} \subseteq (\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K})(\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W})$$

Proof. By Lemma 1.1.11, it follows that

$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(XY)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)} \subseteq \overline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)}.$$
(3.1.1)

Now, let $X \subseteq K$ and $Y \subseteq W$. Also, assume that either X is an ideal of L or Y is a submodule

of Z. Then,

$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(XY)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)} = \overline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)}, \text{ see Lemma 1.1.11}$$

To prove the other inclusion, suppose that $z \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(XY)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)}$. Then, there exists $y \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)$ such that $y \in [x]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)}} \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}(XY)$. Note that y can be written as $y = \sum_{i=1}^{n} [\frac{x_i}{d_i}][\frac{y_i}{w_i}]$ with $x_i \in X$ and $y_i \in Y$. Also, $x = \frac{a}{b}y$, for some $\frac{a}{b} \in U(\mathcal{D}^{-1}L)$. It follows that

$$z = \sum_{i=1}^{n} [\frac{a}{b} \frac{x_i}{d_i}] [\frac{y_i}{w_i}] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} [\frac{x_i}{d_i}] [\frac{a}{b} \frac{y_i}{w_i}] \in (\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y) \subseteq (\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K})(\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K})(\overline{\mathcal{D}^{$$

(see Remark 3.1.5). Hence, $\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(XY)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KW)} \subseteq (\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K})(\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W})$, see Equation (3.1.1).

The following Example shows that the inclusion in Proposition 3.1.12 is strict.

Example 3.1.13. Suppose that L, K, \mathcal{D} , X and Y are same as in Example 3.1.11. Since $X = \{\overline{2}\} \notin K = \{\overline{0}, \overline{3}\}$ and neither X is an ideal of L nor Y is submodule of Z. Thus

$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K} = (\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K})(\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}) = \emptyset.$$
$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L} = \{\overline{0}\} and \overline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KL)} = \{\overline{0}\}$$

Hence, it follows that:

$$\overline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(KL)} \nsubseteq (\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K})(\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}Y}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}).$$

The following result is same as the (11) and (12) of Proposition 3.2 of [16].

Proposition 3.1.14. Suppose that W is an submodule of Z. For $\emptyset \neq X_1, X_2 \subseteq Z$, the following conditions are true:

(1)
$$\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_1 \cup X_2)}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cup \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} \supseteq \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} \cup \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}$$

(2) $\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_1 \cup X_2)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cup \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} \cup \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}$

Proof. By Lemma's 1.1.11 and 3.1.6, the following results are true:

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_1 \cup X_2)}{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} = \frac{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cup \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} \supseteq \frac{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1}{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} \cup \frac{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} \text{ and}$$
$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_1 \cup X_2)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cup \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} \supseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} \cup \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}.$$

Now, we prove that $\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cup \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}$ is a subset of $\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} \cup \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}$. Consider the element $\frac{z}{d} \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cup \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}$. Then, $[\frac{z}{d}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}} \cap (\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cup \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2) \neq \emptyset$. It follows that:

$$\left(\left[\frac{z}{d}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}} \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{1}\right) \cup \left(\left[\frac{z}{d}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}} \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{2}\right) \neq \emptyset.$$

$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{1}}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} \cup \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{2}}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}.$$

Hence, $\frac{z}{d} \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} \cup \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}$

The following Example shows that $\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cup \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}$ is not a subset of $\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} \cup \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}$.

Example 3.1.15. Let $L = \mathbb{Z}_8$ and $\mathcal{D} = \{\overline{1}, \overline{3}\}$. Then, $\mathcal{D}^{-1}L = \{\overline{0}, \overline{\frac{1}{1}}, \overline{\frac{1}{3}}, \overline{\frac{2}{1}}, \overline{\frac{2}{3}}, \overline{\frac{4}{1}}, \overline{\frac{5}{1}}, \overline{\frac{5}{3}}\}$ and $U(\mathcal{D}^{-1}L) = \{\overline{\frac{1}{1}}, \overline{\frac{1}{3}}, \overline{\frac{5}{1}}, \overline{\frac{5}{3}}\}$. The equivalence classes with respect to $\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}$ are:

$$[\overline{0}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}} = \{\overline{0}\}, \quad [\frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}} = \{\frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{3}}\}, \quad [\frac{\overline{4}}{\overline{1}}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}} = \{\frac{\overline{4}}{\overline{1}}\} \text{ and } [\frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{3}}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}} = \{\frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{3}}, \frac{\overline{5}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{5}}{\overline{3}}\}$$

Take $X_1 = \{\overline{3}, \overline{4}\}$ and $X_2 = \{\overline{5}\}$, then $\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 = \{\frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{3}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{4}}{\overline{1}}\}, \ \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cup \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2 = \{\frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{3}}, \frac{\overline{4}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{5}}{\overline{3}}, \frac{\overline{5}}{\overline{3}}\}$ and $\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2 = \{\frac{\overline{5}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{5}}{\overline{3}}\}$. By Lemma 1.1.11, it can be obtained:

$$\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{1}}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L} = \{\overline{\frac{4}{1}}\}, \quad \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{2}}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L} = \emptyset \text{ and}$$
$$\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{1}}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{2}} = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_{1}\cup X_{2})}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L} = \{\overline{\frac{1}{1}}, \overline{\frac{1}{3}}, \overline{\frac{4}{1}}, \overline{\frac{5}{1}}, \overline{\frac{5}{3}}\}.$$

Therefore, $\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cup \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L} \not\subseteq \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L} \cup \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}.$

The following result provides the generalized form of (9) and (10) of Proposition 3.2, Corollary 3.1 and Proposition 3.12 of [16].

Proposition 3.1.16. With the previous notion, suppose that W_i , i = 1, 2 are submodules of Z. Then:

$$(1) \ \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_1 \cap X_2)}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 \cap W_2)} \subseteq \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 \cap W_2)} = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1} \cap \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2}.$$

$$(2) \ \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_1 \cap X_2)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 \cap W_2)} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 \cap W_2)} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1} \cap \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2}.$$

Proof. Note that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_1 \cap X_2) \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2 \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_i$, for all i = 1, 2 (see Lemma 1.1.11). By Lemma 3.1.6,

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_1 \cap X_2)}{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 \cap W_2)} \subseteq \frac{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 \cap W_2)} \subseteq \frac{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1}{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1} \cap \frac{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2}.$$
(3.1.2)
$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_1 \cap X_2)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 \cap W_2)} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 \cap W_2)} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1} \cap \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2}.$$

Now, suppose that $z \in \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1} \cap \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2}$. Then, $z \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1$ and $z \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2$ such that $[z]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1}} \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1$ and $[z]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2}} \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2$. By Lemma 3.1.2 and Corollary 1.1.12, it implies that:

$$z \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2 = \mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 \cap W_2) \text{ such that } [z]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 \cap W_2)}} \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2.$$

Consequently, we get $z \in \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 \cap W_2)}$. Form Equation (3.1.2), the following equality holds:

$$\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 \cap W_2)} = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1} \cap \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2}.$$

In general,
$$\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_1 \cap X_2)}_{\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 \cap W_2)}} \neq \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 \cap W_2)} \neq \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2)}_{\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 \cap W_2)}} \neq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2)}^{-1}$$
, and

Example 3.1.17. Consider L with \mathcal{D} of Example 3.1.11. Let $X_1 = \{\overline{0}, \overline{1}\}$ and $X_2 = \{\overline{0}, \overline{2}, \overline{3}, \overline{4}\}$. Then, $X_1 \cap X_2 = \{\overline{0}\}$. It implies that

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 = \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2 = \mathcal{D}^{-1}L.$$

This proves that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2 = \mathcal{D}^{-1}L$ and $\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_1 \cap X_2) = \{\overline{0}\}$. It can be easily deduced that:

$$\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L} = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L} = \mathcal{D}^{-1}L \text{ and}$$
$$\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_1 \cap X_2)}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L} = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_1 \cap X_2)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L} = \{\overline{0}\}.$$

It is important to note that the result 3.1.18 is a generalized form of the results 3.8, 3.9 and 3.13 of [16].

Proposition 3.1.18. With the same notion as in Proposition 3.1.16, the following statements hold:

(1) $\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_1 + X_2)}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 + W_2)} \subseteq \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 + W_2)}$. (2) $\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1} + \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2} \subseteq \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 + W_2)}$. (3) $\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_1 + X_2)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 + W_2)} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 + W_2)}$.

Proof. By Lemma's 1.1.11 and 3.1.6, (1) and (3) are obvious. We prove only (2). Assume that $z \in \underline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}X_{1}_{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}W_{1} + \underline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}X_{2}_{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}W_{2}$, then

$$z = \frac{w_1}{d_1} + \frac{w_2}{d_2}$$
, for some $\frac{w_1}{d_1} \in \underline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}X_{\underline{1}}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1}$ and $\frac{w_2}{d_2} \in \underline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}X_{\underline{2}}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2}$.

Note that $\frac{w_1}{d_1} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1$ such that $\left[\frac{w_1}{d_1}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1}} \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1$ and $\frac{w_2}{d_2} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2$ such that $\left[\frac{w_2}{d_2}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2}} \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2$. Consequently, $z = \frac{w_1}{d_1} + \frac{w_2}{d_2} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2$ such that $\left[\frac{w_1}{d_1}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1}} + \left[\frac{w_2}{d_2}\right]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2}} \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2$.

 $\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2$ (see Corollary 1.1.12). Using Lemma 3.1.2(1), we obtain:

$$[z]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2}} = [\frac{w_1}{d_1} + \frac{w_2}{d_2}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2}} \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2.$$

Hence, $z \in \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 + W_2)}$.

In the following Example, it is proved that the inclusions in Proposition 3.1.18 are strict. Also, $\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_1} + \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W_2} \notin \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(W_1 + W_2)}$.

Example 3.1.19. Suppose L and \mathcal{D} as used in Example 3.1.15. Assume that K = L and $K' = \{\overline{0}, \overline{4}\}$, then K + K' = K. Then:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}K' = \{\overline{0}, \frac{\overline{4}}{\overline{1}}\}, \quad \mathcal{D}^{-1}K = \mathcal{D}^{-1}L \text{ and } \mathcal{D}^{-1}K + \mathcal{D}^{-1}K' = \mathcal{D}^{-1}(K+K') = \mathcal{D}^{-1}K$$

Suppose that $X_1 = \{\overline{2}\}, X_2 = \{\overline{3}, \overline{4}\}, \text{ then } X_1 + X_2 = \{\overline{5}, \overline{6}\}.$ It implies that:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 = \{\overline{\frac{2}{\overline{1}}}, \overline{\frac{2}{\overline{3}}}\}, \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2 = \{\overline{\frac{1}{\overline{1}}}, \overline{\frac{1}{\overline{3}}}, \overline{\frac{1}{\overline{1}}}\}, \mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_1 + X_2) = \{\overline{\frac{2}{\overline{1}}}, \overline{\frac{2}{\overline{3}}}, \overline{\frac{5}{\overline{1}}}, \overline{\frac{5}{\overline{3}}}\} and$$
$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2 = \{\overline{\frac{1}{\overline{1}}}, \overline{\frac{2}{\overline{1}}}, \overline{\frac{2}{\overline{3}}}, \overline{\frac{1}{\overline{3}}}, \overline{\frac{5}{\overline{1}}}, \overline{\frac{5}{\overline{3}}}\}$$

By Definition 3.1.4, it can be seen that:

$$\begin{split} \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{2}}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K'} &= \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{2}}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K'} = \{\frac{\overline{4}}{\overline{1}}\}, \quad \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{1}}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K} = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{1}}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K} = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_{1}+X_{2})}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K} = \{\frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{3}}\} \\ \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_{1}+X_{2})}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K} &= \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{1} + \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{2}}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K} = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{1} + \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{2}}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K} = \{\frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{3}}, \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{3}}, \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{5}}, \frac{\overline{5}}{\overline{3}}\} \text{ and} \\ \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{1}}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K} + \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{2}}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K'} = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{1}}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K} + \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{2}}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K'} = \{\frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{3}}\}. \\ Hence, \quad \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_{1}+X_{2})}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K} \not\cong \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{1} + \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{2}}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K}, \quad \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{1} + \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{2}}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K} \not\subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{1}}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K} + \\ \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{2}}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K'} \text{ and } \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{1}}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K} + \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{2}}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K'} \not\cong \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{1} + \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_{2}}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}K'}. \end{split}$$

Now, if we take $X_1 = \{\overline{1}\}$ and continuing with same X_2 , then $\mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 = \{\overline{\frac{1}{1}}, \overline{\frac{1}{3}}\}, X_1 + X_2 = \{\overline{4}, \overline{5}\}$ and hence:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}(X_1 + X_2) = \{\overline{\frac{4}{1}}, \overline{\frac{5}{1}}, \overline{\frac{5}{3}}\} and \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}X_2 = \{\overline{\frac{2}{1}}, \overline{\frac{2}{3}}, \overline{\frac{4}{1}}, \overline{\frac{5}{1}}, \overline{\frac{5}{3}}\}$$

It follows us that:

$$\overline{D^{-1}(X_1+X_2)}^{D^{-1}K} = \{\overline{\frac{1}{1}}, \overline{\frac{1}{3}}, \overline{\frac{4}{1}}, \overline{\frac{5}{1}}, \overline{\frac{5}{3}}\} \text{ and } \overline{D^{-1}X_1 + D^{-1}X_2}^{D^{-1}K} = \{\overline{\frac{1}{1}}, \overline{\frac{1}{3}}, \overline{\frac{2}{1}}, \overline{\frac{2}{3}}, \overline{\frac{4}{1}}, \overline{\frac{5}{1}}, \overline{\frac{5}{3}}\}$$

Therefore, $\overline{D^{-1}(X_1+X_2)}^{D^{-1}K} \not\supseteq \overline{D^{-1}X_1 + D^{-1}X_2}^{D^{-1}K}.$

3.2 Lower and upper approximations via $S^{-1}R$ -linear maps

In this section, we assume that $\varphi: Z \longrightarrow Z'$ is a module homomorphism. By Lemma 1.1.9, the induced map $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi: \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z \longrightarrow \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z'$; $\frac{z}{d} \mapsto \frac{\varphi(z)}{d}$ is also a module homomorphism. If W and W' are submodules of Z and Z' respectively. Then, it is well-known that $\varphi(W)$ and $\varphi^{-1}(W')$ are submodules of Z' and Z respectively.

Lemma 3.2.1. With the same notion followed and $\frac{z}{d} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W$, the following statement is true:

$$\frac{z'}{d'} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}} \Longrightarrow \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z'}{d'}) \in [\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d})]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W)}}.$$

In addition, if $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi$ is one-one then the converse is also true.

Proof. The following implication can be proved in view of linear property of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi$:

$$\frac{z'}{d'} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W}} \Longrightarrow \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z'}{d'}) \in [\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d})]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W)}}$$

Conversely, assume that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi$ is one-one and $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z'}{d'}) \in [\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d})]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W)}}$. By Definition

of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi$, it implies that:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) = \frac{\varphi(z)}{d} = \frac{l}{m} \cdot \frac{\varphi(z')}{d'} = \frac{\varphi(l \cdot z')}{md'} = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{l \cdot z'}{md'}), \text{ for some } \frac{l}{m} \in U(\mathcal{D}^{-1}L).$$

Since $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi$ is injective, it follows that $\frac{z}{d} = \frac{l}{m} \cdot \frac{z'}{d'}$. This proves the required result.

The following Example shows that the converse of Lemma 3.2.1 is not true, if $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi$ is not one-one.

Example 3.2.2. Let us consider $L = \mathbb{Z}_4$. Define $\varphi : L \longrightarrow L$ as follows:

$$\varphi(x) = \begin{cases} \overline{0}, & \text{if } x = \overline{0}, \ \overline{2} \\ \overline{2}, & \text{if } x = \overline{1}, \ \overline{3} \end{cases}$$

Then, φ is a module homomorphism. Take $\mathcal{D} = \{\overline{1}, \overline{3}\}$, then $\mathcal{D}^{-1}L = \{\overline{0}, \frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{3}}{\overline{1}}\}$. By Definition of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi$, we obtain:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{l}{m}) = \begin{cases} \overline{0}, & \text{if } \frac{l}{m} = \overline{0}, \ \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}} \\\\ \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}}, & \text{if } \frac{l}{m} = \frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{1}}, \ \frac{\overline{3}}{\overline{1}} \end{cases}$$

Since, $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}L) = \{\overline{0}, \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}}\}$. By Example 3.1.3, it follows that:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\overline{0}) \in [\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\overline{\overline{1}})]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}L)}} \text{ and } \overline{0} \notin [\overline{\overline{1}}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}L}}.$$

Example 3.2.3. Since there exists a one-one ring homomorphism $\varphi : \mathbb{Z}_5 \to \mathbb{Z}_{10}; \overline{x} \mapsto \widehat{6x}$. Then \mathbb{Z}_{10} becomes a \mathbb{Z}_5 -module under the scalar multiplication defined as follows:

$$\overline{l}.\widehat{z} = \varphi(\overline{l}).\widehat{z} = \widehat{6lz}, \text{ for all } \overline{l} \in \mathbb{Z}_5 \text{ and } \widehat{z} \in \mathbb{Z}_{10}.$$

Assume that $\mathcal{D} = \{\overline{1}, \overline{2}, \overline{3}, \overline{4}\}$. Let $U = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_5 = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5\}$ and $U' = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{10} = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{10}$

 $\{u_1, u_2, u_3, u_4, u_5\}$ be two universal sets of stores, where

$$v_1 = \overline{0}, v_2 = \frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{1}}, v_3 = \frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{2}}, v_4 = \frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{3}}, v_5 = \frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{4}} and u_1 = \widehat{0}, u_2 = \frac{\widehat{1}}{\overline{1}}, u_3 = \frac{\widehat{1}}{\overline{2}}, u_4 = \frac{\widehat{1}}{\overline{3}}, u_5 = \frac{\widehat{1}}{\overline{4}}$$

Suppose that $a, b \in U$ (resp. $a', b' \in U'$) have the same value of attributes, if $(a, b) \in \theta_U$ (resp. $(a', b') \in \theta_{U'}$). Let $A = \{\mathfrak{E}, \mathfrak{Q}, \mathfrak{L}, \mathfrak{P}\}$ be the subset of attributes, where $\mathfrak{E}=$ Empowerment of sales personnel, $\mathfrak{Q}=$ Perceived quality of merchandisers, $\mathfrak{L}=$ High traffic location, $\mathfrak{P}=$ Store profit or loss. Consider the following information system (U', A):

$Table \ 1$

	E	Q	£	Ŗ
u_1	med.	good	yes	loss
u_2	high	good	no	profit
u_3	high	good	no	profit
u_4	high	good	no	profit
u_5	high	good	no	profit

Information System (U', A)

Since, $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi$ is one-one. By Lemma 3.2.1, the following information system (U, A) can be

deduced from Table 1:

Table 2

Information System (U, A)

	E	Q	£	Ŗ
v_1	med.	good	yes	loss
v_2	high	good	no	profit
v_3	high	good	no	profit
v_4	high	good	no	profit
v_5	high	good	no	profit

Theorem 3.2.4. With the above notion, suppose that $X \subseteq Z$ and $X' \subseteq Z'$. Then the following implications are true:

$$\frac{z}{d} \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}^{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W')} \Longrightarrow \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'}$$
$$\frac{z}{d} \in \overline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X')}^{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W')} \Longrightarrow \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X'}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'}$$

Proof. Let $\frac{z}{d} \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}^V$, where $V = (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W')$. Then, $\frac{z}{d} \in V$ such that $[\frac{z}{d}]_{\theta_V} \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X \neq \emptyset$. There exists $\frac{z'}{d'} \in V$ such that $\frac{z'}{d'} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\theta_V}$ and $\frac{z'}{d'} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}X$. By Lemma 3.2.1, $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z'}{d'}) \in [\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d})]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(V)}}$ and $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z'}{d'}) \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)$. Since, $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W'$. By Lemma 3.1.2(4), it follows that:

$$[\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d})]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(V)}} = [\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d})]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'}} \text{ and } \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z'}{d'}) \in [\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d})]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'}} \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X).$$

Hence, $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'}$. This proves the first implication. The second implication can be proved on the same lines.

In Theorem 3.2.5, the converse of above result is proved.

Theorem 3.2.5. With the same assumptions as in Theorem 3.2.4, we have:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X'}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'} \Longrightarrow \frac{z}{d} \in \overline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X')}^{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W')}$$

In addition, if $\mathcal{D}^{-1}X$ is an additive subgroup of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ with $Ker(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi) \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}X$, then

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'} \Longrightarrow \frac{z}{d} \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}^{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W')}$$

Proof. Let $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X'}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'}$. By definition of the upper approximation $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W'$ such that $[\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d})]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'}} \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X' \neq \emptyset$. It implies that $\frac{n}{t} \in [\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d})]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'}}$ and $\frac{n}{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}X'$, for some $\frac{n}{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W'$. Then,

$$\frac{n}{t} = \frac{l}{m} \mathcal{D}^{-1} \varphi(\frac{z}{d}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1} \varphi(\frac{lz}{md}), \text{ for some } \frac{l}{m} \in U(\mathcal{D}^{-1}L).$$

Hence, $\frac{lz}{md} \in (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X')$. Note that $\frac{z}{d} \in V$ and $\frac{lz}{md} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\theta_V}$, where $V = (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W')$. Thus, $\frac{lz}{md} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\theta_V} \cap (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X')$. This proves the first implication.

Now, assume that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}X$ is an additive subgroup of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ with $Ker(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi) \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}X$ and $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'}$, then $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W'$ such that $[\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d})]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'}} \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X) \neq \emptyset$. There exists $\frac{n}{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W'$ such that $\frac{n}{t} \in [\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d})]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'}}$ and $\frac{n}{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)$. So,

$$\frac{n}{t} = \frac{l}{m} \mathcal{D}^{-1} \varphi(\frac{z}{d}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1} \varphi(\frac{lz}{md}), \text{ for some } \frac{l}{m} \in U(\mathcal{D}^{-1}L).$$

Assume that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{lz}{md}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{x}{t})$, for some $\frac{x}{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}X$. It implies that $\frac{lz}{md} - \frac{x}{t} \in Ker(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi) \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}X$. By the assumption on $\mathcal{D}^{-1}X$, we have $\frac{lz}{md} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\theta_V} \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}X$. Hence, $\frac{z}{d} \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}^V$.

An illustration of the second implication in Theorem 3.2.5 is made in following Example.

Example 3.2.6. Let $L = Z = \mathbb{Z}_{24}$, $Z' = \mathbb{Z}_{10}$. Define a map $\varphi : \mathbb{Z}_{24} \to \mathbb{Z}_{10}$; $\overline{l} \mapsto \widehat{5l}$, *i.e.*,

$$\varphi(\overline{l}) = \begin{cases} \widehat{0}, & \text{if } \overline{l} = \overline{0}, \overline{2}, \overline{4}, \overline{6}, ..., \overline{22} \\ \widehat{5}, & \text{if } \overline{l} = \overline{1}, \overline{3}, \overline{5}, \overline{7}, ..., \overline{23} \end{cases}$$

Then φ is a ring homomorphism. Hence, \mathbb{Z}_{10} is a \mathbb{Z}_{24} -module over the scalar multiplication defined as:

$$\overline{l}.\widehat{z} = \varphi(\overline{l}).\widehat{z} = \widehat{5lz}$$

for all $\overline{l} \in \mathbb{Z}_{24}, \widehat{z} \in \mathbb{Z}_{10}$. For $\mathcal{D} = \{\overline{1}, \overline{9}\}$, we have:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{24} = \{\overline{0}, \frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{3}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{4}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{5}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{6}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{7}}{\overline{1}}\} and \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{10} = \{\widehat{0}, \frac{\widehat{1}}{\overline{1}}\}$$

By Lemma 1.1.9, the map $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi: \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{24} \to \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{10}$ is defined as follows:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) = \begin{cases} \widehat{0}, & \text{if } \frac{z}{d} = \overline{0}, \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{4}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{6}}{\overline{1}} \\\\ \frac{\widehat{1}}{\overline{1}}, & \text{if } \frac{z}{d} = \frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{3}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{5}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{7}}{\overline{1}} \end{cases}$$

for all $\frac{z}{d} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{24}$. Let $W' = \{\widehat{0}, \widehat{2}, \widehat{4}, \widehat{8}\}$, then $\mathcal{D}^{-1}W' = \{\widehat{0}\}$ and $(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W') = \{\overline{0}, \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{4}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{6}}{\overline{1}}\} = V$ (say). Since $U(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{24}) = \{\frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{3}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{5}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{7}}{\overline{1}}\}$. Then,

$$[\widehat{0}]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'}} = \{\widehat{0}\}, [\overline{0}]_{\theta_{V}} = \{\overline{0}\}, [\frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}}]_{\theta_{V}} = [\frac{\overline{6}}{\overline{1}}]_{\theta_{V}} = \{\frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{6}}{\overline{1}}\} and [\frac{\overline{4}}{\overline{1}}]_{\theta_{V}} = \{\frac{\overline{4}}{\overline{1}}\}$$

Assume that $X = \{\overline{1}, \overline{2}, \overline{3}\}$, then $\mathcal{D}^{-1}X = \{\overline{\frac{1}{1}}, \overline{\frac{2}{1}}, \overline{\frac{3}{1}}\}$ and $(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X) = \{\widehat{0}, \overline{\frac{1}{1}}\}$. Hence:

$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}^V = \{\overline{\frac{2}{\overline{1}}}, \overline{\frac{6}{\overline{1}}}\} \text{ and } \overline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'} = \{\widehat{0}\}$$

Note that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\overline{0}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{\overline{4}}{\overline{1}}) = \widehat{0} \in \overline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'}$ and $\overline{0}, \frac{\overline{4}}{\overline{1}} \notin \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}^V.$

Theorem 3.2.7. Suppose that $\emptyset \neq X' \subseteq Z'$ and W' is a submodule of Z'. Then the following

claims are true:

$$\frac{z}{d} \in \underline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X')}_{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W')} \Longrightarrow \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X'}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'}.$$
$$\frac{z}{d} \in \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}_{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W')} \Longrightarrow \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'}.$$

Proof. Let $V = (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W')$ and $\frac{z}{d} \in V$. Note that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W'$. If $\frac{n}{t}$ is an arbitrary element of $[\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d})]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'}}$. Then there exists $\frac{l}{m} \in U(\mathcal{D}^{-1}L)$ such that

$$\frac{n}{t} = \frac{l}{m} \cdot \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{lz}{md}).$$
(3.2.1)

Firstly, suppose that $\frac{z}{d} \in (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X')_V$. Since, $\frac{lz}{md} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\theta_V} \subseteq (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X')$. It follows that $\frac{n}{t} = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{lz}{md}) \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}X'$ (see Equation 3.2.1). Thus, $[\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d})]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'}} \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}X'$. The proof of the other claim is on the similar lines.

In the next result, the converse of Theorem 3.2.7 is proved.

Theorem 3.2.8. With the previous notion, the following statement holds:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X'}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'} \Longrightarrow \frac{z}{d} \in \underline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X')}_{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W')}$$

In addition, if $\mathcal{D}^{-1}X$ is an additive subgroup of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ with $Ker(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi) \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}X$, then:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'} \Longrightarrow \frac{z}{d} \in \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}_{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W')}$$

Proof. Let $V = (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W')$ and $\frac{z}{d} \in V$. Suppose that $\frac{z'}{d'} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\theta_V}$ is an arbitrary element. From Lemma 3.2.1, it follows that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z'}{d'}) \in [\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d})]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(V)}}$. Since, $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W' \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(V)$. It implies that

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z'}{d'}) \in [\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d})]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(V)}} = [\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d})]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W'}}, \text{ see Lemma 3.1.2.}$$
(3.2.2)

Now, assume that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \underline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}X'_{\mathcal{D}}$. By Definition of the lower approximation, $[\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d})]_{\theta_{\mathcal{D}}}$ is a subset of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}X'$. By Equation (3.2.2), it follows that $\frac{z'}{d'} \in (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X')$. This proves that

$$[\frac{z}{d}]_{\theta_V} \subseteq (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X') \text{ and } \frac{z}{d} \in \underline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X')}_V.$$

The second implication can be proved using same methodology as used in proof of Theorem 3.2.5.

Theorem 3.2.9. Let $\emptyset \neq X \subseteq Z$ and $\emptyset \neq X' \subseteq Z'$. If W is a submodule of Z and $\frac{z}{d} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}W$, then following statements hold:

$$\frac{z}{d} \in \overline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X')}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} \iff \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X'}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W)}$$
$$\frac{z}{d} \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} \Longrightarrow \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)}^{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W)}$$

Further, if $\mathcal{D}^{-1}X$ is an additive subgroup of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ with $Ker(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi) \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}X$. Then, the converse of second statement can also be proved.

Proof. This proof is analogous to the proof of Theorems 3.2.4 and 3.2.5. \Box

Theorem 3.2.10. With the same notion as in Theorem 3.2.9, the following assertions hold:

$$\frac{z}{d} \in \underline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi)^{-1}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X')}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} \iff \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X'}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W)}$$
$$\frac{z}{d} \in \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}X}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}W} \Longrightarrow \mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d}) \in \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}X)}_{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\mathcal{D}^{-1}W)}$$

Moreover, if $\mathcal{D}^{-1}X$ is an additive subgroup of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ with $Ker(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi) \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}X$. Then, the converse of second assertion hold.

Proof. This proof is parallel to the proof of Theorems 3.2.7 and 3.2.8. \Box

Chapter 4

Fuzzy modules of fractions and roughness

This chapter consists of 3 sections. In section 1, we define the notion of soft modules of fractions. In section 2, we introduce a new notion of fuzzy modules of fractions and some related results. Finally, section 3 is devoted to the study of roughness in fuzzy modules of fractions in view of multi-granulation roughness by utilizing the concept of soft modules of fractions. All the time in this chapter, we assume that L is a commutative ring with a multiplicative identity 1_L , \mathcal{D} is a MCS in L, an $\mathcal{D}^{-1}L$ -module $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ as a universal set with additive identity $\frac{\theta}{s}$, where θ is an additive identity of Z and E as a finite set of parameters. This chapter is taken from paper [9].

4.1 Soft modules of fractions

In this section, we define the notion of soft modules of fractions and study some related results.

Definition 4.1.1. A soft set (ξ, Λ) over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ is called a soft module of fractions, if $\xi(r)$ is a submodule of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ for each $r \in \Lambda$, where $\Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{E}$. **Proposition 4.1.2.** Let (ξ_1, Λ_1) and (ξ_2, Λ_2) be two soft modules of fractions over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. Then, their restricted intersection (ζ, Λ_3) is also a soft module of fractions over $D^{-1}Z$, where $(\zeta, \Lambda_3) = (\xi_1, \Lambda_1) \cap (\xi_2, \Lambda_2)$ and $\Lambda_3 = \Lambda_1 \cap \Lambda_2 \neq \emptyset$ (see Definition 3.3 of [2]).

Proof. Since $\xi_1(r)$ and $\xi_2(r)$ are submodules of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ for each $r \in \Lambda_3$. By Definition 3.3 of [2], $\zeta(r) = \xi_1(r) \cap \xi_2(r)$ is a submodule of $D^{-1}Z$ for all $r \in \Lambda_3$ (see Page 19 of [5]). Thus (ζ, Λ_3) is also a soft module of fractions over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$.

Definition 4.1.3. Let (ξ_1, Λ_1) and (ξ_2, Λ_2) be two soft modules of fractions over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. The sum of (ξ_1, Λ_1) and (ξ_2, Λ_2) is denoted by $(\zeta, \Lambda_3) = (\xi_1, \Lambda_1) + (\xi_2, \Lambda_2)$, where $\Lambda_3 = \Lambda_1 \times \Lambda_2$, and is defined by $\zeta(r) = \xi_1(r_1) + \xi_2(r_2)$ for all $r \in \Lambda_3$, where $r = (r_1, r_2)$.

Proposition 4.1.4. Let (ξ_1, Λ_1) and (ξ_2, Λ_2) be two soft modules of fractions over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. Then, their sum $(\zeta, \Lambda_3) = (\xi_1, \Lambda_1) + (\xi_2, \Lambda_2)$, where $\Lambda_3 = \Lambda_1 \times \Lambda_2$ is also a soft module of fractions over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$.

Proof. Since $\xi_1(r_1)$ and $\xi_2(r_2)$ are submodules of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ for all $r_1 \in \Lambda_1$, $r_2 \in \Lambda_2$. Since the sum of two submodules is again a submodule, therefore $\zeta(r) = \xi_1(r_1) + \xi_2(r_2)$ is a submodule of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ for all $r = (r_1, r_2) \in \Lambda_3$ (see Page 19 of [5]). Hence, (ζ, Λ_3) where $\Lambda_3 = \Lambda_1 \times \Lambda_2$ is also a soft module of fractions over $D^{-1}Z$.

Definition 4.1.5. Let (ξ, Λ_1) be a soft ideal of fractions over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}L$ and (η, Λ_2) be a soft module of fractions over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. The soft product of (ξ, Λ_1) and (η, Λ_2) is denoted by $(\delta, \Lambda_3) =$ $(\xi, \Lambda_1) \times (\eta, \Lambda_2)$, where $\Lambda_3 = \Lambda_1 \times \Lambda_2$, and is defined by $\delta(r) = \xi(r_1).\eta(r_2)$ for all $r \in \Lambda_3$, where $r = (r_1, r_2)$.

Proposition 4.1.6. If (ξ, Λ_1) is a soft ideal of fractions over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}L$ and (η, Λ_2) is a soft module of fractions over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. Then, their soft product (δ, Λ_3) is also a soft module of fractions over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$.

Proof. Since $\xi(r_1)$ is an ideal of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}L$ and $\eta(r_2)$ is a submodule of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$, for all $r_1 \in \Lambda_1$, $r_2 \in \Lambda_2$. Since the product of an ideal with a submodule is a submodule (see Page 19 of [5]).

Therefore, $\delta(r) = \xi(r_1).\eta(r_2)$ is also a submodule of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ for all $r = (r_1, r_2) \in \Lambda_3$. Hence, (δ, Λ_3) is also a soft module over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$.

4.2 Fuzzy modules of fractions

In this section, we introduce an important notion of fuzzy modules of fractions, and investigate some fundamental results. Moreover, some isomorphisms are established via fuzzy homomorphisms.

Definition 4.2.1. Let μ be a fuzzy submodule of Z. Define a fuzzy set $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu : \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z \to [0,1]$ as follows:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{z}{d}) = \vee \{\mu(nt) : \frac{n}{t} = \frac{z}{d}, \text{ where } \frac{n}{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z\}$$

for all $\frac{z}{d} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. We denote the set of all fuzzy sets of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ by $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z)$ and fuzzy submodules of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ by $\mathcal{FS}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z)$.

Theorem 4.2.2. Let μ be a fuzzy submodule of Z. Then, $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z)$ is a fuzzy module of fractions of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$.

Proof. First, we shall show that the map given in Definition 4.2.1 is well-defined. Let $\frac{m}{s}, \frac{n}{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ be such that $\frac{m}{s} = \frac{n}{t}$. We claim that

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{m}{s}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{n}{t}).$$
(4.2.1)

Suppose that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{m}{s}) = \mu(au)$ for some $\frac{a}{u} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ such that $\frac{a}{u} = \frac{m}{s}$. By our assumption, we have $\frac{a}{u} = \frac{n}{t}$. Thus

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{n}{t}) = \bigvee \{\mu(xw) : \frac{x}{w} = \frac{n}{t}\}$$
$$\geq \mu(au)$$
$$= \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{m}{s}).$$

This proves that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{n}{t}) \geq \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{m}{s})$. Similarly, it can be proved that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{n}{t}) \leq \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{m}{s})$. Thus, our claim in Equation 4.2.1 is true. Now, it is remaining to prove that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu$ is a fuzzy submodule of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. For this, we have to show that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu$ fulfills the conditions in Definition 4.1.8 of [31]. Using the Definition 4.2.1 of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu$, we have:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{\theta}{s}) = \bigvee \{\mu(nt) : \frac{n}{t} = \frac{\theta}{s} \}$$
$$= \bigvee \{\mu(nt) : nsu = \theta \text{ for some } u \in \mathcal{D} \}$$
$$= 1.$$

Let $\frac{z_1}{d_1}, \frac{z_2}{d_2} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. Assume that

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{z_1}{d_1}) = \mu(a_1b_1), \quad D^{-1}\mu(\frac{z_2}{d_2}) = \mu(a_2b_2) \text{ such that } \frac{z_1}{d_1} = \frac{a_1}{b_1}, \quad \frac{z_2}{d_2} = \frac{a_2}{b_2}.$$
(4.2.2)

Then $\frac{z_1}{d_1} + \frac{z_2}{d_2} = \frac{a_1}{b_1} + \frac{a_2}{b_2}$, that is, $\frac{z_1d_2 + z_2d_1}{d_1d_2} = \frac{a_1b_2 + a_2b_1}{b_1b_2}$. From Definition 4.2.1, it follows that:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{z_1}{d_1} + \frac{z_2}{d_2}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{z_1d_2 + z_2d_1}{d_1d_2})$$

$$= \vee\{\mu(xw) : \frac{x}{w} = \frac{z_1d_2 + z_2d_1}{d_1d_2}, \frac{x}{w} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z\}$$

$$\geq \mu((a_1b_2 + a_2b_1)b_1b_2)$$

$$= \mu(a_1b_1b_2^2 + a_2b_1^2b_2)$$

$$\geq \mu(a_1b_1b_2^2) \wedge \mu(a_2b_1^2b_2)$$

$$\geq \mu(a_1b_1) \wedge \mu(a_2b_2)$$

$$= \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{z_1}{d_1}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{z_2}{d_2}),$$

(see Equation 4.2.2). Furthermore, let $\frac{l}{m} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}L$, then

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{l}{m},\frac{z_1}{d_1}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{lz_1}{md_1}) = \vee\{\mu(xz): \frac{x}{z} = \frac{lz_1}{md_1}\} \ge \mu(a_1b_1) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{z_1}{d_1}),$$

(Using Equation 4.2.2.) Hence, $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu$ is a fuzzy submodule of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. Thus $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z)$ is a fuzzy module of fractions.

Lemma 4.2.3. Let $\mu_1, \mu_2 \in \mathcal{F}(Z)$ be such that $\mu_1 \subseteq \mu_2$. Then, $D^{-1}\mu_1 \subseteq D^{-1}\mu_2$.

Proof. The proof is straightforward in view of Definition 4.2.1.

Theorem 4.2.4. Let μ_1 and μ_2 be two fuzzy submodules of L-modules Z_1 and Z_2 respectively. Suppose that $\tilde{\varphi} : \mu_1 \to \mu_2$ is a fuzzy L-module homomorphism. Then, there is a fuzzy $\mathcal{D}^{-1}L$ -module homomorphism

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi}: \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 \to \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2.$$

Proof. It is well-known that if $\varphi : Z_1 \to Z_2$ is an L-module homomorphism, then there is an $\mathcal{D}^{-1}L$ -module homomorphism $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi : \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z_1 \to \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z_2$ defined by $\frac{z}{d} \mapsto \frac{\varphi(z)}{d}$ (see Page 38 of [5]). Let $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1(\frac{z}{d}) = \mu_1(nt)$ be such that $\frac{n}{t} = \frac{z}{d}$. Then, $\frac{\varphi(z)}{d} = \frac{\varphi(n)}{t}$. Hence,

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{z}{d})) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2(\frac{\varphi(z)}{d})$$
$$= \lor \{\mu_2(au) : \frac{a}{u} = \frac{\varphi(z)}{d}\}$$
$$\ge \mu_2(\varphi(n)t) = \mu_2(\varphi(nt))$$
$$\ge \mu_1(nt)$$
$$= \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1(\frac{z}{d}),$$

since $\tilde{\varphi}$ is a fuzzy *L*-module homomorphism (see Definition 1.1 of [33]). Thus, $\widetilde{D^{-1}\varphi}$: $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 \to \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2$ is a fuzzy $\mathcal{D}^{-1}L$ -module homomorphism. This completes the proof. \Box

Theorem 4.2.5. Let $\mu \in \mathcal{F}(L)$ and $\nu \in \mathcal{F}(Z)$. Then,

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu.\nu) = (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu).(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu).$$

Proof. Let $\frac{z}{d} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ be such that

$$((\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu).(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu))(\frac{z}{d}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{x_1}{t_1}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{x_2}{t_2}) = \mu(a_1b_1) \wedge \nu(a_2b_2).$$
(4.2.3)

where $\frac{a_1}{b_1}, \frac{x_1}{t_1} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}L, \frac{a_2}{b_2}, \frac{x_2}{t_2} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ such that $\frac{x_1}{t_1}, \frac{x_2}{t_2} = \frac{z}{d}$ and $\frac{a_1}{b_1} = \frac{x_1}{t_1}, \frac{a_2}{b_2} = \frac{x_2}{t_2}$. From Definition 4.2.1 and Definition 4.1.6 of [31], we have:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu.\nu)(\frac{z}{d}) &= \vee \{(\mu.\nu)(nt) : \frac{n}{t} = \frac{z}{d} \} \\ &= \vee \vee \{\mu(a) \wedge \nu(b) : a \in L, b \in Z, ab = nt, \frac{n}{t} = \frac{z}{d} \} \\ &\geq \vee \{\mu(a) \wedge \nu(b) : \frac{ab}{t^2} = \frac{a}{t} \cdot \frac{b}{t} = \frac{n}{t} = \frac{z}{d} \} \\ &\geq \mu(a_1b_1) \wedge \nu(a_2b_2) \\ &= \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{x_1}{t_1}) \wedge D^{-1}\nu(\frac{x_2}{t_2}) \\ &= ((\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu).(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu))(\frac{z}{d}), \end{aligned}$$

(see Equation 4.2.3). Thus $(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu).(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu) \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu.\nu)$. Similarly, the reverse containment can be proved. This completes the proof.

Theorem 4.2.6. Let $\mu_1, \mu_2 \in \mathcal{F}(Z)$ and $\nu \in \mathcal{F}(Z')$. Then:

- (i) $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2 \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu_1 + \mu_2).$
- (*ii*) $\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu_1 \cap \mu_2) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2.$
- (iii) There is a fuzzy $\mathcal{D}^{-1}L$ -module isomorphism

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu_1 \oplus \nu) \to \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 \oplus \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu.$$

Proof. (i) It follows from Lemma 4.2.3 and Proposition 2.1.7 of [31].

(*ii*) It is clear that $\mu_1 \cap \mu_2 \subseteq \mu_i$ for all i = 1, 2. It follows from Lemma 4.2.3 that

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu_1 \cap \mu_2) \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2$$

Conversely, assume that $\frac{z}{d} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ and $(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2)(\frac{z}{d}) = \mu_1(x_1t_1) \wedge \mu_2(x_2t_2)$ such that $\frac{z}{d} = \frac{x_1}{t_1} = \frac{x_2}{t_2}$. Then:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu_1 \cap \mu_2)(\frac{z}{d}) = \vee \{(\mu_1 \cap \mu_2)(\frac{x}{t}) : \frac{x}{t} = \frac{z}{d}\}$$

$$\geq \mu_1(x_1t_1) \wedge \mu_2(x_2t_2)$$

$$= (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2)(\frac{z}{d}).$$

(iii) By Proposition 42 (5) of [5], we only need to show that

$$(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 \oplus \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{(z,n)}{d})) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu_1 \oplus \nu)(\frac{(z,n)}{d}), \qquad (4.2.4)$$

for all $\frac{(z,n)}{d} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}(Z \oplus Z')$. Assume that

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu_1 \oplus \nu)(\frac{(z,n)}{d}) = (\mu_1 \oplus \nu)((x,y)w) = \mu_1(xw) \wedge \nu(yw), \tag{4.2.5}$$

where $\frac{(z,n)}{d}, \frac{(x,y)}{w} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}(Z \oplus Z')$ such that $\frac{(x,y)}{w} = \frac{(z,n)}{d}$. By Definition 1.1.12 of [31] and

Definition 4.2.1, we have:

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 \oplus \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{(z,n)}{d})) &= (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 \oplus \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)(\frac{z}{d},\frac{n}{d}) \\ &= \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1(\frac{z}{d}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{n}{d}) \\ &= \vee\{\mu_1(at_1) \wedge \nu(bt_2) : \frac{a}{t_1} = \frac{z}{d}, \frac{b}{t_2} = \frac{n}{d}\} \\ &\geq \mu_1(xw) \wedge \nu(yw) \\ &= (\mu_1 \oplus \nu)((x,y)w) \\ &= \mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu_1 \oplus \nu)(\frac{(z,n)}{d}), \end{aligned}$$

(see Equation 4.2.5). Hence, $(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 \oplus \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\varphi(\frac{(z,n)}{d})) \geq \mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu_1 \oplus \nu)(\frac{(z,n)}{d})$ for all $\frac{(z,n)}{d} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}(Z \oplus Z')$. Similarly, the reverse containment can be proved. Hence, our claim 4.2.4 is true. This completes the proof.

4.3 The lower and upper approximations in fuzzy modules of fractions

In this last section, we have introduced the notion of fuzzy modules of fractions. Since a soft module of fractions is a parameterized family of submodules of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ (see Definition 4.1.1). Using this concept, we approximate a fuzzy set in modules of fractions in the sense of multi-granulation rough sets and hence obtain a new hybrid model, namely multi-granulation soft rough fuzzy sets (MGSR-fuzzy sets) in modules of fractions. In this way, we obtain a pair of fuzzy sets in modules of fractions, viz. fuzzy lower approximation space and fuzzy upper approximation space based on submodules of the parameterized family of modules of fractions.

Definition 4.3.1. Let $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z)$ and (ξ, Λ) be a soft module of fractions over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$, where $\Lambda = \{e_1, e_2\} \subseteq \mathbb{E}$. Then, the approximation space $(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z, \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu, \xi, \Lambda)$ is called a multigranulation soft rough fuzzy approximation space in $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. Define the fuzzy lower approximation space $\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{(\xi,\Lambda)}$ and the fuzzy upper approximation space $\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}$ for $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z)$ as follows:

$$\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\frac{z}{d}) = \wedge \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{x}{y}) : \frac{x}{y} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\xi(e_i)}, \text{ where } e_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2\} \text{ and}$$
$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\frac{z}{d}) = \vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{x}{y}) : \frac{x}{y} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\xi(e_i)}, \text{ where } e_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2\},$$

for all $\frac{z}{d} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$, where $[\frac{z}{d}]_{\xi(e_i)} = \frac{z}{d} + \xi(e_i)$ denotes the cosets of $\xi(e_i)$ for each $e_i \in \Lambda$ in $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. It is clear that these $\underline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}\mu_{(\xi,\Lambda)}$ and $\overline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}\mu^{(\xi,\Lambda)}$ are fuzzy sets of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$.

Theorem 4.3.2. Let (ξ, Λ) be a soft module of fractions over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. Suppose that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \in \mathcal{FS}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z)$. Then,

$$(1) \ \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{(\xi,\Lambda)} = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{\xi(e_1)} \cap \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{\xi(e_2)}.$$

$$(2) \ \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)} = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{\xi(e_1)} \cap \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{\xi(e_2)}.$$

$$(3) \ \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{(\xi,\Lambda)} \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}.$$

$$(4) \ (\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu})^c_{(\xi,\Lambda)} = (\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)})^c.$$

$$(5) \ \overline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu)^c}^{(\xi,\Lambda)} = (\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{(\xi,\Lambda)})^c.$$

$$(6) \ \underline{\hat{0}}_{(\xi,\Lambda)} = \overline{\hat{0}}^{(\xi,\Lambda)} = \hat{0}.$$

$$(7) \ \underline{\hat{1}}_{(\xi,\Lambda)} = \overline{\hat{1}}^{(\xi,\Lambda)} = \hat{1}.$$

$$(8) \ \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{(\xi,\Lambda)} = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\xi,\Lambda).$$

$$(9) \ \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)} = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}.$$

$$(10) \ \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)} = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}.$$

(11)
$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}$$

where $\hat{0}$ and $\hat{1}$ represents the constant fuzzy sets in $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ which maps each element of the universe $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ to 0 and 1, respectively.

Proof. All the claims are easy to prove by using the Definition 4.3.1 of fuzzy lower and upper approximation spaces. \Box

Theorem 4.3.3. Let (ξ, Λ_1) and (η, Λ_2) be two soft module of fractions over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. Then, for any $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu, \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z)$, we have:

$$\begin{array}{l} (1) \ \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{\xi(e)} = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{\xi(e)} \cap \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{\xi(e)} \ for \ all \ e \in \Lambda_{1}. \\ (2) \ \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \cup \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{\xi(e)} = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{\xi(e)} \cup \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{\xi(e)} \ for \ all \ e \in \Lambda_{1}. \\ (3) \ \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{(\xi,\Lambda_{1})} = [\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{\xi(e_{1})} \cap \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{\xi(e_{1})}] \cap [\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{\xi(e_{2})} \cap \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{\xi(e_{2})}]. \\ (4) \ \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \cup \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda_{1})} = [\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{\xi(e_{1})} \cup \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{\xi(e_{1})}] \cap [\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{\xi(e_{2})} \cup \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{\xi(e_{2})}]. \\ (5) \ lf \ \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu, \ then \ \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{(\xi,\Lambda_{1})} \subseteq \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda_{1})}. \\ (6) \ lf \ \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu, \ then \ \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda_{1})} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda_{1})}. \\ (7) \ \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda_{1})} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda_{1})} \cap \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda_{1})}. \\ (8) \ \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \cup \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{(\xi,\Lambda_{1})} \supseteq \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{(\xi,\Lambda_{1})} \cup \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{(\xi,\Lambda_{1})}. \\ (9) \ lf \ \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu \ and \ (\xi, \Lambda_{1}) \subseteq (\eta, \Lambda_{2}), \ then \ \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda_{1})} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\eta,\Lambda_{2})}. \\ (10) \ lf \ \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu \ and \ (\xi, \Lambda_{1}) \subseteq (\eta, \Lambda_{2}), \ then \ \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda_{1})} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\eta,\Lambda_{2})}. \\ Proof. \ All \ claims \ are \ easy \ to \ prove \ by \ using \ Definition \ 4.3.1 \ and \ Theorem \ 4.3.2. \\ \end{array}$$

The restricted intersection of two soft modules of fractions is a soft module of fractions (see Proposition 4.1.2). Thus, the relationships between fuzzy approximation spaces of intersection and intersection of fuzzy approximations are established in Theorem 4.3.4.

Theorem 4.3.4. Let (ξ_1, Λ_1) and (ξ_2, Λ_2) be two soft modules of fractions over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. If $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1, \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2 \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z)$, then

(1)
$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu_1 \cap \mu_2)}^{(\eta,\Lambda_3)} = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}^{(\eta,\Lambda_3)} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1}^{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)} \cap \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}^{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)}$$
 and

$$(2) \ \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu_1 \cap \mu_2)}_{(\eta,\Lambda_3)} = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}_{(\eta,\Lambda_3)} = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1}_{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)} \cap \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}_{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)}$$

where $(\eta, \Lambda_3) = (\xi_1, \Lambda_1) \cap (\xi_2, \Lambda_2)$ and $\Lambda_3 = \Lambda_1 \cap \Lambda_2 \neq \emptyset$ (see Definition 3.3 of [2]).

Proof. Since $(\eta, \Lambda_3) \subseteq (\xi_i, \Lambda_i)$ and $\mathcal{D}^{-1} \mu_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1} \mu_2 \subseteq \mathcal{D}^{-1} \mu_i$ for all i = 1, 2. By Theorem 4.3.3 (9) and (10), we have:

$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu_1 \cap \mu_2)}^{(\eta,\Lambda_3)} = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}^{(\eta,\Lambda_3)} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1}^{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)} \cap \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}^{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)} \text{ and}$$
$$\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu_1 \cap \mu_2)}_{(\eta,\Lambda_3)} = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}_{(\eta,\Lambda_3)} \subseteq \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1}_{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)} \cap \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}_{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)}.$$

To prove the converse of (2), let $\frac{\mathfrak{z}}{\mathfrak{d}} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ be such that

$$(\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}}_{(\xi_{1},\Lambda_{1})}\cap\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}}_{(\xi_{2},\Lambda_{2})})(\frac{\mathfrak{z}}{\mathfrak{d}}) = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}}_{(\xi_{1},\Lambda_{1})}(\frac{\mathfrak{z}}{\mathfrak{d}}) \wedge \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}}_{(\xi_{2},\Lambda_{2})}(\frac{\mathfrak{z}}{\mathfrak{d}}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}(\frac{x_{1}}{y_{1}}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}(\frac{x_{2}}{y_{2}}),$$

$$(4.3.1)$$

where $\frac{x_1}{y_1}, \frac{x_2}{y_2} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ such that $\frac{x_1}{y_1} \in [\frac{\mathfrak{z}}{\mathfrak{d}}]_{\xi_1(a_i)}, \frac{x_2}{y_2} \in [\frac{\mathfrak{z}}{\mathfrak{d}}]_{\xi_2(b_i)}$, for all $a_i \in \Lambda_1, b_i \in \Lambda_2, i = 1, 2$. By Definitions 4.3.1, 4.2.1 and Definition 1.1.5 of [31], we have:

$$\begin{split} \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}\cap\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}}_{(\eta,\Lambda_{3})}(\frac{\mathfrak{d}}{\mathfrak{d}}) &= \wedge\{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}\cap\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2})(\frac{\mathfrak{x}}{\mathfrak{y}}):\frac{\mathfrak{x}}{\mathfrak{y}}\in[\frac{\mathfrak{d}}{\mathfrak{d}}]_{\eta(c_{i})}, c_{i}\in\Lambda_{3}=\Lambda_{1}\cap\Lambda_{2}, i=1,2\}\\ &= \wedge\{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}(\frac{\mathfrak{x}}{\mathfrak{y}})\wedge\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}(\frac{\mathfrak{x}}{\mathfrak{y}}):\frac{\mathfrak{x}}{\mathfrak{y}}\in[\frac{\mathfrak{d}}{\mathfrak{d}}]_{\xi_{1}(c_{i})}, \frac{\mathfrak{x}}{\mathfrak{y}}\in[\frac{\mathfrak{d}}{\mathfrak{d}}]_{\xi_{2}(c_{i})}\\ &\text{for all } c_{i}\in\Lambda_{1}, c_{i}\in\Lambda_{2}, i=1,2\}\\ &\leq \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}(\frac{x_{1}}{y_{1}})\wedge\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}(\frac{x_{2}}{y_{2}})\\ &= (\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}}_{(\xi_{1},\Lambda_{1})}\cap\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}}_{(\xi_{2},\Lambda_{2})})(\frac{\mathfrak{d}}{\mathfrak{d}}), \end{split}$$

(see Equation 4.3.1). Thus $\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}_{(\eta,\Lambda_3)} \subseteq \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1}_{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)} \cap \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}_{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)}$. This completes

the proof.

To illustrate that the inclusion in (2) of above Theorem cannot be replaced with equality, we consider the following Example.

Example 4.3.5. Let $Z = L = \mathbb{Z}_{10}$ and $\mathcal{D} = \{\bar{1}, \bar{3}, \bar{9}\}$. Then,

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{10} = \{\bar{0}, \frac{\bar{1}}{\bar{1}}, \frac{\bar{1}}{\bar{3}}, \frac{\bar{1}}{\bar{9}}, \frac{\bar{2}}{\bar{1}}, \frac{\bar{2}}{\bar{3}}, \frac{\bar{2}}{\bar{9}}, \frac{\bar{3}}{\bar{1}}, \frac{\bar{4}}{\bar{9}}, \frac{\bar{5}}{\bar{1}}\},$$

where $\frac{1}{1} = \frac{3}{3} = \frac{9}{9}$, $\frac{1}{9} = \frac{9}{1} = \frac{7}{3}$, $\frac{2}{1} = \frac{6}{3} = \frac{8}{9}$, $\frac{2}{3} = \frac{6}{9} = \frac{4}{1}$, $\frac{3}{1} = \frac{7}{9} = \frac{9}{3}$, $\frac{4}{3} = \frac{8}{1} = \frac{2}{9}$, $\frac{4}{9} = \frac{8}{3} = \frac{6}{1}$, $\frac{5}{1} = \frac{5}{3} = \frac{5}{9}$. Define two fuzzy submodules $\mu, \nu \in \mathcal{F}(Z)$ as follows:

$$\mu(\mathfrak{l}) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \mathfrak{l} = \bar{0}, \bar{2}, \bar{4}, \bar{6} \\ 0.5, & \text{if } \mathfrak{l} = \bar{1}, \bar{3}, \bar{5}, \bar{7} \end{cases} \text{ and } \nu(\mathfrak{l}) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \mathfrak{l} = \bar{0}, \bar{5} \\ 0.6, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all $l \in Z$. Using the Definition 4.2.1, we obtain

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \mathfrak{l} = \bar{0}, \frac{\bar{2}}{\bar{1}}, \frac{\bar{2}}{\bar{3}}, \frac{\bar{2}}{\bar{9}}, \frac{\bar{4}}{\bar{9}} \\ 0.5, & \text{if } \mathfrak{l} = \frac{\bar{1}}{\bar{1}}, \frac{\bar{1}}{\bar{3}}, \frac{\bar{1}}{\bar{9}}, \frac{\bar{5}}{\bar{1}} \end{cases} \quad and \quad \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \mathfrak{l} = \bar{0}, \frac{\bar{5}}{\bar{1}} \\ 0.6, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all $\frac{1}{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. By using the Definition 1.1.5 of [31], we get the following fuzzy module of fractions:

$$(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t} = \overline{0} \\ 0.6, & \text{if } \frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t} = \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{3}}, \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{9}}, \frac{\overline{4}}{\overline{9}} \\ 0.5, & \text{if } \frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t} = \frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{3}}, \frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{9}}, \frac{\overline{5}}{\overline{1}} \end{cases}$$

for all $\frac{1}{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. Define two soft modules of fractions (ξ_1, Λ_1) and (ξ_2, Λ_2) over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ as

follows:

$$\xi_1(\alpha) = \begin{cases} \{\bar{0}, \bar{5}_1\}, & \text{if } \alpha = e_1 \\ \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{10}, & \text{if } \alpha = e_2 \end{cases} \text{ and } \xi_2(\beta) = \begin{cases} \{\bar{0}, \bar{2}_1, \bar{2}_3, \bar{2}_9, \bar{4}_9\}, & \text{if } \beta = e_1 \\ \{\bar{0}, \bar{5}_1\}, & \text{if } \beta = e_2 \end{cases}$$

for all $\alpha, \beta \in \Lambda_1 = \Lambda_2 = \{e_1, e_2\}$. By Definition 3.3 of [2], we obtain the following soft module of fractions:

$$\eta(\gamma) = \begin{cases} \{\bar{0}\}, & \text{if } \alpha = e_1 \\ \{\bar{0}, \frac{5}{1}\}, & \text{if } \alpha = e_2 \end{cases}$$

for all $\gamma \in \Lambda_3 = \Lambda_1 \cap \Lambda_2$. From Definition 4.3.1 of fuzzy upper approximation space, we obtain:

$$\overline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu\cap\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)}^{(\eta,\Lambda_3)}(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) = (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu\cap\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}), \text{ for all } \frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}\in\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z.$$

Also,

$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)}(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) = 1 \quad and \quad \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)}(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) \text{ for all } \frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z.$$

Thus $\overline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)}^{(\eta,\Lambda_3)}(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) = (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \cap \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) \ngeq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)}(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) \land \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)}(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}).$

From Proposition 4.1.4, we know that the sum of two soft modules of fractions is a soft module of fractions. Hence, we consider the lower and upper approximations of fuzzy sets with respect to sum of two soft modules of fractions in the following two results.

Theorem 4.3.6. Let (ξ_1, Λ_1) and (ξ_2, Λ_2) be two soft modules of fractions over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. Suppose that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1, \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2 \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z)$. Then

(1)
$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}}^{(\xi_{1},\Lambda_{1})} + \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}}^{(\xi_{2},\Lambda_{2})} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1} + \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}}^{(\eta,\Lambda_{3})} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu_{1} + \mu_{2})}^{(\eta,\Lambda_{3})}$$
 and
(2) $\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}}_{(\xi_{1},\Lambda_{1})} + \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}}_{(\xi_{2},\Lambda_{2})} = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1} + \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}}_{(\eta,\Lambda_{3})} \subseteq \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu_{1} + \mu_{2})}_{(\eta,\Lambda_{3})},$

where $(\eta, \Lambda_3) = (\xi_1, \Lambda_1) + (\xi_2, \Lambda_2), \Lambda_3 = \Lambda_1 \times \Lambda_2$ (see Definition 4.1.3).

Proof. By Theorem 4.3.3 (6) and (i) of 4.2.6,

$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}^{(\eta,\Lambda_3)} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu_1 + \mu_2)}^{(\eta,\Lambda_3)}, \quad \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}_{(\eta,\Lambda_3)} \subseteq \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu_1 + \mu_2)}_{(\eta,\Lambda_3)}$$

To prove $\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1}^{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)} + \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}^{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}^{(\eta,\Lambda_3)}$. Assume that $\frac{z}{d} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ such that

$$(\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}}^{(\xi_{1},\Lambda_{1})} + \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}}^{(\xi_{2},\Lambda_{2})})(\frac{z}{d}) = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}}^{(\xi_{1},\Lambda_{1})}(\frac{z_{1}}{d_{1}}) \wedge \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}}^{(\xi_{2},\Lambda_{2})}(\frac{z_{2}}{d_{2}}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}(\frac{x_{1}}{y_{1}}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}(\frac{x_{2}}{y_{2}}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}(\frac{x_{2}}{y_{2}}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}(\frac{x_{1}}{y_{1}}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}(\frac{x_{2}}{y_{2}}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}(\frac{x_$$

where $\frac{z_1}{d_1}, \frac{z_2}{d_2}, \frac{x_1}{y_1}, \frac{x_2}{y_2} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ such that $\frac{z_1}{d_1} + \frac{z_2}{d_2} = \frac{z}{d}$ and $\frac{x_1}{y_1} \in [\frac{z_1}{d_1}]_{\xi_1(a_i)}, \frac{x_2}{y_2} \in [\frac{z_2}{d_2}]_{\xi_2(b_i)}, a_i \in \Lambda_1, b_i \in \Lambda_2, i = 1, 2$. It implies that $\frac{x_1}{y_1} + \frac{x_2}{y_2} \in [\frac{z_1}{d_1}]_{\xi_1(a_i)} + [\frac{z_2}{d_2}]_{\xi_2(b_i)} = [\frac{z_1}{d_1} + \frac{z_2}{d_2}]_{\xi_1(a_i) + \xi_2(b_i)} = [\frac{z}{d}]_{\eta(c_i)}, c_i = (a_i, b_i) \in \Lambda_3, i = 1, 2$. From Definition 4.1.1 of [31] and Definitions 4.3.1, 4.2.1,

$$\begin{aligned} \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1} + \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}}^{(\eta,\Lambda_{3})}(\frac{m}{s}) &= \vee \{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1} + \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2})(\frac{x}{y}) : \frac{x}{y} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\eta(c_{i})}, c_{i} = (a_{i}, b_{i}) \in \Lambda_{3}, i = 1, 2\} \\ &= \vee \vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}(\frac{a_{1}}{b_{1}}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}(\frac{a_{2}}{b_{2}}) : \frac{x}{y} = \frac{a_{1}}{b_{1}} + \frac{a_{2}}{b_{2}}, \frac{x}{y} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\eta(c_{i})}, c_{i} \in \Lambda_{3}\} \\ &\geq \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}(\frac{x_{1}}{y_{1}}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}(\frac{x_{2}}{y_{2}}) \\ &= \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}}^{(\xi_{1},\Lambda_{1})}(\frac{z_{1}}{d_{1}}) \wedge \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}}^{(\xi_{2},\Lambda_{2})}(\frac{z_{2}}{d_{2}}) \\ &= (\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}}^{(\xi_{1},\Lambda_{1})} + \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}}^{(\xi_{2},\Lambda_{2})})(\frac{z}{d}), \end{aligned}$$

(see Equation 4.3.2). This proves that $\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1}^{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)} + \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}^{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}^{(\eta,\Lambda_3)}$. (2) To prove $\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1}_{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)} + \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}_{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)} = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}_{(\eta,\Lambda_3)}$, let

$$(\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}}_{(\xi_{1},\Lambda_{1})} + \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}}_{(\xi_{2},\Lambda_{2})})(\frac{z}{d}) = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}}_{(\xi_{1},\Lambda_{1})}(\frac{z_{1}}{d_{1}}) \wedge \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}}_{(\xi_{2},\Lambda_{2})}(\frac{z_{2}}{d_{2}}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}(\frac{x_{1}}{y_{1}}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}(\frac{x_{2}}{y_{2}}),$$

$$(4.3.3)$$
where $\frac{x_{1}}{y_{1}}, \frac{z_{1}}{d_{1}}, \frac{x_{2}}{y_{2}}, \frac{z_{2}}{d_{2}} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ such that $\frac{x_{1}}{y_{1}} \in [\frac{z_{1}}{d_{1}}]_{\xi_{1}(a_{i})}, \frac{x_{2}}{y_{2}} \in [\frac{z_{2}}{d_{2}}]_{\xi_{2}(b_{i})}, a_{i} \in \Lambda_{1}, b_{i} \in \Lambda_{2}, i = 1, 2$

and $\frac{z}{d} = \frac{z_1}{d_1} + \frac{z_2}{d_2}$. It implies that $\frac{x_1}{y_1} + \frac{x_2}{y_2} \in [\frac{z_1}{d_1} + \frac{z_2}{d_2}]_{\eta(c_i)} = [\frac{z}{d}]_{\eta(c_i)}, c_i \in \Lambda_3, i = 1, 2$. Thus

$$\begin{split} \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1} + \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}}_{(\eta,\Lambda_{3})}(\frac{z}{d}) &= \wedge \{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1} + \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2})(\frac{x}{y}) : \frac{x}{y} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\eta(c_{i})}, c_{i} \in \Lambda_{3}, i = 1, 2\} \\ &= \wedge \vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}(\frac{a_{1}}{b_{1}}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}(\frac{a_{2}}{b_{2}}) : \frac{x}{y} = \frac{a_{1}}{b_{1}} + \frac{a_{2}}{b_{2}}, \frac{x}{y} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\eta(c_{i})}, \\ &c_{i} \in \Lambda_{3}, i = 1, 2\} \\ &\leq \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}(\frac{x_{1}}{y_{1}}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}(\frac{x_{2}}{y_{2}}) \\ &= \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}}_{(\xi_{1},\Lambda_{1})}(\frac{z_{1}}{d_{1}}) \wedge \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}}_{(\xi_{2},\Lambda_{2})}(\frac{z_{2}}{d_{2}}) \\ &= (\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{1}}_{(\xi_{1},\Lambda_{1})} + \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_{2}}_{(\xi_{2},\Lambda_{2})})(\frac{z}{d}), \end{split}$$

(see Equation 4.3.3). This shows that $\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1}_{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)} + \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}_{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)} \supseteq \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_1 + \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu_2}_{(\eta,\Lambda_3)}$. Similarly, the reverse inclusion can be proved. This completes the proof. \Box

To prove the inclusion in (1) of above Theorem strictly holds, the following Example is given.

Example 4.3.7. Consider Z, L and \mathcal{D} same as in Example 4.3.5. Define two fuzzy submodules $\mu, \nu \in \mathcal{F}(Z)$ as follows:

$$\mu(\mathfrak{l}) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \mathfrak{l} = \bar{0}, \bar{2}, \bar{4}, \bar{6} \\ 0.5, & \text{if } \mathfrak{l} = \bar{1}, \bar{3}, \bar{5}, \bar{7} \end{cases} \text{ and } \nu(\mathfrak{l}) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \mathfrak{l} = \bar{0} \\ 0.6, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{l} \in Z$. Using the Definition of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu$ and $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu$ given in 4.2.1, we obtain

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{\overline{t}}) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \mathfrak{l} = \overline{0}, \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{3}}, \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{9}}, \frac{\overline{4}}{\overline{9}} \\ 0.5, & \text{if } \mathfrak{l} = \frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{3}}, \frac{\overline{1}}{\overline{9}}, \frac{\overline{5}}{\overline{1}} \end{cases} \quad and \quad \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\mathfrak{l}) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \mathfrak{l} = \overline{0} \\ 0.6, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all $\frac{1}{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. By easy calculations of sum of two fuzzy submodules as given in Definition

4.1.1 of [31], we obtain:

$$(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu + \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t} = \bar{0}, \frac{\bar{2}}{1}, \frac{\bar{2}}{3}, \frac{\bar{2}}{9}, \frac{\bar{4}}{9} \\ 0.6, & \text{if } \frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t} = \frac{\bar{1}}{1}, \frac{\bar{1}}{3}, \frac{\bar{1}}{9}, \frac{\bar{3}}{1}, \frac{\bar{5}}{1} \end{cases}$$

for all $\frac{1}{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{10}$. Define two soft modules of fractions (ξ_1, Λ_1) and (ξ_2, Λ_2) over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{10}$ as follows, where $\Lambda_1 = \Lambda_2 = \{e_1, e_2\}$:

$$\xi_1(\alpha) = \begin{cases} \{\bar{0}, \frac{\bar{2}}{\bar{1}}, \frac{\bar{2}}{\bar{3}}, \frac{\bar{2}}{\bar{9}}, \frac{\bar{4}}{\bar{9}}\}, & \text{if } \alpha = e_1 \\ \{\bar{0}, \frac{\bar{5}}{\bar{1}}\}, & \text{if } \alpha = e_2 \end{cases} \quad \text{and} \quad \xi_2(\beta) = \begin{cases} \{\bar{0}, \frac{\bar{5}}{\bar{1}}\}, & \text{if } \beta = e_1 \\ \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{10}, & \text{if } \beta = e_2 \end{cases}$$

for all $\alpha \in \Lambda_1$, $\beta \in \Lambda_2$. From Definition 4.1.3 of the sum of two soft modules of fractions, we have

$$\eta((\alpha,\beta)) = \begin{cases} \{\bar{0}, \frac{\bar{5}}{1}\}, & \text{if } (\alpha,\beta) = (e_2, e_1) \\ \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{10}, & \text{if } (\alpha,\beta) = (e_1, e_1), (e_1, e_2), (e_2, e_2) \end{cases}$$

for all $(\alpha, \beta) \in \Lambda_3$. Using the Definition 4.3.1 of upper approximation, we have:

$$\overline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu + \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)}^{(\eta,\Lambda_3)}(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) = 1 \quad and \quad \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)}(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}), \quad \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)}(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}),$$

for all $\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{10}$. Thus, it is clear that $\overline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu + \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)}^{(\eta,\Lambda_3)}(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) \nleq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)}(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) + \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)}(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}).$

Definition 4.3.8. Let (ξ, Λ) be a soft module of fractions over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. Then, a fuzzy module of fractions $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu$ of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ is called a fuzzy lower (resp. upper) rough module of fractions, if $\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{(\xi,\Lambda)}$ (resp. $\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}$) is a fuzzy module of fractions of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. Moreover, a fuzzy module of fractions $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu$ of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ is called a fuzzy rough module of fractions, if it is both fuzzy lower and upper rough module of fractions of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$.

Theorem 4.3.9. Let (ξ, Λ) be a soft module of fractions over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ and $\mu \in \mathcal{F}(Z)$ be a fuzzy submodule of Z. Then, $\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}$ is a fuzzy module of fractions of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$.

Proof. By Definition 4.3.1 of the upper approximation,

$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\frac{\theta}{s}) = \vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{x}{y}) : \frac{x}{y} \in [\frac{\theta}{s}]_{\xi(a_i)} \text{ where } a_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2\}$$
$$= 1.$$

Recall that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu$ is a fuzzy submodule of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. Let $\frac{z_1}{d_1}, \frac{z_2}{d_2} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. By our assumption and Definition 4.3.1, we have:

$$\begin{split} \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\frac{z_1}{d_1} + \frac{z_2}{d_2}) &= \vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{x}{y}) : \frac{x}{y} \in [\frac{z_1}{d_1} + \frac{z_2}{d_2}]_{\xi(a_i)}, a_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2\} \\ &= \vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{x}{y}) : \frac{x}{y} \in [\frac{z_1}{d_1}]_{\xi(a_i)} + [\frac{z_2}{d_2}]_{\xi(a_i)}, a_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2\} \\ &= \vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{x}{y}) : \frac{x}{y} = \frac{x_1}{y_1} + \frac{x_2}{y_2} \text{ where } \frac{x_1}{y_1} \in [\frac{z_1}{d_1}]_{\xi(a_i)}, \frac{x_2}{y_2} \in [\frac{z_2}{d_2}]_{\xi(a_i)}, \\ &\text{and } a_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2\} \\ &= \vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{x_1}{y_1} + \frac{x_2}{y_2}) : \frac{x_1}{y_1} \in [\frac{z_1}{d_1}]_{\xi(a_i)}, \frac{x_2}{y_2} \in [\frac{z_2}{d_2}]_{\xi(a_i)}, a_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2\} \\ &\geq \vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{x_1}{y_1}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{x_2}{y_2}) : \frac{x_1}{y_1} \in [\frac{z_1}{d_1}]_{\xi(a_i)}, \frac{x_2}{y_2} \in [\frac{z_2}{d_2}]_{\xi(a_i)}, a_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2\} \\ &= (\vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{x_1}{y_1}) : \frac{x_1}{y_1} \in [\frac{z_1}{d_1}]_{\xi(a_i)}, a_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2\}) \\ &= (\vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{x_2}{y_2}) : \frac{x_2}{y_2} \in [\frac{z_2}{d_2}]_{\xi(a_i)}, a_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2\}) \\ &= \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\frac{z_1}{d_1}) \wedge \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\frac{z_2}{d_2}). \end{split}$$

Now let $\frac{l}{m} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}L$. Then,

$$\begin{aligned} \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\frac{l}{m}.\frac{z_1}{d_1}) &= \vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{x}{y}) : \frac{x}{y} \in [\frac{l}{m}.\frac{z_1}{d_1}]_{\xi(a_i)}, a_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2\} \\ &= \vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{x}{y}) : \frac{x}{y} \in \frac{l}{m}.[\frac{z_1}{d_1}]_{\xi(a_i)}, a_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2\} \\ &= \vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{l}{m}.\frac{p}{q}) : \frac{x}{y} = \frac{l}{m}.\frac{p}{q} \text{ where } \frac{p}{q} \in [\frac{z_1}{d_1}]_{\xi(a_i)}, a_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2\} \\ &\geq \vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{p}{q}) : \frac{p}{q} \in [\frac{z_1}{d_1}]_{\xi(a_i)}, a_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2\} \\ &= \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\frac{z_1}{d_1}).\end{aligned}$$

Thus $\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\frac{l}{m},\frac{z_1}{d_1}) \ge \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\frac{z_1}{d_1})$. Hence, $\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}$ is a fuzzy submodule of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. \Box

Remark 4.3.10. Note that, the fuzzy lower approximation $\underline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}\mu_{(\xi,\Lambda)}$ of a fuzzy module of fractions $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu$ of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ does not a fuzzy module of fractions of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. To illustrate this, we consider the following Example.

Example 4.3.11. Let $L = Z = \mathbb{Z}_8$, $\mathcal{D} = \{\overline{1}, \overline{3}\}$. Then

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_8 = \{\overline{0}, \overline{\frac{1}{\overline{1}}}, \overline{\frac{1}{\overline{3}}}, \overline{\frac{2}{\overline{1}}}, \overline{\frac{2}{\overline{3}}}, \overline{\frac{4}{\overline{1}}}, \overline{\frac{5}{\overline{1}}}, \overline{\frac{5}{\overline{3}}}\},$$

where $\frac{1}{3} = \frac{3}{1}, \frac{2}{1} = \frac{6}{3}, \frac{2}{3} = \frac{6}{1}, \frac{4}{3} = \frac{4}{3}, \frac{5}{1} = \frac{7}{3}, \frac{5}{3} = \frac{7}{1}$. Define a fuzzy submodule of Z as follows:

$$\mu(\mathfrak{l}) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \mathfrak{l} = \overline{0} \\ 0.2, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all $l \in Z$. From Definition 4.2.1, we obtain the following fuzzy submodule of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$:

$$\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t} = \overline{0} \\ 0.2, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all $\frac{1}{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. Consider a soft module of fractions (ξ, Λ) , where $\Lambda = \{e_1, e_2\}$ defined as follows:

$$\xi(\alpha) = \begin{cases} \{\overline{0}, \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}}, \frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{3}}, \frac{\overline{4}}{\overline{1}}\}, & \text{if } \alpha = e_1 \\ \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_8, & \text{if } \alpha = e_2 \end{cases}$$

for all $\alpha \in \Lambda$. By simple computations, we get:

$$\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) = 0.2 \text{ for all } \frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z.$$

Since $\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\overline{0}) \neq 1$. Hence, first condition of Definition 4.1.8 of [31] fails. Thus $\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{(\xi,\Lambda)}$ is not a fuzzy submodule of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$.

In the following result, a connection between the fuzzy lower and upper approximation spaces of product of a fuzzy set in L with a fuzzy set in Z and the product of the fuzzy lower and upper approximations of fuzzy sets with respect to a soft module of fractions is made.

Theorem 4.3.12. Let (ξ, Λ) be a soft submodule over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. Assume that $\mu \in \mathcal{F}(L)$ and $\nu \in \mathcal{F}(Z)$. Then,

(1)
$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu.\nu)}^{(\xi,\Lambda)} = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)} = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}.$$

(2) $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{(\xi,\Lambda)} \subseteq \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{(\xi,\Lambda)} = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu.\nu)}_{(\xi,\Lambda)}.$

Proof. By Theorem 4.2.5 and Theorem 4.3.3 (5) and (6),

$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)} = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}, \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{(\xi,\Lambda)} = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu.\nu)}_{(\xi,\Lambda)}$$

(1) Let $\frac{z}{d} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ be such that

$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu^{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\frac{z}{d}) = (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)(\frac{x}{y}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{u}{v}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{w}{z}),$$
(4.3.4)

where $\frac{x}{y}, \frac{w}{z} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$, $\frac{u}{v} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}L$ such that $\frac{x}{y} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\xi(a_i)}$ for all $a_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2$ and $\frac{x}{y} = \frac{u}{v} \cdot \frac{w}{z}$. By

Definition 4.1.6 of [31] and Definition 4.3.1, we have:

$$\begin{split} (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)})(\frac{z}{d}) &= \vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{a}{b}) \wedge \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\frac{p}{q}) : \frac{a}{b} \cdot \frac{p}{q} = \frac{z}{d}, \frac{a}{b} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}L, \frac{p}{q} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z \} \\ &= \vee \vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{a}{b}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{n}{t}) : \frac{n}{t} \in [\frac{p}{q}]_{\xi(a_i)}, a_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2 \text{ and} \\ &\frac{a}{b} \cdot \frac{p}{q} = \frac{z}{d}, \frac{a}{b} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}L, \frac{p}{q}, \frac{n}{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z \} \\ &= \vee \vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{a}{b}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{n}{t}) : \frac{a}{b} \cdot \frac{n}{t} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\xi(a_i)}, a_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2 \} \\ &\geq \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{u}{v}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{w}{z}) \\ &= (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)(\frac{x}{y}) \\ &= \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\frac{z}{d}), \end{split}$$

(see Equation 4.3.4). Thus $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)} \supseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}.\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}$. Conversely, assume that

$$(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)})(\frac{z}{d}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{u}{v}) \wedge \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\frac{p}{q}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{u}{v}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{a}{b}),$$
(4.3.5)

where $\frac{u}{v} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}L$, $\frac{a}{b}$, $\frac{p}{q} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ such that $\frac{u}{v} \cdot \frac{p}{q} = \frac{z}{d}$ and $\frac{a}{b} \in [\frac{p}{q}]_{\xi(a_i)}$, $a_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2$. It follows that $\frac{u}{v} \cdot \frac{a}{b} \in [\frac{u}{v} \cdot \frac{p}{q}]_{\xi(a_i)} = [\frac{z}{d}]_{\xi(a_i)}$. Thus

$$\begin{aligned} \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}.\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\frac{z}{d}) &= \vee \{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)(\frac{x}{y}) : \frac{x}{y} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\xi(a_i)}, a_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2\} \\ &= \vee \vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{x_1}{y_1}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{x_2}{y_2}) : \frac{x}{y} = \frac{x_1}{y_1}.\frac{x_2}{y_2} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\xi(a_i)} \\ &\text{for all } a_i \in \Lambda, i = 1, 2, \frac{x_1}{y_1} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}L, \frac{x_2}{y_2} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z\} \\ &\geq \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{u}{v}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{a}{b}) \\ &= \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{u}{v}) \wedge \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\frac{p}{q}) \\ &= (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)})(\frac{z}{d}), \end{aligned}$$

(see Equation 4.3.5). Hence, $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi,\Lambda)}$. In the similar way, it can be proved that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{(\xi,\Lambda)} \subseteq \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{(\xi,\Lambda)}$. This completes the proof.

In the following Example it is shown that the sign of inequality in (2) of above result cannot be replaced with the sign of equality.

Example 4.3.13. Suppose that L, Z and D are same as in Example 4.3.5. Assume that $\mu, \nu \in \mathcal{F}(Z)$ are two fuzzy submodules same as in Example 4.3.5. Using the Definition 4.1.6 of [31], we get

$$(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t} = \bar{0} \\ 0.6, & \text{if } \frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t} = \frac{\bar{2}}{\bar{1}}, \frac{\bar{2}}{\bar{3}}, \frac{\bar{2}}{\bar{9}}, \frac{\bar{4}}{\bar{9}} \\ 0.5, & \text{if } \frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t} = \frac{\bar{1}}{\bar{1}}, \frac{\bar{3}}{\bar{3}}, \frac{\bar{1}}{\bar{9}}, \frac{\bar{3}}{\bar{1}}, \end{cases}$$

 $\frac{\overline{5}}{\overline{1}}$

for all $\frac{1}{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{10}$. Define a soft module of fractions (ξ, Λ) , where $\Lambda = \{e_1, e_2\}$ as follows:

$$\xi(\alpha) = \begin{cases} \{\bar{0}, \frac{\bar{2}}{\bar{1}}, \frac{\bar{2}}{\bar{3}}, \frac{\bar{2}}{\bar{9}}, \frac{\bar{4}}{\bar{9}}\}, & \text{if } \alpha = e_1\\ \\ S^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{10}, & \text{if } \alpha = e_2 \end{cases}$$

for all $\alpha \in \Lambda$. By Definition of lower approximation, we have

$$\underline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)}_{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\overset{\mathfrak{l}}{\underline{t}}) = \begin{cases} 0.6, & \text{if } \frac{1}{\underline{t}} = \bar{0}, \frac{\bar{2}}{1}, \frac{\bar{2}}{3}, \frac{\bar{2}}{9}, \frac{\bar{4}}{9} \\ 0.5, & \text{if } \frac{1}{\underline{t}} = \frac{\bar{1}}{1}, \frac{\bar{1}}{3}, \frac{\bar{1}}{9}, \frac{\bar{3}}{1}, \frac{\bar{5}}{1} \end{cases} \quad and \quad \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\overset{\mathfrak{l}}{\underline{t}}) = \begin{cases} 0.6, & \text{if } \frac{1}{\underline{t}} = \bar{0}, \frac{\bar{2}}{1}, \frac{\bar{2}}{3}, \frac{\bar{2}}{9}, \frac{\bar{4}}{9} \\ 0.5, & \text{if } \frac{1}{\underline{t}} = \frac{\bar{1}}{1}, \frac{\bar{1}}{3}, \frac{\bar{1}}{9}, \frac{\bar{3}}{1}, \frac{\bar{5}}{1} \end{cases}$$

for all $\frac{1}{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{10}$. On the other hand,

$$(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{(\xi,\Lambda)})(\frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t}) = \begin{cases} 0.6, & \text{if } \frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t} = \bar{0}, \frac{\bar{2}}{3}, \frac{\bar{2}}{9}, \frac{\bar{4}}{9} \\ 0.5, & \text{if } \frac{\mathfrak{l}}{t} = \frac{\bar{1}}{\bar{1}}, \frac{\bar{1}}{3}, \frac{\bar{2}}{\bar{1}}, \frac{\bar{1}}{9}, \frac{\bar{5}}{\bar{1}} \end{cases}$$

for all $\frac{1}{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{10}$. One can easily see that $(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \cdot \underline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}\nu_{(\xi,\Lambda)})(\frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}}) = 0.5 \leq \underline{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \cdot \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)}_{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\frac{\overline{2}}{\overline{1}}) = 0.5$

0.6. Thus
$$(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\underline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}\nu_{(\xi,\Lambda)})(\overline{t}) \leq (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)_{(\xi,\Lambda)}(\overline{t})$$
 for all $\overline{t} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{10}$. Therefore,
 $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\underline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}\nu_{(\xi,\Lambda)} \not\supseteq (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)_{(\xi,\Lambda)}.$

Since the product of a soft ideal with a soft module of fractions is a soft module of fractions (see Proposition 4.1.6). Thus, we consider the approximations of the product of a fuzzy set of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}L$ with fuzzy set of $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ in the result 4.3.14.

Theorem 4.3.14. Let (ξ_1, Λ_1) be a soft ideal over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}L$ and (ξ_2, Λ_2) be a soft module of fractions over $\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$. Assume that $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}L)$ and $\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{D}^{-1}Z)$. Then

(1)
$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu,\nu)}^{(\eta,\Lambda_3)} = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu,\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\eta,\Lambda_3)} = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)}.\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)} and$$

(2) $\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu,\nu)}_{(\eta,\Lambda_3)} = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu,\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{(\eta,\Lambda_3)} = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)}.\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)},$
where $(\eta,\Lambda_3) = (\xi_1,\Lambda_1) \times (\xi_2,\Lambda_2), \Lambda_3 = \Lambda_1 \times \Lambda_2$ (see Definition 4.1.5).

Proof. By Theorem 4.2.5 and Theorem 4.3.3 (5), (6),

$$\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu.\nu)}^{(\eta,\Lambda_3)} = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\eta,\Lambda_3)}, \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}(\mu.\nu)}_{(\eta,\Lambda_3)} = \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{(\eta,\Lambda_3)}$$

(1) Let $\frac{z}{d} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ be such that

$$(\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)},\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)})(\frac{z}{d}) = \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)}(\frac{p_1}{q_1}) \wedge \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)}(\frac{p_2}{q_2}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{m}{n}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{p}{q}),$$
(4.3.6)

where $\frac{p_1}{q_1}, \frac{m}{n} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}L, \frac{p_2}{q_2}, \frac{p}{q} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ such that $\frac{p_1}{q_1}, \frac{p_2}{q_2} = \frac{z}{d}$ and $\frac{m}{n} \in [\frac{p_1}{q_1}]_{\xi_1(a_i)}, \frac{p}{q} \in [\frac{p_2}{q_2}]_{\xi_2(b_i)}, a_i \in \Lambda_1, b_i \in \Lambda_2, i = 1, 2$. It follows that, $\frac{m}{n}, \frac{p}{q} \in [\frac{p_1}{q_1}, \frac{p_2}{q_2}]_{\xi_1(a_i), \xi_2(b_i)} = [\frac{z}{d}]_{\eta(a_i, b_i) = \eta(c_i)}, c_i \in \Lambda_3, i = 1, 2$.

Thus

$$\begin{aligned} \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}.\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\eta,\Lambda_3)}(\frac{z}{d}) &= \vee \{(\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)(\frac{x}{y}) : \frac{x}{y} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\eta(c_i)}, c_i \in \Lambda_3, i = 1, 2\} \\ &= \vee \vee \{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{x_1}{y_1}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{x_2}{y_2}) : \frac{x}{y} = \frac{x_1}{y_1}.\frac{x_2}{y_2}, \frac{x}{y} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\eta(c_i)}, c_i \in \Lambda_3, i = 1, 2\} \\ &\geq \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{m}{n}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{p}{q}) \\ &= \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)}(\frac{p_1}{q_1}) \wedge \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)}(\frac{p_2}{q_2}) \\ &= (\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)}.\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)})(\frac{z}{d}), \end{aligned}$$

(see Equation 4.3.6). Thus $\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}^{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)}.\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}.\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}^{(\eta,\Lambda_3)}.$

(2) Let $\frac{z}{d} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ be such that

$$\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}.\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{(\eta,\Lambda_3)}(\frac{z}{d}) = (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)(\frac{x}{y}) = \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{x_1}{y_1}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{x_2}{y_2}),$$
(4.3.7)

where $\frac{x_1}{y_1} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}L$, $\frac{x}{y}, \frac{x_2}{y_2} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z$ such that $\frac{x}{y} \in [\frac{z}{d}]_{\eta(c_i)}, c_i \in \Lambda_3, i = 1, 2$ and $\frac{x}{y} = \frac{x_1}{y_1} \cdot \frac{x_2}{y_2}$. By

Definition 4.1.6 of [31] and Definition 4.3.1, we have:

$$\begin{split} (\underline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}\underline{\mu}_{(\xi_{1},\Lambda_{1})}, \underline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}\underline{\nu}_{(\xi_{2},\Lambda_{2})})(\frac{z}{d}) &= \vee\{\underline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}\underline{\mu}_{(\xi_{1},\Lambda_{1})}, (\frac{u_{1}}{v_{1}}) \wedge \underline{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}\underline{\nu}_{(\xi_{2},\Lambda_{2})})(\frac{u_{2}}{v_{2}}) :\\ & \frac{u_{1}}{v_{1}}, \frac{u_{2}}{v_{2}} = \frac{z}{d}, \frac{u_{1}}{v_{1}} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}L, \frac{u_{2}}{v_{2}} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z \} \\ &= \vee\{(\wedge\{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{m}{n}): \frac{m}{n} \in [\frac{u_{1}}{v_{1}}]_{\xi_{1}(a_{i})}, a_{i} \in \Lambda_{1}, i = 1, 2\}) \wedge \\ & (\wedge\{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{p}{q}): \frac{p}{q} \in [\frac{u_{2}}{v_{2}}]_{\xi_{2}(b_{i})}, b_{i} \in \Lambda_{2}, i = 1, 2\}), \\ & \frac{u_{1}}{v_{1}}, \frac{u_{2}}{v_{2}} = \frac{z}{d}, \frac{u_{1}}{v_{1}} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}L, \frac{u_{2}}{v_{2}} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z \} \\ &= \vee \wedge\{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{m}{n}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{p}{q}): \frac{m}{n} \in [\frac{u_{1}}{v_{1}}]_{\xi_{1}(a_{i})}, \frac{p}{q} \in [\frac{u_{2}}{v_{2}}]_{\xi_{2}(b_{i})}, \\ & a_{i} \in \Lambda_{1}, b_{i} \in \Lambda_{2}, i = 1, 2, \frac{u_{1}}{v_{1}}, \frac{u_{2}}{v_{2}} = \frac{z}{d}, \frac{u_{1}}{v_{1}} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}L, \frac{u_{2}}{v_{2}} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z \} \\ &= \wedge \vee\{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{m}{n}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{p}{q}): \frac{m}{n} \in [\frac{u_{1}}{v_{1}}]_{\xi_{1}(a_{i})}, \frac{p}{q} \in [\frac{u_{2}}{v_{2}}]_{\xi_{2}(b_{i})}, \\ & a_{i} \in \Lambda_{1}, b_{i} \in \Lambda_{2}, i = 1, 2, \frac{u_{1}}{v_{1}}, \frac{u_{2}}{v_{2}} = \frac{z}{d}, \frac{u_{1}}{v_{1}} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}L, \frac{u_{2}}{v_{2}} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z \} \\ &= \wedge \vee\{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{m}{n}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{p}{q}): \frac{m}{n} \in [\frac{u_{1}}{v_{1}}]_{\xi_{1}(a_{i})}, \frac{p}{q} \in [\frac{u_{2}}{v_{2}}]_{\xi_{2}(b_{i})}, \\ & a_{i} \in \Lambda_{1}, b_{i} \in \Lambda_{2}, i = 1, 2, \frac{u_{1}}{v_{1}}, \frac{u_{2}}{v_{2}} = \frac{z}{d}, \frac{u_{1}}{v_{1}} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}L, \frac{u_{2}}{v_{2}} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z \} \\ &\leq \wedge \vee\{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{m}{n}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{p}{q}): \frac{m}{n}, \frac{p}{q} \in [\frac{u_{1}}{v_{1}}, \frac{u_{2}}{v_{2}}]_{\xi_{1}(a_{i}),\xi_{2}(b_{i})} = [\frac{z}{d}]\eta_{(a_{i},b_{i})} = \\ & [\frac{z}{d}]\eta_{(c_{i})}, c_{i} = (a_{i}, b_{i}) \in \Lambda_{3} = \Lambda_{1} \times \Lambda_{2}, i = 1, 2, \frac{u_{1}}{v_{1}} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}L, \frac{u_{2}}{v_{2}} \in \mathcal{D}^{-1}Z \} \\ &\leq \mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu(\frac{x_{1}}{y_{1}}) \wedge \mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu(\frac{x_{2}}{y_{2}}) \\ &= (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)(\frac{x}{y}) \\ &= (\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu)(\frac{x}{y}) \end{cases}$$

(see Equation 4.3.7). Thus $\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}.\overline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{(\eta,\Lambda_3)} \supseteq \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)}.\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)}$. In the similar manner, it can be proved that $\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}_{(\xi_1,\Lambda_1)}.\underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{(\xi_2,\Lambda_2)} \subseteq \underline{\mathcal{D}^{-1}\mu}.\mathcal{D}^{-1}\nu}_{(\eta,\Lambda_3)}$. This completes the proof.

Chapter 5

New types of soft rough sets in groups based on normal soft groups

In this chapter, we have defined the notion of roughness in groups in a different way using normal soft groups. This chapter consisting of 2 sections inclusively. In section 1, we have defined the concept of soft lower and upper approximation spaces in groups and study some intrinsic properties related to the soft approximation spaces. In section 2, we developed some relationships among the soft approximation spaces of two different groups by utilizing group homomorphisms. In this chapter, \mathcal{G} will be denoting a multiplicative group with identity element 1_G. This chapter is the part of our paper [10].

5.1 Lower and upper approximations in groups via normal soft groups

In this section, we initiate the notion of soft rough sets over groups. We introduce the notion of soft lower approximation space and soft upper approximation space over groups by using a normal soft group and study some related properties. All through this section, $\emptyset \neq \Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ where \mathbb{R} is a finite set of parameters. **Definition 5.1.1.** Let (ϖ, Λ) be a normal soft group over \mathcal{G} and $\emptyset \neq X \subseteq \mathcal{G}$. Define the soft lower approximation space $(\underline{X}_{\varpi}, \Lambda)$ and the soft upper approximation space $(\overline{X}^{\varpi}, \Lambda)$ of X with respect to $\varpi(\mathfrak{e})$ corresponding to each parameter $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$ as follows:

$$\underline{X}_{\overline{\omega}}(\mathfrak{e}) = \{\mathfrak{g} \in \mathcal{G} : \mathfrak{g}_{\overline{\omega}}(\mathfrak{e}) \subseteq X\} \text{ and } \overline{X}^{\overline{\omega}}(\mathfrak{e}) = \{\mathfrak{g} \in \mathcal{G} : \mathfrak{g}_{\overline{\omega}}(\mathfrak{e}) \cap X \neq \emptyset\},\$$

for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$. Intuitively, $\underline{X}_{\varpi} : \Lambda \to P(\mathcal{G})$ and $\overline{X}^{\varpi} : \Lambda \to P(\mathcal{G})$ are soft sets over \mathcal{G} .

From the Definition 5.1.1, one can easily obtain the following properties of the soft approximation spaces.

Proposition 5.1.2. Let (ϖ_1, Λ_1) and (ϖ_2, Λ_2) be two normal soft groups over \mathcal{G} . Suppose that $\emptyset \neq X_1, X_2 \subseteq \mathcal{G}$. Then:

$$(1) \ \underline{X_{1}}_{\varpi_{1}}(\mathfrak{e}) \subseteq X_{1} \subseteq \overline{X_{1}}^{\varpi_{1}}(\mathfrak{e}), \text{ for all } \mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda.$$

$$(2) \ If \ X_{1} \subseteq X_{2} \ and \ \Lambda_{1} \subseteq \Lambda_{2}, \ then \ (\underline{X_{1}}_{\varpi_{1}}, \Lambda_{1}) \widetilde{\subseteq} (\underline{X_{1}}_{\varpi_{2}}, \Lambda_{2}).$$

$$(3) \ If \ X_{1} \subseteq X_{2} \ and \ \Lambda_{1} \subseteq \Lambda_{2}, \ then \ (\overline{X_{1}}^{\varpi_{1}}, \Lambda_{1}) \widetilde{\subseteq} (\overline{X_{2}}^{\varpi_{2}}, \Lambda_{2}).$$

$$(4) \ (\underline{X_{1}}_{\varpi_{1}}, \Lambda_{1}) \cup_{\Re} \ (\underline{X_{2}}_{\varpi_{1}}, \Lambda_{1}) \widetilde{\subseteq} (\underline{X_{1}} \cup X_{2}_{\varpi_{1}}, \Lambda_{1}).$$

$$(5) \ (\overline{X_{1} \cap X_{2}}^{\varpi_{1}}, \Lambda_{1}) \widetilde{\subseteq} (\overline{X_{1}}^{\varpi_{1}}, \Lambda_{1}) \cap (\overline{X_{2}}^{\varpi_{1}}, \Lambda_{1}).$$

$$(6) \ (\overline{X_{1} \cup X_{2}}^{\varpi_{1}}, \Lambda_{1}) \widetilde{\cong} (\overline{X_{1}}^{\varpi_{1}}, \Lambda_{1}) \cup_{\Re} \ (\overline{X_{2}}^{\varpi_{1}}, \Lambda_{1}).$$

$$(7) \ (\underline{X_{1} \cap X_{2}}_{\varpi_{1}}, \Lambda_{1}) \widetilde{\cong} (\underline{X_{1}}_{\varpi_{1}}, \Lambda_{1}) \cap (\underline{X_{2}}_{\varpi_{1}}, \Lambda_{1}).$$

$$(8) \ If \ (\varpi_{1}, \Lambda_{1}) \widetilde{\subseteq} (\varpi_{2}, \Lambda_{2}), \ then \ (\overline{X_{1}}^{\varpi_{1}}, \Lambda_{1}) \widetilde{\subseteq} (\overline{X_{1}}^{\varpi_{2}}, \Lambda_{2}).$$

$$(10) \ (\underline{X_{1}}_{\vartheta_{1}}, \Lambda_{3}) \widetilde{\subseteq} (\overline{X_{1}}^{\varpi_{1}}, \Lambda_{1}) \cap (\overline{X_{1}}_{\varpi_{2}}^{\varpi_{2}}, \Lambda_{2}).$$

$$(11) \ (\overline{X_{1}}^{\vartheta_{1}}, \Lambda_{3}) \widetilde{\subseteq} (\overline{X_{1}}^{\varpi_{1}}, \Lambda_{1}) \cap (\overline{X_{1}}^{\varpi_{2}}, \Lambda_{2}).$$

Here, $(\varpi_1, \Lambda_1) \cap (\varpi_2, \Lambda_2) = (\vartheta_1, \Lambda_3)$ and $\Lambda_3 = \Lambda_1 \cap \Lambda_2 \neq \emptyset$ (see Definition 1.4.4).

Proof. The proof is obvious.

The following Examples illustrate that inclusions in (4), (5), (10) and (11) of Proposition 5.1.2 are strict.

Example 5.1.3. Let $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{D}_4 = \langle u, v : u^4 = v^2 = e, vu = u^3v \rangle$ be the dihedral group and $\Lambda = \{\mathfrak{a}_1, \mathfrak{a}_2\}$. Consider a set valued function $\varpi : \Lambda \to P(\mathcal{G})$ defined as:

$$\varpi(\mathbf{e}) = \begin{cases} \{e, u, u^2, u^3\}, & \text{ if } \mathbf{e} = \mathbf{a}_1, \\\\ \{e, u^2, v, u^2v\}, & \text{ if } \mathbf{e} = \mathbf{a}_2, \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$. Then (ϖ, Λ) is a normal soft group over \mathcal{G} . Assume that $X_1 = \{u, v, uv, u^2v\}$ and $X_2 = \{e, u^2, u^3, u^3v\}$, then $X_1 \cup X_2 = \mathcal{G}$. By simple calculations:

$$\underline{X_{1_{\varpi}}}(\mathfrak{a}_{1}) = \underline{X_{2_{\varpi}}}(\mathfrak{a}_{1}) = \emptyset \text{ and } \underline{X_{1} \cup X_{2_{\varpi}}}(\mathfrak{a}_{1}) = \mathcal{G}.$$

This shows that, $\underline{X_1 \cup X_2}_{\varpi}(\mathfrak{a}_1) \not\subseteq \underline{X_1}_{\varpi}(\mathfrak{a}_1) \cup \underline{X_2}_{\varpi}(\mathfrak{a}_1)$. Continuing with the same X_1 and $X_2 = \{v, u^3\}$, we have:

$$\overline{X_1}^{\varpi}(\mathfrak{a}_2) = \overline{X_2}^{\varpi}(\mathfrak{a}_2) = \mathcal{G} \text{ and } \overline{X_1 \cap X_2}^{\varpi}(\mathfrak{a}_2) = \{e, v, u^2, u^2v\}.$$

It implies that $\overline{X_1}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{a}_2) \cap \overline{X_2}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{a}_2) \nsubseteq \overline{X_1 \cap X_2}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{a}_2).$

Example 5.1.4. Let $\mathcal{G} = \mathbf{V}_4 = \{\mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{G}}, \mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{b}, \mathfrak{c}\}$ be the Klien-4 group and $\Lambda = \{l, m\}$. Consider the following normal soft groups $\varpi_1 : \Lambda \to P(\mathcal{G})$ and $\varpi_2 : \Lambda \to P(\mathcal{G})$ defined by:

$$\varpi_1(\mathfrak{e}) = \begin{cases} \{1_{\mathcal{G}}, \mathfrak{a}\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{e} = l, \\ \{1_{\mathcal{G}}, \mathfrak{c}\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{e} = m, \end{cases} \text{ and } \varpi_2(\mathfrak{e}) = \begin{cases} \{1_{\mathcal{G}}, \mathfrak{b}\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{e} = l, \\ \{1_{\mathcal{G}}\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{e} = m, \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$. By Definition 1.4.4, $\vartheta_1 : \Lambda \to P(\mathcal{G})$ is obtained as:

$$\vartheta_1(\mathfrak{e}) = \{1_{\mathcal{G}}\}, \text{ for all } \mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda.$$

Assume that $X = \{e, c\}$. Using the Definition 5.1.1 of soft approximation spaces, the following results can be obtained:

$$\underline{X}_{\varpi_1}(\mathfrak{e}) = \underline{X}_{\varpi_2}(\mathfrak{e}) = \emptyset, \quad \underline{X}_{\vartheta_1}(\mathfrak{e}) = X, \quad \overline{X}^{\varpi_1}(\mathfrak{e}) = \overline{X}^{\varpi_2}(\mathfrak{e}) = \mathcal{G} \text{ and } \overline{X}^{\vartheta_1}(\mathfrak{e}) = X.$$

Hence, $\underline{X}_{\vartheta_1}(\mathfrak{e}) \nsubseteq \underline{X}_{\varpi_1}(\mathfrak{e}) \cap \underline{X}_{\varpi_2}(\mathfrak{e}) \text{ and } \overline{X}^{\varpi_1}(\mathfrak{e}) \cap \overline{X}^{\varpi_2}(\mathfrak{e}) \nsubseteq \overline{X}^{\vartheta_1}(\mathfrak{e}).$

Note that, Theorem 5.1.5 illustrates that if X is a subgroup of \mathcal{G} , then the soft approximation spaces of a subgroup do not provide us any new information with a non-null lower soft approximation space.

Theorem 5.1.5. Let X be a subgroup of \mathcal{G} such that $\underline{X}_{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e}) \neq \emptyset$, for some $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$. Then, following equalities hold:

$$\underline{X}_{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e}) = X = \overline{X}^{\omega}(\mathfrak{e}).$$

for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$.

Proof. We claim that $1_{\mathcal{G}} \in \underline{X}_{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e}), \mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$. By assumption on $\underline{X}_{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e})$, there exists $g \in \underline{X}_{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e})$. By Proposition 5.1.2 (1), it follows that $g \in X$. Now:

$$\varpi(\mathbf{e}) = g^{-1} \cdot g \varpi(\mathbf{e}) \subseteq X \cdot X = X.$$

Recall that X is a subgroup. Thus, $1_{\mathcal{G}} \in \underline{X}_{\overline{\omega}}(\mathfrak{e})$ and this proves the claim.

Note that $\underline{X}_{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e}) \subseteq X \subseteq \overline{X}^{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e})$, for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$ (see Proposition 5.1.2 (1)). Let $x \in \overline{X}^{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e})$, where $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$. Then, there exists $u \in \mathcal{G}$ such that $u \in x\varpi(\mathfrak{e}) \cap X$. It yields that $u\varpi(\mathfrak{e}) = x\varpi(\mathfrak{e})$ and $u \in X$. We claim that $u\varpi(\mathfrak{e}) \subseteq X$. Since $\varpi(\mathfrak{e}) \subseteq X$, then $u\varpi(\mathfrak{e}) \subseteq uX = X$. This proves the claim. Hence, $x \in \underline{X}_{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e})$ for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$. Therefore, $\underline{X}_{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e}) = X = \overline{X}^{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e})$, for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$. \Box The following Theorem shows that the Propositions from 3.1-3.4 in [22] are weak.

Theorem 5.1.6. Let \mathcal{W} and \mathcal{N} be normal subgroups of \mathcal{G} . Suppose that $\underline{\mathcal{W}}_{\mathcal{N}} \neq \emptyset$. Then,

$$\underline{\mathcal{W}}_{\mathcal{N}} = \mathcal{W} = \overline{\mathcal{W}}^{\mathcal{N}}$$

Proof. Since $\underline{\mathcal{W}}_{\mathcal{N}} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{W}} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{W}}^{\mathcal{N}}$ (see Proposition 2.1 (1) of [22]). From hypothesis $\underline{\mathcal{W}}_{\mathcal{N}} \neq \emptyset$, there exists $q \in \mathcal{G}$ such that $q \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{\mathcal{N}}$. By Proposition 2.1 (1) in [22], we have $q \in \mathcal{W}$. Hence,

$$\mathcal{N} = 1_{\mathcal{G}}\mathcal{N} = (q.q^{-1})\mathcal{N} = (q\mathcal{N}).(q^{-1}\mathcal{N}) \subseteq \mathcal{W}.\mathcal{W} \subseteq \mathcal{W}$$
(5.1.1)

Let $x \in \overline{W}^{\mathcal{N}}$. From Definition of upper approximation in [22] at page 204, we have $y \in x \mathcal{N} \cap W$ for some $y \in \mathcal{G}$. Hence, Equation 5.1.1 imply that

$$y\mathcal{N} = (y.1_{\mathcal{G}})\mathcal{N} = y\mathcal{N}.e\mathcal{N} \subseteq y\mathcal{N}.\mathcal{W} \subseteq \mathcal{W}$$

But $y\mathcal{N} = x\mathcal{N}$. Thus $x\mathcal{N} \subseteq \mathcal{W}$. Hence, $x \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{\mathcal{N}}$. This completes the proof. \Box

In the rest of this chapter, (ϖ, Λ) will be denoting a normal soft group over \mathcal{G} . In order to discover the relationship between soft approximation spaces of the product of two subsets of \mathcal{G} and restricted soft product of approximations of these sets, the following results are presented.

Proposition 5.1.7. Let $\emptyset \neq X_1, X_2 \subseteq \mathcal{G}$. Then,

(1)
$$(\overline{X_1 X_2}^{\varpi}, \Lambda) \cong (\overline{X_1}^{\varpi}, \Lambda) \hat{\circ} (\overline{X_2}^{\varpi}, \Lambda).$$

$$(2) \ (\underline{X_1}_{\varpi}, \Lambda) \hat{\circ} (\underline{X_2}_{\varpi}, \Lambda) \stackrel{\sim}{\subseteq} (\underline{X_1} \underline{X_2}_{\varpi}, \Lambda).$$

where $\hat{\circ}$ represents the restricted soft product of two soft groups (see Definition 1.4.8).

Proof. (1) Suppose that $x \in \overline{X_1}^{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e}) \cdot \overline{X_2}^{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e})$ and $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$, then x = uv for some $u \in \overline{X_1}^{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e})$ and $v \in \overline{X_2}^{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e})$. There exist $x_1, x_2 \in \mathcal{G}$ such that $x_1 \in u\varpi(\mathfrak{e}) \cap X_1$ and $x_2 \in v\varpi(\mathfrak{e}) \cap X_2$. This implies that $x_1x_2 \in uv\varpi(\mathfrak{e})$ and $x_1x_2 \in X_1X_2$. This proves that $x_1x_2 \in uv\varpi(\mathfrak{e}) \cap X_1X_2$. Hence, $x = uv \in \overline{X_1X_2}^{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e})$ for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$.

Conversely, assume that $z \in \overline{X_1 X_2}^{\omega}(\mathfrak{e})$ with $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$. Hence, $g \in z \varpi(\mathfrak{e}) \cap X_1 X_2$ for some $g \in \mathcal{G}$. From hypothesis, $z \in g \varpi(\mathfrak{e})$ and $g = l_1 l_2$ for some $l_1 \in X_1$ and $l_2 \in X_2$. Thus, $z \in (l_1 l_2) \varpi(\mathfrak{e}) = (l_1 \varpi(\mathfrak{e}))(l_2 \varpi(\mathfrak{e}))$. Let $z = p_1 p_2$, for some $p_1 \in l_1 \varpi(\mathfrak{e})$ and $p_2 \in l_2 \varpi(\mathfrak{e})$. Then, $l_1 \in p_1 \varpi(\mathfrak{e})$ and $l_2 \in p_2 \varpi(\mathfrak{e})$. Thus, $l_1 \in p_1 \varpi(\mathfrak{e}) \cap X_1$ and $l_2 \in p_2 \varpi(\mathfrak{e}) \cap X_2$ which yields that $p_1 \in \overline{X_1}^{\omega}(\mathfrak{e})$ and $p_2 \in \overline{X_2}^{\omega}(\mathfrak{e})$. Hence, $z = p_1 p_2 \in \overline{X_1}^{\omega}(\mathfrak{e}) \cdot \overline{X_2}^{\omega}(\mathfrak{e})$ for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$.

(2) Let $z \in \underline{X_1}_{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e}) \cdot \underline{X_2}_{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e})$, where $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$. Then, z = uv for some $u \in \underline{X_1}_{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e})$ and $v \in \underline{X_2}_{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e})$. Hence, $u\varpi(\mathfrak{e}) \subseteq X_1$ and $v\varpi(\mathfrak{e}) \subseteq X_2$. It implies that $(uv)\varpi(\mathfrak{e}) = (u\varpi(\mathfrak{e}))(v\varpi(\mathfrak{e})) \subseteq X_1X_2$. This proves that $z = uv \in \underline{X_1X_2}_{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e})$, for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$.

The following Example illustrates that the sign of soft inclusion \cong in above Proposition (2) cannot be replaced with the sign of soft equality \cong .

Example 5.1.8. Let $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{S}_3$ and $\Lambda = \{m, n\}$. Define a normal soft group (ϖ, Λ) over G as follows:

$$\varpi(\mathbf{e}) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{S}_3, & \text{if } \mathbf{e} = m, \\ \{e, (123), (132)\}, & \text{if } \mathbf{e} = n \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$. Assume that $X_1 = \{e, (12)\}$ and $X_2 = \{(12), (13), (23)\}$. Then $X_1X_2 = \mathcal{G}$. By Definition 5.1.1 of soft lower approximation, we have:

$$\underline{X_1 X_2}_{\varpi}(n) = \mathcal{G}, \underline{X_1}_{\varpi}(n) = \emptyset \text{ and } \underline{X_2}_{\varpi}(n) = X_2.$$

This shows that $\underline{X_1}_{\varpi}(n) \cdot \underline{X_2}_{\varpi}(n) \not\supseteq \underline{X_1}_{x_2}_{\varpi}(n)$.

The following Lemma 5.1.9 will be helpful to prove some more useful results in the sequel.

Lemma 5.1.9. Let $\emptyset \neq X \subseteq \mathcal{G}$. Then, $\overline{X}^{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e}) = X.\varpi(\mathfrak{e})$ for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$.

Proof. Let $x \in \overline{X}^{\overline{\omega}}(\mathfrak{e}), \mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$. Then, there exists $g \in \mathcal{G}$ such that $g \in x.\overline{\omega}(\mathfrak{e}) \cap X$. According

to our assumption on (ϖ, Λ) , $x \in g\varpi(\mathfrak{e}) \subseteq X.\varpi(\mathfrak{e})$ for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$. Thus $\overline{X}^{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e}) \subseteq X.\varpi(\mathfrak{e})$ for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$.

Conversely, assume that $g \in X.\varpi(\mathfrak{e})$ for $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$. Then g = l.u for some $l \in X$ and $u \in \varpi(\mathfrak{e})$. It follows that $l = gu^{-1} \in g\varpi(\mathfrak{e})$ and $l \in X$. Therefore, $l \in g\varpi(\mathfrak{e}) \cap X$. Thus $g \in \overline{X}^{\varpi}(\mathfrak{e})$ for $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda$. This completes the proof.

Since the restricted soft product of two normal soft groups is a normal soft group (see Corollary 6.10 of [4]). Hence, the following results are presented:

Proposition 5.1.10. Let (v_1, Ξ_1) and (v_2, Ξ_2) be two normal soft groups over \mathcal{G} , where $\emptyset \neq \Xi_1, \Xi_2 \subseteq \mathbb{E}$. Assume that $\emptyset \neq X \subseteq \mathcal{G}$, then:

- (1) $(\overline{X}^{\nu_1}, \Xi_1) \circ (\overline{X}^{\nu_2}, \Xi_2) \cong (\overline{X}^{\varepsilon}, \Xi_3) \circ (\overline{X}^{\varepsilon}, \Xi_3).$
- (2) If X is a subgroup of \mathcal{G} . Then

$$(\overline{X}^{\varepsilon}, \Xi_3) \cong (\overline{X}^{\upsilon_1}, \Xi_1) \circ (\overline{X}^{\upsilon_2}, \Xi_2) \cong (\overline{X}^{\upsilon_2}, \Xi_2) \circ (\upsilon_1, \Xi_1) \cong (\overline{X}^{\upsilon_1}, \Xi_1) \circ (\upsilon_2, \Xi_2),$$

where $(\varepsilon, \Lambda_3) = (v_1, \Xi_1) \circ (v_2, \Xi_2)$ and $\Xi_3 = \Xi_1 \cap \Xi_2 \neq \emptyset$ (See Definition 6.1 [4]).

Proof. (1) Let $\mathfrak{e} \in \Xi_3$. From Lemma 5.1.9 and Definition 6.1, Theorem 6.6 and and Corollary

6.9 of [4], we have:

$$\overline{X}^{\upsilon_1}(\mathbf{e})\overline{X}^{\upsilon_2}(\mathbf{e}) = (X\upsilon_1(\mathbf{e}))(X\upsilon_2(\mathbf{e}))$$

$$= (X\upsilon_1(\mathbf{e})\upsilon_1(\mathbf{e}))(X\upsilon_2(\mathbf{e})\upsilon_2(\mathbf{e}))$$

$$= (X\upsilon_1(\mathbf{e})\upsilon_1(\mathbf{e}))(\upsilon_2(\mathbf{e})X)\upsilon_2(\mathbf{e})$$

$$= X\upsilon_1(\mathbf{e})(\upsilon_1(\mathbf{e})\upsilon_2(\mathbf{e}))X\upsilon_2(\mathbf{e})$$

$$= (X\upsilon_1(\mathbf{e})(\upsilon_2(\mathbf{e})\upsilon_1(\mathbf{e}))X\upsilon_2(\mathbf{e})$$

$$= (X\upsilon_1(\mathbf{e})\upsilon_2(\mathbf{e}))(X\upsilon_1(\mathbf{e})\upsilon_2(\mathbf{e}))$$

$$= (X\varepsilon(\mathbf{e}))(X\varepsilon(\mathbf{e}))$$

$$= \overline{X}^{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{e})\overline{X}^{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{e})$$

Hence, $(\overline{X}^{\upsilon_1}, \Xi_1) \hat{\circ}(\overline{X}^{\upsilon_2}, \Xi_2) \cong (\overline{X}^{\varepsilon}, \Xi_3) \hat{\circ}(\overline{X}^{\varepsilon}, \Xi_3).$ (2) By Lemma 5.1.9, $\overline{X}^{\upsilon_1}(\mathfrak{e})\upsilon_2(\mathfrak{e}) = X\upsilon_1(\mathfrak{e})\upsilon_2(\mathfrak{e}) = X\varepsilon(\mathfrak{e}) = \overline{X}^{\varepsilon}(\mathfrak{e}).$ Similarly, $\overline{X}^{\upsilon_2}(\mathfrak{e})\upsilon_1(\mathfrak{e}) = \overline{X}^{\varepsilon}(\mathfrak{e}).$ Therefore, $\overline{X}^{\varepsilon}(\mathfrak{e}) = \overline{X}^{\upsilon_2}(\mathfrak{e})\upsilon_1(\mathfrak{e}) \cap \overline{X}^{\upsilon_1}(\mathfrak{e})\upsilon_2(\mathfrak{e})$ for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \Xi_3$. Thus,

$$(\overline{X}^{\varepsilon}, \Xi_3) \widetilde{=} (\overline{X}^{\upsilon_2}, \Xi_2) \widehat{\circ}(\upsilon_1, \Xi_1) \cap (\overline{X}^{\upsilon_1}, \Xi_1) \widehat{\circ}(\upsilon_2, \Xi_2).$$

This completes the proof.

It notable that, (2) in above Proposition is inconsistent with Proposition 3.5 and 3.6 of [22].

5.2 Connection between soft lower and upper approximation spaces

Let $\phi : \mathcal{G}_1 \to \mathcal{G}_2$ be a group homomorphism. In this section, (ϖ_1, Λ_1) and (ϖ_2, Λ_2) will represent the normal soft groups over \mathcal{G}_1 and \mathcal{G}_2 respectively, where $\emptyset \neq \Lambda_i \subseteq \mathbb{E}$ for all i = 1, 2. In the following, the soft image and soft pre-image of (ϖ_1, Λ_1) and (ϖ_2, Λ_2) are defined under ϕ respectively.

Definition 5.2.1. Let ϕ be as defined above. Then,

- (i) The soft image $\phi(\varpi_1) : \Lambda_1 \to P(\mathcal{G}_2)$ of (ϖ_1, Λ_1) is defined as $\phi(\varpi_1)(\mathfrak{w}) = \phi(\varpi_1(\mathfrak{w}))$, for all $\mathfrak{w} \in \Lambda_1$.
- (ii) The soft pre-image $\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2)$: $\Lambda_2 \to P(\mathcal{G}_1)$ of (ϖ_2, Λ_2) is defined as $\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2)(\mathfrak{e}) = \phi^{-1}(\varpi_2(\mathfrak{e}))$, for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda_2$.

Lemma 5.2.2. The soft pre-image $(\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2), \Lambda_2)$ of (ϖ_2, Λ_2) is a normal soft group over \mathcal{G}_1 and ker $\phi \subseteq \phi^{-1}(\varpi_2)(\mathfrak{e})$, for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda_2$.

Proof. Following the same steps as in [38, Proposition 9], the proof is elementary. \Box

Theorem 5.2.3. With the above notion, let $\emptyset \neq X_1 \subseteq \mathcal{G}_1$, $\emptyset \neq X_2 \subseteq \mathcal{G}_2$ and $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda_2$. Then, the following implications are true:

$$x \in \overline{X_1}^{\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2)}(\mathfrak{e}) \Rightarrow \phi(x) \in \overline{\phi(X_1)}^{\varpi_2}(\mathfrak{e}).$$
$$x \in \overline{\phi^{-1}(X_2)}^{\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2)}(\mathfrak{e}) \Rightarrow \phi(x) \in \overline{X_2}^{\varpi_2}(\mathfrak{e}).$$

Moreover, if ϕ is onto then the converse of above statements also hold.

Proof. Let $x \in \overline{X_1}^{\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2)}(\mathfrak{e})$. By Definition 5.1.1, there exists $g \in \mathcal{G}_1$ such that $g \in x \cdot \phi^{-1}[\varpi_2(\mathfrak{e})] \cap X_1$. Since ϕ is a homomorphism and $\phi(\phi^{-1}[Z]) \subseteq Z$, for any $Z \subseteq \mathcal{G}_2$. It follows that

$$\phi(g) \in \phi(x \cdot \phi^{-1}[\varpi_2(\mathfrak{e})] \cap X_1) \subseteq \phi(x \cdot \phi^{-1}[\varpi_2(\mathfrak{e})]) \cap \phi(X_1) \subseteq \phi(x) \varpi_2(\mathfrak{e}) \cap \phi(X_1).$$

This completes the proof of first implication. The second implication can be proved by following the same methodology.

For converse, suppose that ϕ is onto and $\phi(x) \in \overline{\phi(X_1)}^{\varpi_2}(\mathfrak{e})$. There exists $g' \in \mathcal{G}_2$ such that $g' \in \phi(x) \varpi_2(\mathfrak{e}) \cap \phi(X_1)$. It concludes that $g' = \phi(x) \cdot u = \phi(y)$, for some $u \in \varpi_2(\mathfrak{e})$ and $y \in X_1$. Since ϕ is onto, assume that $u = \phi(v)$, where $v \in \mathcal{G}_1$. Then, $\phi(y) = \phi(x)\phi(v) = \phi(xv)$. By Lemma 5.2.2, it follows that $y^{-1}(xv) \in \ker \phi \subseteq \phi^{-1}(\varpi_2(\mathfrak{e}))$ and hence $x^{-1}y \in \phi^{-1}(\varpi_2(\mathfrak{e}))$. Then, $y \in x\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2(\mathfrak{e})) \cap X_1$. This proves the first implication. The other implication can be proved along the similar lines.

Theorem 5.2.4. Fix the notion of Theorem 5.2.3, assume that ϕ is onto. Then the following statements hold:

$$x \in \underline{\phi^{-1}(X_2)}_{\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2)}(\mathfrak{e}) \Rightarrow \phi(x) \in \underline{X_2}_{\varpi_2}(\mathfrak{e}).$$
$$x \in \underline{X_1}_{\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2)}(\mathfrak{e}) \Rightarrow \phi(x) \in \underline{\phi(X_1)}_{\varpi_2}(\mathfrak{e}).$$

Proof. Since ϕ is onto, then $\phi(\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2(\mathfrak{e}))) = \varpi_2(\mathfrak{e})$. Hence, $x(\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2)(\mathfrak{e})) \subseteq \phi^{-1}(X_2)$ implies that $\phi(x)\varpi_2(\mathfrak{e}) \subseteq X_2$. Also, $x(\phi^{-1}(X_2)(\mathfrak{e})) \subseteq X_1$ implies that $\phi(x)\varpi_2(\mathfrak{e}) \subseteq \phi(X_1)$. So, the claims are proved.

In the Example 5.2.5, it is shown that the assertions of Theorem 5.2.4 fail if ϕ is not onto. **Example 5.2.5.** Let $\mathcal{G}_1 = \mathcal{S}_3$ and $\mathcal{G}_2 = \mathbb{Z}_6$. Define a group homomorphism $\phi : \mathcal{S}_3 \to \mathbb{Z}_6$ by:

$$\phi(x) = \begin{cases} \overline{0}, & \text{if } x = e, (123), (132), \\ \overline{3}, & \text{if } x = (12), (13), (23), \end{cases}$$

for all $x \in \mathcal{G}_1$. One can see that ϕ is not onto. Assume that $\Lambda_2 = \mathbb{Z}_6$. Define a normal soft group $\varpi_2 : \Lambda_2 \to P(\mathcal{G}_2)$ as follows:

$$\varpi_{2}(\mathfrak{e}) = \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}_{6}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{e} = \overline{0}, \\ \{\overline{0}\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{e} = \overline{1}, \overline{5}, \\ \{\overline{0}, \overline{3}\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{e} = \overline{2}, \overline{4}, \\ \{\overline{0}, \overline{2}, \overline{4}\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{e} = \overline{3}, \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda_2$. By Definition 5.2.1 of $\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2)$, we get:

$$\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2)(\mathfrak{e}) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{S}_3, & \text{if } \mathfrak{e} = \overline{0}, \overline{2}, \overline{4}, \\ \{e, (123), (132)\}, & \text{if } \mathfrak{e} = \overline{1}, \overline{5}, \overline{3}, \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{e} \in \Lambda_2$. Suppose that $X_2 = \{\overline{0}, \overline{1}, \overline{2}, \overline{3}\}, \phi^{-1}(X_2) = S_3$. By simple calculations, it follows that:

$$\underline{\phi^{-1}(X_2)}_{\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2)}(\overline{0}) = \mathcal{S}_3 \text{ and } \underline{X_2}_{\varpi_2}(\overline{0}) = \emptyset.$$

Now, assume that $X_1 = \{(12), (13), (23), (123)\}$ then $\phi(X_1) = \{\overline{0}, \overline{3}\}$. From Definition 5.1.1,

$$\underline{X_1}_{\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2)}(\overline{3}) = \{(12), (13), (23)\} \text{ and } \underline{\phi(X_1)}_{\varpi_2}(\overline{3}) = \emptyset.$$

In the next result, converse of Theorem 5.2.4 is proved under some conditions.

Theorem 5.2.6. With the same assumptions as in Theorem 5.2.3, the following assertion holds:

$$\phi(x) \in \underline{X_2}_{\varpi_2}(\mathfrak{e}) \Rightarrow x \in \underline{\phi^{-1}(X_2)}_{\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2)}(\mathfrak{e}).$$

Further, if X_1 is a subgroup of \mathcal{G}_1 such that ker $\phi \subseteq X_1$. Then:

$$\phi(x) \in \underline{\phi(X_1)}_{\varpi_2}(\mathfrak{e}) \Rightarrow x \in \underline{X_1}_{\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2)}(\mathfrak{e}).$$

Proof. Let $\phi(x) \in \underline{X}_{2_{\varpi_2}}(\mathfrak{e})$. By Definition 5.1.1, it follows that $\phi(x)\varpi_2(\mathfrak{e}) \subseteq X_2$. Suppose that $v \in \phi^{-1}(\varpi_2(\mathfrak{e}))$. Then, $\phi(v) \in \varpi_2(\mathfrak{e})$. It induces that $\phi(xv) = \phi(x)\phi(v) \in X_2$. Then $xv \in \phi^{-1}(X_2)$. This proves that $x\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2(\mathfrak{e})) \subseteq \phi^{-1}(X_2)$ and $x \in \underline{\phi^{-1}(X_2)}_{\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2)}(\mathfrak{e})$.

Now, assume that $\phi(x) \in \underline{\phi(X_1)}_{\varpi_2}(\mathfrak{e})$ then $\phi(x)\varpi_2(\mathfrak{e}) \subseteq \phi(X_1)$. It implies that

$$\phi(x)u \in \phi(X_1), \text{ for all } u \in \varpi_2(\mathfrak{e}).$$
 (5.2.1)

Let $l \in x(\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2)(\mathfrak{e}))$ be an arbitrary element. Then, l = xv such that $v \in \phi^{-1}(\varpi_2)(\mathfrak{e}) = \phi^{-1}(\varpi_2(\mathfrak{e}))$. It implies that $\phi(v) \in \varpi_2(\mathfrak{e})$ and $\phi(l) = \phi(xv) \in \phi(X_1)$, see Equation (5.2.1). So, it can be written as $\phi(xv) = \phi(y)$ for some $y \in X_1$. Then, $y^{-1}(xv) \in \ker \phi \subseteq X_1$. It yields that $l = xv \in X$. Hence, $x\phi^{-1}(\varpi_2(\mathfrak{e})) \subseteq X_1$.

To build a relationship between soft approximation spaces with respect to soft-image $(\phi(\kappa_1), \Lambda_1)$, the following Lemma 5.2.7 will be used.

Lemma 5.2.7. If ϕ is onto, then the soft image $(\phi(\varpi_1), \Lambda_1)$ of (ϖ_1, Λ_1) is a normal soft group over \mathcal{G}_2 .

Proof. The proof is analogous to the proof of [38, Proposition 2.1]. \Box

Remark 5.2.8. In the view of Lemma 5.2.7, ϕ will be taken as an onto homomorphism in the remaining results of this section.

Theorem 5.2.9. With the same notion as in Theorem 5.2.3, let $\mathfrak{w} \in \Lambda_1$. Then:

$$x \in \overline{X_1}^{\varpi_1}(\mathfrak{w}) \Rightarrow \phi(x) \in \overline{\phi(X_1)}^{\phi(\varpi_1)}(\mathfrak{w}).$$
$$x \in \overline{\phi^{-1}(X_2)}^{\varpi_1}(\mathfrak{w}) \Rightarrow \phi(x) \in \overline{X_2}^{\phi(\varpi_1)}(\mathfrak{w}).$$

Proof. This proof is parallel to the proof of Theorem 5.2.3.

The converse of Theorem 5.2.9 is proved in the following result with some conditions.

Theorem 5.2.10. With the previous notion, suppose that ker $\phi \subseteq \varpi_1(\mathfrak{w})$. Then:

$$\phi(x) \in \overline{\phi(X_1)}^{\phi(\varpi_1)}(\mathfrak{w}) \Rightarrow x \in \overline{X_1}^{\varpi_1}(\mathfrak{w}).$$
$$\phi(x) \in \overline{X_2}^{\phi(\varpi_1)}(\mathfrak{w}) \Rightarrow x \in \overline{\phi^{-1}(X_2)}^{\varpi_1}(\mathfrak{w}).$$

Proof. Let $\phi(x) \in \overline{\phi(X_1)}^{\phi(\varpi_1)}(\mathfrak{w})$. Then, there exists $g \in \mathcal{G}_2$ such that $g \in \phi(x)(\phi(\varpi_1)(\mathfrak{w})) \cap \phi(X_1)$. It suggest that $g \in \phi(x)(\phi(\varpi_1(\mathfrak{w})))$ and $g \in \phi(X_1)$. Therefore, $g = \phi(x)\phi(u) = \phi(xu) = \phi(y)$ for some $u \in \varpi_1(\mathfrak{w})$ and $y \in X_1$. Then $y^{-1}(xu) \in \ker \phi \subseteq \varpi_1(\mathfrak{w})$. Since (ϖ_1, Λ_1) is a normal soft group, it implies that $y^{-1}x \in \varpi_1(\mathfrak{w})$ and $y \in x\varpi_1(\mathfrak{w})$. This proves that $y \in x\varpi_1(\mathfrak{w}) \cap X_1 \neq \emptyset$ and $x \in \overline{X_1}^{\varpi_1}(\mathfrak{w})$. Similarly, the second implication can be proved.

Example 5.2.11. Let $\mathcal{G}_1 = \mathcal{C}_4 = \{\pm 1, \pm i\}$ and $\mathcal{G}_2 = \mathcal{C}_2 = \{\pm 1\}$ such that $i^2 = -1$. Define an onto group homomorphism $\phi : \mathcal{G}_1 \to \mathcal{G}_2$ as:

$$\phi(\mathfrak{g}) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = 1, -1 \\ -1, & \text{if } \mathfrak{g} = i, -i \end{cases}$$

for all $\mathfrak{g} \in \mathcal{G}_1$. Let $\Lambda_1 = \{1, -1\}$ be a subset of \mathcal{G}_1 . Consider a normal soft group $\varpi_1 : \Lambda_1 \to P(\mathcal{G}_1)$ with $\varpi_1(1) = \varpi_1(-1) = \{1\}$. Then,

$$(\phi(\varpi_1))(1) = (\phi(\varpi_1))(-1) = \{1\}.$$

Note that ker $\phi = \{1, -1\} \notin \varpi_1(\mathfrak{w})$, for all $\mathfrak{w} \in \Lambda_1$. Let $X_1 = \{1, -1, i\}$. Then, $\phi(X_1) = \mathcal{G}_2$. By simple calculations, it can be proved that:

$$\overline{\phi(X_1)}^{\phi(\varpi_1)}(1) = \overline{\phi(X_1)}^{\phi(\varpi_1)}(-1) = \{1, -1\} \text{ and } \overline{X_1}^{\varpi_1}(1) = \overline{X_1}^{\varpi_1}(-1) = \{1, -1, i\}$$

It is clear that, $\phi(-i) = -1 \in \overline{\phi(X_1)}^{\phi(\varpi_1)}(\mathfrak{w})$ but $-i \notin \overline{X_1}^{\varpi_1}(\mathfrak{w})$, for all $\mathfrak{w} \in \Lambda_1$.

Theorem 5.2.12. With the same notion as in Theorem 5.2.9, the following implications hold:

$$x \in \underline{\phi^{-1}(X_2)}_{\varpi_1}(\mathfrak{w}) \Leftrightarrow \phi(x) \in \underline{X_2}_{\phi(\varpi_1)}(\mathfrak{w}).$$
$$x \in \underline{X_1}_{\varpi_1}(\mathfrak{w}) \Rightarrow \phi(x) \in \underline{\phi(X_1)}_{\phi(\varpi_1)}(\mathfrak{w}).$$

The converse of second implication is also true, if X_1 is a subgroup of \mathcal{G}_1 and ker $\phi \subseteq X_1$. *Proof.* This can be proved following the same methodology as in Theorems 5.2.4 and 5.2.6. \Box

Bibliography

- H. Aktaş and N. Çağman, Soft sets and soft groups. Information Sciences, 177(13), (2007), 2726-2735.
- [2] M. I. Ali, F. Feng, X. Liu, W. K. Min and M. Shabir, On some new operations in soft set theory. Computers and Mathematics with Applications, 57(9), (2009), 1547-1553.
- [3] M. I. Ali, M. Shabir, Samina, Application of L-fuzzy soft sets to semirings. J. Intellgent and fuzzy systems, Vol.27, (2014), 1731-1742.
- [4] M. Aslam and S. M. Qurashi, Some contributions to soft groups. Annals of Fuzzy Mathematics and Informatics, Vol. 4, No. 1, (2012), 177-195.
- [5] M. F. Atiyah, G. Macdonald: Introduction to Commutative Algebra, University of Oxford.
- S. Ayub and W. Mahmood, Fuzzy Integral domains and Fuzzy Regular Sequences. Open J. Math. Sci., 1(2), (2018), 179-201.
- S. Ayub, W. Mahmood, M. Shabbir and F. G. Nabi: Applications of roughness in softintersection groups. Comutational and Applied Mathematics, 38, (196), (2019), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40314-019-0978-2.
- [8] S. Ayub, W. Mahmood and M. Shabir, Multi-granulation soft rough sets and some applications to groups. Submitted.

- [9] S. Ayub, W. Mahmood and M. Shabir, Fuzzy modules of fractions and multi-granulation rough sets. Submitted.
- [10] S. Ayub, M. Shabir, W. Mahmood, New types of soft rough sets in groups by normal soft groups. Comp. Appl. Math. 39(67), (2020), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40314-020-1098-8.
- [11] R. Biswas and S. Nanda, Rough groups and rough subgroups. Bulletin of the Polish Acadamey of Sciences. Mathematics, 3(42), (1994), 251-254.
- [12] N. Çağman, F. Çitak and H. Aktaş, Soft int-group and its applications to group theory. Neural Computing and Applications. 21 (1), (2012), S151-S158.
- [13] Z. Chen, S. Ayub, W. Mahmood, A. Mahmood and C. Y. Jung, A study of roughness in modules of fractions. IEEE Access, 7 (2019), 93088-93099.
- [14] D. S. David, R. M. Foote: Abstract Algebra, third edition, Jhon Wiley and Sons, Inc.
- [15] B. Davvaz, A short note on algebraic T-rough sets. Information sciences, 178, (2008), 3247-3252.
- B. Davvaz and M. Mahdavipour, Roughness in modules. Information Sciences, 176(24), (2006), 3658-3674.
- [17] D. Dubios and H. Prade, Rough fuzzy sets and fuzzy rough sets. International Journal of General Systems, 17(2-3), (1990), 191-209.
- [18] F. Feng, M. I. Ali and M. Shabir, Soft relations applied to semigroups. Filomat, 27(7), (2013), 1183-1196.
- [19] F. Feng, C. Li, B. Davvaz and M. I. Ali, Soft Sets combined with fuzzy soft set and rough sets: a tentative approach. Soft Computing, 14(9), (2010), 899-911.
- [20] K. Kaygisiz, On soft int-groups. Ann. Fuzzy Math. Inform. 2(4), (2012), 365-375.

- [21] K. Kaygisiz, Normal soft int-groups. arXiv:1209.3157vl [math.GR]14sep (2012).
- [22] N. Kuroki and P. P. Wang, The lower and upper approximations in a fuzzy group. Information Sciences, 90(1-4), (1996), 203-220.
- [23] Z. Li, N. Xie and and N. Gao, Rough approximations based on soft binary relations and knowledge bases. Soft Computing, 21, (2017), 839-852.
- [24] Z. Li, D. Zheng and J. Hao, L-fuzzy soft sets based on complete Boolean lattices. Comput. Math. Appl. 64 (2012), 2558- 2574.
- [25] W. Mahmood, W. Nazeer and S. M. Kang, The lower and upper approximations and homomorphisms between lower approximations in quotient groups. Journal of Intelligent and Fuzzy system, 33(4), (2017), 2585-2594.
- [26] W. Mahmood, W. Nazeer and S. M. Kang, A comparision between lower and upper approximations in groups with respect to group homomorphisms. Journal of Intelligent and Fuzzy Systems, 35(1), (2018), 693-703.
- [27] T. Mahmood, M. Shabir, S. Ayub and S. Bashir, Regular and intra-regular semihypergroups in terms of L-fuzzy soft sets. J. Appl. Environ. Bio. Sci., 7(11), (2017), 115-137.
- [28] P. K. Maji, R. Biswas and A. R. Roy, Fuzzy soft sets. Journal of Fuzzy Mathematics, 9(3), (2001), 589-602.
- [29] P. K. Maji, R. Biswas and A. Roy, Soft set theory. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, 45, (2003), 555-562..
- [30] D. Molodtsov, Soft set theory first results. Computers and Mathetics with Applications, 37(4-5), (1999), 19-31.
- [31] J. N. MORDESON AND D. S. MALIK, Fuzzy commutative algebra. World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd., ISBN 981-02-3628-X, (1998), Pp, 1-405.

- [32] C.V. Negoita and D.A. Ralescu, Applications of Fuzzy Sets to System Analysis (Birkhauser, Basel, 1975).
- [33] F. PAN, Fuzzy finitely generated modules. Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 21, (1987), 105-113.
- [34] Z. Pawlak, Rough sets. International Journal of Computer and Information Sciences, 11(5), (1982), 341-356.
- [35] Y. Qian, J. Liang, Y. Yao and C. Dang, MGRS: A multi-granulation rough set. Information Sciences, 180, (2010), 949-970.
- [36] A. ROSENFELD, Fuzzy groups. J. Math. Annal. Appl., 35, (1971), 512-517.
- [37] A. Sezgin and A. O. Atagün, On operaions of soft sets. Computers and Mathematics with Applications, 61(5), (2011), 1457-1467.
- [38] A. Sezgin and A. O. Atagün, Soft groups and normalistic soft groups. Computers and Mathematics with applications, 62, (2011), 685-698.
- [39] M. Shabir, M. I. Ali and T. Shaheen, Another approach to soft rough sets. Knowledgebased systems, 40, (2013), 72-78.
- [40] M. Shabir, S. Ayub and S. Bashir, Application of L-fuzzy soft sets in semihypergroups.
 J. Adv. Math. Stud. Vol. 10, No. 3, (2017), 367-385.
- [41] M. Shabir, S. Ayub and S. Bashir, Prime and semiprime L-fuzzy soft bi-hyperideals. Journal of Hyperstructures, 6(2),(2017), 102-119.
- [42] A. Skowron and J. Stepaniuk, Tolerance approximation spaces. Fundam. Inform., 27, (1996), 245-253.
- [43] R. Slowinski and D. Vanderpooten, Similarity relation as a basis for rough approximations. ICS Res. Rep., 53, (1995), 249-250.

- [44] X. Wang, D. Ruan and E. E. Kerre, Mathematics of Fuzziness Basic issues. Studies in Fuzziness and soft computing, Springer, Vol. 245, (2009), Pp. 1-219.
- [45] Y. Y. Yao, Constructive and algebraic methods of the theory of rough sets. Information Sciences, 109, (1998), 21-47.
- [46] L. A. Zadeh, Fuzzy sets. Information and Control, 8(3), (1965), 338-353.
- [47] W. Zhu, Generalized rough sets based on relations. Information Sciences, 177, (2007), 4997-5011.